

DISSERTATION

Titel der Dissertation

"Characterization and detection of β-lactamases"

Verfasser Mag.rer.nat. Ivan Barišić

angestrebter akademischer Grad Doktor der Naturwissenschaften (Dr.rer.nat.)

Wien, 2013

Studienkennzahl lt. Studienblatt: Dissertationsgebiet lt. Studienblatt: Betreuer: A 091 490 Doktoratsstudium Molekulare Biologie Ao. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Timothy Skern

Another brick in the wall.

Table of contents

1	Int	rodu	ction	1
	1.1	β - L	actams	2
	1.2	β - L	actamases	3
	1.3	Suł	ostrate spectrum of β-lactamases	6
	1.4	Phy	logeny and molecular clocks	8
	1.5	Phy	logeny of β-lactamases	10
	1.6	Cli	nically relevant β-lactamases	11
	1.7	Det	tecting β-lactamase genes	13
	1.8	β - L	actamases in Austria	15
	1.9	On	-Chip PCR	16
	1.10	Lig	ation mediated detection	18
	1.11	Air	ns of this work	20
2	Ma	iteria	al and Methods	21
	2.1	.1	Bacterial strains used for on-chip PCR	21
	2.1	.2	Bacterial isolates from the Medical University of Graz	21
	2.1	.3	Bacterial isolates from the General Hospital of Vienna	21
	2.1	.4	DNA extractions	25
	2.1	.5	DNA samples	26
	2.1	.6	Primer design	27
	2.1	.7	DNA amplification and sequencing	29
	2.1	.8	On-chip ligation oligonucleotides	32
	2.1	.9	Padlock probes, synthetic templates and microarray probes	37
	2.1	.10	Glass slide preparation and spotting for on-chip PCR	39
	2.1	.11	Microarray spotting for padlock probe and solid support ligation assay	r41
	2.1	.12	Spotting efficiency and thermal stability of on-chip PCR slides	41
	2.1	.13	On-chip PCR chamber and sealing	42
	2.1	.14	Blocking of on-chip PCR slides	43
	2.1	.15	Testing of PCR-kits	43
	2.1	.16	Influence of concentrations of immobilized primers	44
	2.1	.17	Labelling of on-chip PCR products	45
	2.1	.18	Liquid phase primers	45
	2.1	.19	Specificity and sensitivity of on-chip PCR	46

	2.1.20	Multiplex solid support ligation assay	46		
	2.1.21	Fluorescence labelling of immobilized ligation products	47		
	2.1.22	Circle-to-circle amplification (C2CA)			
	2.1.23	Fluorescence labelling of C2CA products	49		
	2.1.24	Evaluation of padlock probes	50		
	2.1.25	Padlock probe assay testing using PCR products	50		
	2.1.26	Pre-amplification of genomic DNA	51		
	2.1.27	Padlock probe based multiplex genotyping	51		
	2.1.28	Microarray analysis of padlock probe assay	52		
	2.1.29	Diversity analyses	52		
	2.1.30	Nucleotide sequence accession numbers	55		
3	Results		57		
	3.1 Em	ergence of several β-lactamase genes in Austria	57		
	3.1.1	Emergence of known and new β -lactamase genes in Austria	57		
	3.1.2	Distribution of β-lactamase genes in <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i>	58		
	3.1.3	β-Lactamase gene diversity in General Hospital of Vienna	63		
	3.2 Hig	sh genetic diversity of ESBL in south eastern Austria	67		
	3.2.1	Emergence of CTX-M-2 and DHA-1 genes	67		
	3.3 On	-chip PCR	73		
	3.3.1	Spotting efficiency and thermal stability	73		
	3.3.2	Reaction chamber	74		
	3.3.3	Blocking of slides	74		
	3.3.4	Properties of gene targets	75		
	3.3.5	Testing of PCR-kits	77		
	3.3.6	Annealing temperature	78		
	3.3.7	Immobilized primer concentrations	79		
	3.3.8	Impact of amplification product length	80		
	3.3.9	Specificity of on-chip PCR	81		
	3.4 Lig	ation based solid phase detection	83		
	3.4.1	Proof of principle	84		
	3.4.2	Specificity using immobilized probes and specificity probes	84		
	3.4.3	Capture probes concentration	85		
3.4.4		Looplock vs. linear probes			

	3.4.5	Immobilized linear probes with dideoxynucleotide at the 3' end	88	
	3.4.6	Specificity of on-chip ligation	89	
	3.5 Mu	ltiplex detection of β -lactamases in liquid phase using padlock probes	93	
	3.5.1	Evaluation of padlock probes using synthetic templates	93	
	3.5.2	Test of the assay using PCR products	97	
	3.5.3	Specificity of genotyping	98	
	3.5.4	Sensitivity of β-lactamase detection assay	100	
4	Discuss	ion	103	
	4.1 Em	ergence of β -lactamases in the General Hospital of Vienna	104	
	4.1.1	Analysis of β-lactamase diversity	105	
	4.2 An	alysis of genetic diversity in south-eastern Austria	107	
	4.3 On	-chip PCR	109	
	4.3.1	Annealing temperature	109	
	4.3.2	Primer spacer	110	
	4.3.3	On-chip PCR chamber	111	
	4.3.4	Surface chemistry of on-chip PCR slides	112	
	4.3.5	On-chip primer design	113	
	4.3.6	Conclusions regarding on-chip PCR	115	
	4.4 Lig	ation based solid phase detection	117	
	4.4.1	Ligation methods using immobilized probes and specificity probes	117	
	4.4.2	Looplock probes	118	
	4.4.3	Capture probes	119	
	4.4.4	Specificity of on-chip ligation assay	119	
	4.5 Mu	ltiplex detection of antibiotic resistance genes with padlock probes	121	
	4.5.1	Sensitivity of padlock probe assay	122	
	4.5.2	Specificity	123	
	4.5.3	State of the art	124	
	4.5.4	Future outlook for the β -lactamase detection assay	124	
5	Abstra	t	127	
6	Zusami	menfassung	129	
7	Referen	ices	131	
8	Supplemental material			
9	Acknowledgments			

10	Curriculum	Vitae	57	1
----	------------	-------	----	---

The discovery of penicillin by Alexander Fleming in 1928 was a vital milestone in human history (Figure 1). It triggered a golden age giving mankind the opportunity to fight deadly diseases using antibiotics. Bacterial infections could be controlled easily and some optimistic minds saw this plague put in its place. The new bacterial control reagents also allowed modern surgery to develop rapidly because open wounds no longer represent perfect growth sites for bacteria. These factors, combined with artificial fertilizers, led to exponential human growth rates after World War II (1).

Fleming's finding had not only an impact on human medicine but also on agriculture and other fields. The productivity of livestock increased massively through the application of antibiotics. Furthermore, antibiotics helped to shape our modern view of life. As almost every biotechnological experiment uses antibiotics at a certain point to obtain the desired biological material, it is difficult to imagine how our understanding of life and biotechnology would have developed without antibiotics.





Unfortunately, the reality in hospitals did not catch up with the optimistic expectations regarding the application of antibiotics. Only a few years after the discovery of penicillin, it became clear that bacteria can develop resistance mechanisms. Even more concerns were raised when Japanese researchers realized that bacteria can transfer these resistance mechanisms to different bacterial species. Although this discovery was

disappointing for clinicians, it was very exciting for biologists. It was the first demonstration that genetic information can be transferred between different species, independently of sexual or asexual reproduction.

The importance of this healthcare problem attracted many researchers to unravel the secrets behind antibiotic resistance mechanisms and their dissemination. Progress was rapid and the first mechanism deactivating penicillin was identified in 1940. An enzyme that hydrolyzed penicillin was isolated and many years later classified as an AmpC β -lactamase. It belonged to the very diverse group of β -lactamases.

1.1 β-Lactams

β-Lactam antibiotics share a common core structure, the β-lactam ring. They act as substrate analogs of D-alanyl-D-alanine, which is an important component of bacterial peptidoglycans. The highly reactive CO-N bond in the β-lactam ring shows structural similarity to the CO-N peptide bond in D-alanyl-D-alanine (Figure 2). This dipeptide, along with a transpeptidase, is involved in the cross-linking of peptidoglycan during bacterial cell wall synthesis. Due to their structural similarity, β-lactam antibiotics attach to the substrate-anchoring site of the transpeptidase responsible for cross-linking and bind covalently, thus inhibiting the enzyme. This process disables peptidoglycan cross-linking and activates a series of autolytic cell wall enzymes, muramidases, resulting in bacterial cell lysis (2;3).

Figure 2. β -Lactam core structures with the β -lactam ring in red. (a) Penam core (b) Carbapenem core (c) Oxacephem core (d) Monobactam core (e) D-alanyl-D-alanine



Based on four common chemical structures of the β -lactam ring, a nomenclature was established to classify the wide range of β -lactams. New β -lactam antibiotics can be designed by chemical modifications of the side chains of the β -lactam ring structure. The oldest antibiotics, the penicillins have a penam core and are further classified based

on their antimicrobial spectrum as narrow-, moderate-, broad-, or extended-spectrum penicillins (Figure 2a). Today, many pathogens have enzymes to degrade penicillins. Carbapenems have a broad antimicrobial spectrum and are the last resort against microbial infections as antibiotic resistances are distributed in many pathogens. This class of β -lactams is highly resistant against degradation by β -lactamases (Figure 2b). Cephalosporins have an unsatured six-membered ring and are more stable against enzymatic degradation than penicillins (Figure 2c). Four generations of these antibiotics have been developed so far.

Monobactams lack a ring that is fused to the β -lactam ring. They are stable against many β -lactamases but can only kill Gram-negative bacteria (Figure 2d) (4).

1.2 β-Lactamases

Enzymes that can degrade β -lactams are classified as β -lactamases. Many different unrelated β -lactamases have evolved and more than 950 unique naturally occurring enzymes exist (5). The first and partially still used classification schema of β -lactamases is based on the antibiotics that can be destroyed by these enzymes. For instance, enzymes that can cleave a carbapenem are designated as carbapenemases. This classification system is useful for clinicians but less practicable for scientific purposes, thus a more detailed classification was developed by Ambler (6). It is based on amino acid sequence similarity and comprises four classes (A-D). The class A, class C, and class D β -lactamases have a catalytic center with a serine playing an important role in the enzymatic reaction, whereas the catalytic mechanism of the class B β -lactamases is zinc-dependent. The amino acid sequences of the three classes of serine-based β lactamases differ widely but they share similar 3D-structures (Figure 3) (7). Thus, Hall and Barlow were able to analyse the phylogenetic diversity of serine β -lactamases based on the protein structure similarity (8). The high sequence diversity of the serine β lactamases is illustrated in Figure 4.

Figure 3. Ribbon diagrams of tertiary structures of β -lactamases. The helices are illustrated in yellow and β -strands in red. The β -lactam antibiotic ceftazidime is modelled in the enzyme binding sites. (a) The class A β -lactamase TEM-1 is shown. (b) The class C β -lactamase AmpC is illustrated. Diagrams were modified from Medeiros *et al.* (7).



The majority of the identified β -lactamases are of low clinical significance. It is believed that most antibiotic resistance genes are disseminated in the soil microbiom (9). Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes represent important parts in the inter- and intra-domain communication of microorganisms in various ecosystems (10). However, resistance genes can be transferred from environmental bacteria to human pathogens via horizontal gene transfer (HGT). These events can be hardly monitored in the environment in real time but are subsequently observed in patients infected with new drug resistant pathogens. It is obvious that the wide application of antibiotics in agriculture facilitates the HGT of resistance genes to human pathogenic bacteria because these species are also found in the intestine of other warm-blooded organisms. The treatment of animals with antibiotics and the application of their manure and slurry to fields have influenced the natural microbiological environments dramatically. The emergence of marine fish farming has led to the release of irresponsible amounts of antibiotics into marine environments (11). Furthermore, waste water from human settlements and especially from hospitals contributes to the enrichment of antibiotics in the environment. Thus, antimicrobials have been detected in groundwater as deep as >10m in regions with agricultural activity (12). Rivers and other surface waters are heavily contaminated with antibiotics (13). Consequently, the presence of pathogens,

antibiotics and the environmental microbiom in the same habitat catalyzes the HGT of antibiotic resistance genes to human pathogens. As humans and animals have intense contact to agricultural products and various types of waters, the uptake of these altered pathogenic bacteria cannot be avoided.

Figure 4. Phylogenetic tree based on the distance matrix based algorithm Neighbour Joining. Amino acid sequences of the clinically most relevant β -lactamases were used for the calculation. The thin bar indicates 10% sequence similarity. The non-homologous metallo- β -lactamases, which share no sequence similarity, were incorporated as out-group into the serine- β -lactamase alignment to illustrate the huge sequence diversity between and within the serine β -lactamases.



1.3 Substrate spectrum of β-lactamases

 β -Lactamases have a wide substrate spectrum due to the high number of different enzymes, their huge diversity and the permanent mutations caused by selection pressure. However, β -lactamases within a distinct class have comparable enzymatic characteristics due to their structural and sequence similarity. The enzymatic activity is best understood for the clinically most relevant β -lactamases (Figure 5). Other β lactamases are mainly of interest for environmental scientists. Thus, their enzymatic properties are less investigated. However, this changes until their emergence in human pathogens.





The enzymes of class A are the most frequently encountered β -lactamases in bacterial isolates in hospitals. The genes of CTX-M, TEM or SHV are present in almost all β -lactam resistant isolates (14). The successful dissemination of these genes was possible due to their transfer to very mobile plasmids. Typically, *bla_{SHV}* is a chromosomal gene of the very frequent human pathogen *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (15). Furthermore, a very high sequence diversity is observed within this class leading to the widest substrate spectrum of all classes. Class A enzymes can be deactivated by the addition of β -lactamase inhibitors such as clavulanic acid (16). All β -lactam antibiotics can be deactivated by class A β -lactamases, including carbapenems which are often the last

resort to treat multidrug resistant infections. The class A KPC enzymes belong to the most frequently encountered carbapenemases in clinics. Treatment options for bla_{KPC} associated infections remain limited. Infections with KPC producers lead to death rates higher than 50% (17;18). Genes belonging to class A have been identified on plasmids, transposons and chromosomes.

Metallo- β -lactamases (Class B) differ in many ways from the other classes. They have a different molecular structure, phylogeny and mode of action. All β -lactams except aztreonam are hydrolyzed by enzymes of this class (19). Metal chelators such as EDTA inhibit their activity whereas serine- β -lactamases remain unaffected by EDTA. Resistance against β -lactamase inhibitors are important features of metallo- β -lactamases. The large majority of class B enzymes have carbapenemase activity. The clinically most relevant enzymes are IMP, VIM and NDM (20). Death rates associated with metallo- β -lactamase positive pathogens range from 18% to 67% (21).

Class C enzymes are often referred to as AmpC β -lactamases. These serine- β -lactamases were initially only identified on chromosomes and not subject to rapid dissemination. They are phylogenetically very diverse and found in Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Thus, it is thought that they developed billions of years ago. Cephalosporins are the main substrate for these enzymes but they can also hydrolyze penicillins, cephamycins and monobactams at a rate of <1% of that of benzylpenicillin (22). However, the hydrolysis rate is not the only important factor but also the enzyme affinity to a substrate. Class C β -lactamases have thousand fold higher substrate affinities than other β -lactamases, which is important at a low antibiotic concentration. Carbapenemases have not been identified within this class so far. During the 1990s, class C β -lactamases with high spreading rates were identified. CMY and DHA are the clinically most relevant ones (23;24). The genes of these two enzymes are plasmidencoded.

The ability to degrade isoxazolyl β -lactams like oxacillin was the reason to name the class D β -lactamases oxacillinases. This class shares the serine driven catalytic center with class A and C. Some class D enzymes can be inhibited by clavulanic acid (16). Today, a wide substrate spectrum has been reported, including carbapenems. However, hydrolysis of aztreonam was not reported yet. Although the sequence diversity is very

high within this class, all genes are named OXA. The clinically most relevant enzymes are OXA-1, OXA-23, OXA-24, and OXA-48 (25;26).

1.4 Phylogeny and molecular clocks

Today, the phylogeny of genes and organisms is determined with molecular tools. Marker genes, which are very old, and thus, present in all three domains of life (*Bacteria, Archaea* and *Eukaryota*) are used for this purpose. In many cases, they code for very important RNAs or proteins that are necessary for the survival of organisms. The most important marker genes code for rRNAs and proteins of the ribosome complex. Given their essential roles in metabolism, these genes evolved at a lower rate as mutations in these genes could affect the fitness of an organism more dramatically than those in non-essential genes. The low mutation rate is useful for researchers to identify sequence and structure homologies. Theoretically, the more similar gene sequences are, the more related are the organisms that harbour them. Various computer algorithms have been developed to calculate the similarity of sequences and visualize the information on phylogenetic trees (27).

However, the phylogenetic relationship is not the only evolutionary information hidden in DNA sequences. It is also possible to estimate the time point when two different sequences or organisms started to evolve from a common ancestor (28). Every DNA molecule underlies the environmental impacts that drive evolution, and thus, mutates. Given that on a long-term scale the number of mutations per time is constant, the starting point of the divergent evolution of two sequences can be calculated by counting the number of mutations. However, the main problem to perform these calculations is the lack of a reliable reference mutation rate (29). Every species has a different evolution rate due to a species-specific selection pressure and different environmental parameters. Furthermore, it needs a wide range of interdisciplinary data to calibrate these mutation rates (Figure 6). The comparison of different interdisciplinary records enables the optimization of the substitution rate for every species. Thus, the phylogenetic age of animals and plants can be calculated reliably. In contrast, fossil records of prokaryotes conserving species specific information are rare or lacking making it more difficult to estimate substitution rates. However, geochemical and isotopic data can also used to calibrate prokaryotic substitution rates. Sulfate reducing prokaryotes are a good example to illustrate how the combination of geochemical, isotopic and phylogenetic data is used to calibrate the molecular clock. 3.47 billion years old microbial sulfur reduction was identified using geochemical and isotopic data (30). Phylogenetic analyses revealed that homologous enzymes performing the sulfur reduction are present in both prokaryotic domains; *Bacteria* and *Archaea* (31). Thus, the probability is high that the ancient sulfur reduction was catalyzed by a common precursor (32). The mutation rate of the sulfur reducing enzymes can be calculated based on the combined data.

Figure 6. The age ranges of several data types necessary to calibrate DNA mutation rates are shown. Illustration from Ho *et al.* (33).



Unfortunately for phylogenists, genetic information is not only transferred from one generation to the next but also between different unrelated species. This is especially in prokaryotes a frequently observed event and questions the significance of certain DNA based phylogenetic calculations. Different substitution rates in different organisms can also obscure the degree of relationship of organisms. The combination of a wide range of different genes allows the balancing of these errors and enabled the reconstruction of the tree of life (34;35).

1.5 Phylogeny of β-lactamases

Phylogenetic calculations can be performed with almost all DNA sequences because every gene is evolving. Functional genes that catalyze metabolic or katabolic reactions are also used for these analyses to investigate their roles in the environment. In the case of antibiotic resistance genes, it was necessary to learn more about the dynamics that drive the development of new resistances in order to incorporate prevention strategies. Because of their outstanding importance in medicine, the evolution of β -lactamases has been investigated in most detail. At least two unrelated enzyme-groups developed the ability to hydrolyze β -lactams; serine- β -lactamases and metallo- β -lactamases (Figure 4). These two groups do not share structure, sequence or mode of action so it is easy to conclude that the observed hydrolysis of β -lactams is the result of convergent evolution. The analysis of the phylogeny of serine- β -lactamases was more difficult because the different classes share no sequence similarity but have a similar enzymatic reaction center. Hall et al. used 3D structures of the proteins to reconstruct the phylogeny of β lactamases based on the assumption that structures of proteins are more conserved than their sequences. They showed that the divergence of class C β -lactamases predated the divergence of the class A and class D enzymes. The ancient enzymes from which they originate are believed to be more than two billion years old (8:36).

The metallo- β -lactamases were also analysed based on their protein structures because no detectable sequence homology exists between two groups within this class. Structurally homologous proteins of *Bacteria*, *Archaea* and *Eukaryota* were included into the phylogenetic calculations and it was estimated that common metallo- β lactamase ancestors may be older than 2 billion years. These incredible long time periods, during which metallo- and serine- β -lactamases had time to evolve, are the main reason why we face such a huge diversity in these enzyme classes today (37;38).

The ancestor molecule of the serine β -lactamases was probably involved in the bacterial cell wall synthesis. Penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) and serine β -lactamases share several highly conserved amino acid sequences and seems to be homologous (7). They form the superfamily of penicillin-recognizing enzymes. The PBPs use D-alanyl-D-alanine as natural substrate which is part of bacterial murein. As mentioned previously, D-alanyl-D-alanine and the β -lactam core have a similar structure. Interestingly, all PBPs can also catalyze β -lactams to a small content (39). However, PBPs are the target

of action for β -lactam antibiotics. This phenomenon is an interesting example of the evolutionary dynamics behind the microbial interactions in various environments.

1.6 Clinically relevant β-lactamases

Enzymes of all four β -lactamase classes are present in human pathogens. Some of these enzymes have been integrated in chromosomes since millions of years, others were recently acquired. At the beginning of the antibiotic era and the subsequent spread of antibiotic resistance, it remained unclear whether the development of resistance was an ability that pathogens gained after admission of antibiotics or a widely distributed but dormant feature. The very first experiments showed that antibiotic sensitive bacteria could develop antibiotic resistance in vitro, so it was assumed that the global spreading resistance mechanisms rose due to the administration of antibiotics. With more detailed analyses of resistance mechanisms, it became clear that both assumptions were true. Bacteria could develop new antibiotic resistances and there was a large reservoir of phylogenetically old resistance genes that could be incorporated into pathogens via HGT. Analyses of resistance genes revealed that thousands of different resistance genes exist, in the case of the β -lactamases four unrelated groups with hundreds of members per group. However, although only a relative small fraction of all environmental βlactamases has been identified so far, it has become clear that not all of them are clinically important. Most of the identified *β*-lactamases lack good spreading mechanisms, and thus, are only a local medical threat. In contrast, the few genes that managed to incorporate into efficient distribution vehicles are disseminated on all continents and challenge clinicians worldwide.

Today, the most spread β -lactamases associated with healthcare issues belong to class A. The globally most prevalent β -lactamases are TEM, SHV and the CTX-M group (40-42). The TEM and SHV genes exist in various variants differentiating only in a few amino acids. These variants of the firstly described TEM-1 and SHV-1 enzymes have changed substrate spectrums and are also referred to as extended spectrum β -lactamases (ESBL). In contrast, the CTX-M genes have a much higher sequence diversity. Hall et al. assume that the CTX-M genes diverged from a common ancestor 200-300 million years ago (43).

Figure 7. The worldwide distribution of the most prevalent carbapenemases is shown. Illustrations are taken from Nordmann *et al.* (44). (a) KPC producers are dominant in Latin America. (b) The dissemination of NDM-1 producers is shown. Red stars indicate pathogens traced back to India; Green stars show infections traced back to the Balkan states or the Middle East; and black stars of unknown origin. (c) The incidence of metallo- β -lactamase producers with carbapenem activity is shown. (d) OXA-48 producers are illustrated.



As many hospitals are turning to carbapenems due resistance to other β -lactams, carbapenemases are also becoming more distributed (Figure 7). The class A enzyme KPC has been isolated in Europe, North and South America and Asia. Carbapenemases of class B (IMP, VIM, and NDM-1) and class D (OXA-48) are also of high clinical importance. Especially NDM-1 has gained worldwide public interest because of its very

broad substrate spectrum and a very effective dissemination mechanism. Since its discovery in 2008 in Sweden from an Indian patient, it was identified within two years on all continents except South America (45).

CMY-2 and DHA-1 (Class C) are also regularly identified in clinical isolates but they represent a smaller medical threat due to their substrate spectrum. The same applies to a number of class D β -lactamases (OXA-1, OXA-23, OXA-24). Many other β -lactamases have been identified only in a few countries and are only of local interest. For the sake of completeness and the unpredictable evolution, these enzymes still have to be considered in analyses and molecular diagnostic tests (Figure 5).

Interestingly, the prevalence of resistance genes underlies dynamic processes which could be observed in the dissemination patterns of TEM and CTX-M-15 (46). During the 1990s, TEM was the dominant β -lactamase in β -lactam resistant pathogens. New antibiotics were administered due to increasing resistance but bacteria reacted soon and developed new β -lactamases with wider substrate spectrum. In the 2000s, CTX-M-15, which has a wider substrate spectrum than TEM-1 and also hydrolyses cephalosporins, was in many clinical studies the most prevalent β -lactamase. Now, most isolates have a gene cassette with different resistance genes that can deactivate a wide spectrum of antibiotics. Surprisingly, the presence of resistance genes correlates with reduced fitness of bacteria. This seems to be a reason why some resistance genes are lost again and the resistance genotypes change (47-49).

1.7 Detecting β -lactamase genes

The gold standard in clinical laboratories to characterize pathogens and determine their antibiotic resistance are cultivation based methods. The isolated bacteria are inoculated on agar plates or liquid media directly from the patient sample. In hospitals, disc diffusion tests on agar plates or fully automated commercial high throughput systems are used to test bacterial isolates whether antibiotic resistances are present. The advantages of the cultivation based methods are low cost and high sensitivity. Tremendous disadvantages of these methods are that they last rather long and give potentially false results due to false growth conditions and antimicrobial testing. The detection of mycobacterial growth causing tuberculosis for example needs between 4 to 8 weeks, skilled personal and a high complexity bacteriology laboratory (50). However, some infections need

rapid treatment and clinicians must be provided with the characteristics of the infections as fast as possible (51). Furthermore, studies have shown that also the cultivation automatization is error-prone. Blood cultures from automated culture detection systems were subsequently analysed manually and obtained in 3% to 40% of the cases contradictory results (52;53).

Diagnostic tests using molecular biological techniques retrieve data very fast and have in some cases higher sensitivity than cultivation based methods because they can also detect DNA from dead cells. PCR, real-time PCR and microarrays are the most widely used methods to characterize pathogens. Limitations of these techniques are lower specificity, higher cost and longer hands-on time. Commercial high-throughput systems can meet the demands regarding cost and hands-on time but specificity remains a problem.

A general problem is that DNA based tests can only identify resistance targets that have been described previously. Unfortunately, new antibiotic resistance genes are identified continuously. Antibiotic resistances are transferred rapidly on mobile genetic elements and plasmids between different species, and thus, evolve rapidly. The main genetic reservoir for this exchange system lies in the genomes of billions of environmental prokaryotes. Furthermore, the selection pressure caused by the application of antibiotics leads to mutations in existing resistance genes altering their substrate spectrum. However, even if the resistance genotype was correctly identified, it does not mean that the resistance phenotype is known. Whole genome sequencing of pathogens has revealed that the resistance genotype and phenotype are not necessarily identical. Various factors are involved in the expression of antibiotic resistance genes and due to limited technical possibilities in hospital laboratories, it remains unclear if and how strong the resistance genes are expressed.

The second appreciable problem regarding specificity of molecular techniques is of technical nature. More than 950 unique β -lactamases have been reported at present. Methods to detect this huge sequence diversity with a single test are rare and expensive. PCR based reactions cannot detect more than six different β -lactamase genes per reaction (54). Microarrays can detect thousands of different targets but DNA has to be pre-amplified in separate reactions (55). Thus, much effort is put into the development of new methods that can identify thousand of different genes in one reaction.

1.8 β-Lactamases in Austria

A very important discovery concerning the problem of antibiotic resistance was the description of HGT which explained the mechanism responsible for the spread of antibiotic resistances between different bacterial species (56). A further trigger for the revealing of antibiotic resistance mechanisms was the work of Ambler et al. (57), publishing amino acid sequences of a set of antibiotic resistance enzymes destroying penicillin, and introducing a classification scheme based on their sequence similarity. Although more than 950 unique, naturally occurring β -lactamases have been described so far, studies addressing this huge genetic diversity in clinical environments are rare (48). In Austria, research mainly focused on the presence of the β -lactamases TEM, SHV, CTX-M, and OXA-1, and recently on the carbapenemases KPC, VIM, and NDM identifying those enzymes in clinical isolates. Thus, the total β -lactamase dissemination in hospitals remained unclear from these reports because researchers were often focused on specific, interesting case reports.

Nevertheless, specific genetic information about the molecular mechanisms responsible for the resistances would be useful. Although the dissemination of ESBL and AmpCs all over the world is well documented, the majority of the studies have not sequenced the detected genes. For clinicians, this sequence information is of low interest, but the dynamics of evolution and distribution of β -lactamase genes can only be understood if a dense network of genetic information from important urban areas is available. Another more important factor for clinicians concerns molecular detection assays. As point mutations can alter the substrate spectrum of β -lactamases significantly, assay developers need detailed sequence information of the disseminated resistance genes in order to focus their assay design on the clinically most relevant targets.

Molecular analyses detecting many genes in hundreds of isolates face the problem how to evaluate the significance of the obtained data. Ecologists have a similar problem when they analyse an environment with the need to estimate the number of different species in the sampled area. Thus, I introduced statistical models such as the species richness estimators ACE and Chao1 into the field of clinical microbiology in order to estimate the number of different β -lactamases in the investigated hospitals. These algorithms use the observed abundance of species to perform their calculations and can equally be used to calculate the incidence of genes. They have already been used to

estimate the number of a wide range of different genes and gene cassettes in various environments (58-60). Rarefaction curve analyses provide information about the significance of these estimations (61-63).

1.9 On-Chip PCR

Soon after the ingenious invention of PCR, researchers tried to immobilize this reaction on a solid support (64). This process was driven by two ideas; multiplex-PCR and PCR product identification. The main limitation of PCR is that it cannot amplify many different DNA products in a single reaction. Much effort has to be put into the development of multiplex PCR assays with more than ten DNA targets (65). Crossreactions of primers targeting different genes lead to unspecific DNA amplificates, which out-compete the desired PCR products. On-chip PCR, also referred to as solid phase PCR, circumvents this problem because the primer pairs are physically isolated from each other. Every primer pair is immobilized on a distinct spot on a solid support making it impossible for the amplification product to interact with a primer pair targeting another gene (Figure 8). Thus, no unspecific primer can attach during the PCR to the immobilized amplification products.





The immobilization of primers has also another large advantage in comparison to liquid phase PCR. In most cases, the identification of the amplification products of a PCR is conducted with an agarose gel by size separation in a gel electrophoresis unit. This is time consuming work and thus, very unfavourable in clinical laboratories. Furthermore, amplification products of similar or equal size cannot be distinguished with ordinary gel electrophoresis. On-chip PCR uses immobilized primer pairs that are spotted to defined areas. The resulting amplification products can be labelled and identified according their position on the solid support after on-chip PCR. Microarray technology allows thousands of different amplification products to be analysed. These features make onchip PCR a very promising technology.

The reaction mechanism of the on-chip PCR is analogous to the general liquid phase PCR. Thermal cycling is conducted to denaturate, anneal and elongate DNA (Figure 9). The elongation reaction of the on-chip PCR is also known as bridge-amplification and differs in some points from the elongation reaction of the liquid phase PCR. As the on-chip amplification reaction is immobilized on a planar surface, it is two dimensional. Thus, the amplification of DNA can only occur at the edges of a DNA colony if no free primers are left within the colony (66). Additionally, steric hindrance of immobilized amplification products further reduces the PCR efficiency.



Figure 9. Schematic overview of the reaction mechanism of an on-chip PCR

1.10 Ligation mediated detection

A problem of PCR based detection methods is that unspecific PCR products are amplified after unspecific binding of DNA to primers. In some cases, the unspecific PCR products can out-compete the intended products for reaction reagents because they are thermodynamically more favoured and exponentially amplified. An alternative approach circumventing this problem is offered by ligation based detection methods (67). Ligases are implemented in these reactions and contribute to a higher specificity in comparison to PCR. These enzymes have a higher proof reading ability than the polymerases used in PCR. A wide range of methods using ligases for detection purposes has been developed. The Ligase Chain Reaction (LCR) and the padlock probes are the most prominent of these methods.





The LCR was shortly introduced after PCR but has been used rarely in diagnostic tests. The main mechanism of the reaction is based on the ligation of two probes annealing to the same DNA strand (Figure 10). After the first ligation step, DNA is denaturated again following a second annealing reaction. Complementary probes bind to the ligation product and are ligated as well. This process is repeated 20 to 30 times leading to an exponential increase of the ligation product. Many variants of this technique (LDR, pLCR, G-LCR) were developed due its ability to detect short nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP), which are difficult to identify with PCR (68).

Another important ligation based detection method uses padlock probes and was published by Nilsson *et al.* in 1994 (69). These probes circularize when they bind to a DNA target (Figure 11). If they perfectly match to the DNA target, the padlock probes are ligated. The circularized probes are further amplified by PCR. An alternative amplification mode is rolling circle amplification (RCA) using the phi29-polymerase. Padlock probes are widely used for the detection of SNP (70).

The major disadvantage of ligation dependent methods is that complex enzymatic cascades are necessary to detect and amplify DNA targets. Furthermore, the sensitivity is lower compared to PCR.





1.11 Aims of this work

The dissemination of β -lactamases represents a serious health care problem in Austria and other countries. The investigation of recent trends in their evolution and distribution contributes massively to a better understanding of these phylogenetically very old classes of enzymes. In this work all in public DNA databases deposited genes of β lactamases were downloaded and used for analyses. The aim was to establish a β lactamase database and create a new nucleotide and amino acid sequence alignment. The design of primers and probes was based on this database. Re-evaluations of the phylogeny of β -lactamases, geographic dissemination and affiliations of distinct β lactamases to particular species were also performed.

Besides the global trends regarding β -lactamases also the local resistance situation in Austria was of particular interest in this work. Very detailed screenings of bacterial patient samples from hospitals in Graz and Vienna were performed to reveal the actual presence of β -lactamases in these environments.

The main goal of this thesis was to develop a molecular method to detect β -lactamases. The determination of targets was based on the epidemiological data from clinics worldwide. The molecular method should comprise high sensitivity, high specificity, multiplex detection, fast data retrieval and a low hands-on-time in the clinical use. Since bacterial infections are very widespread in developing countries, which are thus the biggest markets for antibiotic resistance detection, low cost per analysis was also considered during development.

2.1.1 Bacterial strains used for on-chip PCR

The bacterial strains *Klebsiella pneumoniae* DSM 16609 and *Escherichia coli* DSM 22316 were ordered from the Leibnitz-Institute DSMZ (Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen, Germany). Both strains had slightly different β -lactamases DNA sequences of *bla_{TEM-1}*. They were grown at 37°C in Caso-Bouillon medium (50 µg/ml ampicillin) overnight. The inoculations were used for DNA-extractions and gylcerol-stocks for long-time storage. One millilitre of the overnight culture was transferred in a cryo-tube and mixed with 500 µl glycerol. The tubes were stored at -80°C after 30 minutes of incubation at 37°C.

2.1.2 Bacterial isolates from the Medical University of Graz

At the Bacteriology and Mycology Laboratory of the Medical University Graz, 2177 ESBL-positive clinical isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae*, sent from different south-eastern Austrian hospitals to the university laboratory, were phenotypically identified in 2009 and 2010. They were further analysed for antibiotic susceptibility with in-house made Mueller-Hinton agar diffusion tests, the Vitek 2 system (bioMerieux, France), and the Etest (bioMerieux). For this study, 33 consecutive ESBL-positive bacterial strains (27 E.coli and 6 Klebsiella pneumoniae strains) were characterized. Prior DNA extraction, the isolates were grown at 37°C in LB-medium overnight.

2.1.3 Bacterial isolates from the General Hospital of Vienna

The Divison of Clinical Microbiology of the Medical University and General Hospital of Vienna collected 108 consecutive clinical isolates tested positive for ESBLs, AmpCs and carbapenemase between January and September 2011. Phenotypic antibiotic susceptibility testing of clinical isolates was performed using the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) disc diffusion methodology and

EUCAST Clinical breakpoints (versions 1.2 and 1.3, The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing - EUCAST 2011) on in-house made Mueller-Hinton agar plates. In case of resistance against third generation cephalosporins and/or cefoxitin in disc diffusion testing, Enterobacteriaceae known to possibly harbour plasmid-encoded AmpC enzymes were screened for the presence of AmpC βlactamases by a combined-disc test (AmpC ID Confirm Kit; Rosco Diagnostica A/S, Denmark) according to manufacturer's instructions. In organisms that produce an inducible chromosomal AmpC β-lactamase, identification alone was indicative of AmpC production (71). As in primary disc diffusion testing, extended-spectrum cephalosporins were put around a central amoxicillin-clavulanate disc in a way to enable inhibitor based synergisms. ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae could be recognized based upon observation of this defining criterion (72). In case of cefoxitin resistance and lacking synergism phenomena, a 20 mm-double-disc synergy test between an amoxicillin-clavulanate and a cefepime disc was performed to avoid missing ESBL phenotypes masked by concomitant AmpC production (73). According to **EUCAST** antimicrobial wild-type distributions of microorganisms (http://mic.eucast.org/Eucast2/SearchController/search.jsp?action=performSearch&Begi nIndex=0&Micdif=dif&NumberIndex=50&Antib=177&Specium=1&Discstrength=10), the meropenem inhibition zone diameter ≤ 0.25 mm in primary disc diffusion testing was chosen to screen out isolates with elevated carbapenem minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC), which had to undergo confirmatory phenotypic testing in cases where meropenem Etest (bioMérieux, Marcy-l'Étoile, France) revealed MICs ≥0.5 mg/l (http://mic.eucast.org/Eucast2/SearchController/search.jsp?action=performSearch&Begi nIndex=0&Micdif=mic&NumberIndex=50&Antib=177&Specium=-1). Ambler class A β-lactamases, metallo-β-lactamases, or AmpC β-lactamases in combination with efflux pumps or reduced permeability were recognized phenotypically by KPC + MBL Confirm ID Kit (Rosco Diagnostica A/S), while Ambler class D β-lactamases where detected by the modified Hodge test (74).

For this study, 108 β -lactamase-positive clinical strains were genetically characterized. 56 ESBL-positive bacterial strains (35 *E. coli*, 16 *K. pneumoniae*, three *Klebsiella oxytoca*, one *Morganella morganii*, and one *Serratia marcescens*), as well as 47 isolates phenotypically tested positive for AmpC β -lactamases (20 *E. coli*, 19 *K. pneumoniae*, three *Enterobacter cloacae*, two *Klebsiella oxytoca*, two *Proteus mirabilis*, and one *Citrobacter youngae*) and five carbapenem resistant strains (three *K. pneumoniae*, two *Enterobacter cloacae*).

Sample Number	Patient ID	Birthdate of patient	Bacterial species	Source	Phenotypic resistance characterization	Sample date
1	H 766	26/06/1945	Escherichia coli	Urine Bronchial	ESBL	14/01/2011
2	A 3490	20/09/1987	Escherichia coli	secretion	ESBL	21/04/2011
3	H 4720	18/01/1982	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	17/03/2011
4	H 3984	29/01/1934	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urine	ESBL	07/03/2011
5	H 4264	04/07/1947	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	10/03/2011
6	h 226	29/03/1928	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	05/01/2011
7	H 4464	19/04/1932	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urine	ESBL	14/03/2011
8	A 3794	29/10/1992	Serratia marcescens	Urine	ESBL	30/04/2011
9	H 3584	12/08/1942	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	28/02/2011
10	A 860	30/03/1942	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Bronchial secretion	ESBL	28/01/2011
11	RV 53196	21/05/1947	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urethra	ESBL	30/03/2011
12	V 28	19/07/1941	Escherichia coli	Swab	ESBL	04/01/2011
13	H2701	15/11/1948	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	14/02/2011
14	F 1757	10/02/1957	Escherichia coli	Stool	ESBL	16/03/2011
15	V 52368	16/11/1937	Morganella morganii	Stool	ESBL	09/03/2011
16	H 7117	27/07/1952	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urine	ESBL	26/04/2011
17	F 125	19/10/1949	Escherichia coli	Stool	ESBL	11/01/2011
18	V 2462	19/12/1987	Escherichia coli	Swab	ESBL	21/02/2011
19	V 52410	25/05/1958	Escherichia coli	Stool	ESBL	09/03/2011
20	V 5352	24/02/1949	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	ESBL	19/04/2011
21	V 53508	10/02/2009	Escherichia coli	Anal swab	ESBL	06/04/2011
22	F 705	06/01/2011	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	02/02/2011
23	V 1565	01/12/1981	Escherichia coli	Swab	ESBL	04/02/2011
24	F 2044	27/03/2006	Escherichia coli	Stool	ESBL	29/03/2011
25	V 4743	28/02/1943	Escherichia coli	Swab	ESBL	05/04/2011
26	RV 53776/2	15/02/1938	Klebsiella oxytoca	Stool	ESBL	15/04/2011
27	RV 53776/1	15/02/1938	Escherichia coli	Stool	ESBL	13/04/2011
28	H 629	13/02/2009	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	13/01/2011
29	V 52028/1	29/07/2022	Escherichia coli	Anal swab	ESBL	28/02/2011
30	V 1145	26/11/1951	Escherichia coli	Drain fluid	ESBL	28/01/2011
31	H 1973	09/04/1925	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	01/02/2011
32	H 6091	04/08/1944	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	11/04/2011
33	A 283	31/12/1983	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Bronchial lavage	ESBL	19/01/2011
34	K 359	15/08/1943	Escherichia coli	Vena cava	ESBL	03/02/2011

35	V 1745	18/09/1979	Escherichia coli	Swab	ESBL	08/02/2011
36	B 4381	27/10/1939	Escherichia coli	Blood	ESBL	11/03/2011
37	RV 50505	02/12/1952	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	18/01/2011
38	RV 54111	09/04/2011	Escherichia coli	Anal swab	ESBL	22/04/2011
39	RV 54111	09/04/2011	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Anal swab	ESBL	22/04/2011
40	V 5759	06/09/1941	Escherichia coli	Swab	ESBL	26/04/2011
41	F 2719	06/09/1941	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	26/04/2011
42	V 2072	09/05/1942	Escherichia coli	Swab	ESBL	14/02/2011
43	V 3649	21/09/1946	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	ESBL	18/03/2011
44	F 21793	17/02/2011	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	21/03/2011
45	H 3176	27/05/1928	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	22/02/2011
46	V 52686	23,061,953	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	21/03/2011
47	H 3365	01/05/1997	Klebsiella oxytoca	Urine	ESBL	25/02/2011
48	V 52157	24/07/1955	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	02/03/2011
49	H 992	09/05/1919	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	18/01/2011
50	RV 50148/2	20/07/1931	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	12/01/2011
51	V 5102	11/01/1962	Escherichia coli	Swab	ESBL	11/04/2011
52	H 705	17/03/1927	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	14/01/2011
53	H 1017	08/09/1940	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urine	ESBL	24/01/2011
54	H 1317	08/09/1940	Escherichia coli	Urine	ESBL	24/01/2011
55	H 3491	21/04/1947	Escherichia coli	Sinus maxillaris	ESBL	25/02/2011
C1	V 12479	09/12/1938	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC	07/09/2011
C2	V 12454	04/05/1947	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC	07/09/2011
C3	F 5733	22/12/1921	Enterobacter cloacae	Stool	AmpC	05/09/2011
C4	H 14750	30/12/1938	Klebsiella oxytoca	Urine	Unclear	05/09/2011
C5	H 14684	21/02/2008	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	01/09/2011
C6	V 12175	24/01/1969	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC	31/08/2011
C7	H 14440	09/02/1964	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	30/08/2011
C8	F 5514	19/10/1987	Enterobacter cloacae	Stool	Carbapenemase	26/08/2011
C9	A 7066	25/01/1923	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Bronchial lavage	AmpC	26/08/2011
C10	H 14214	27/03/1942	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	25/08/2011
C11	F 5471	13/08/2011	Escherichia coli	Stool	AmpC	23/08/2011
C12	V 11693	28/02/1959	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC	22/08/2011
C13	H13806	02/05/1954	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	17/08/2011
C14	H13715	14/09/1951	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	16/08/2011
C15	H13681	24/06/1988	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	16/08/2011
C16	RV 58163	30/06/1933	Escherichia coli	Swab	AmpC	16/08/2011
C17	F 5304	01/06/1959	Escherichia coli	Stool	AmpC	15/08/2011
C18	H 13518	19/06/1940	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	12/08/2011
C19	V 11232	12/03/1963	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	Carbapenemase	11/08/2011
C20	F 5212	29/06/2011	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Stool	AmpC	10/08/2011
C21	V 11075	19/05/1943	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Dialysate	Carbapenemase	08/08/2011
C22	H 13116	04/09/1963	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	05/08/2011
C23	V 10838/2	11/02/1941	Klebsiella oxytoca	Omentum	Unclear	04/08/2011

C25	A 6409	24/11/1958	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Tracheal secretion	AmpC	03/08/2011
C26	H 12814	15/10/1942	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urine	AmpC	02/08/2011
C27	F 4967	28/01/1949	Citrobacter youngae	Stool	AmpC	01/08/2011
C28	H 12895	25/09/1928	Proteus mirabilis	Urine	AmpC	01/08/2011
C29	H 12889	24/04/1968	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	01/08/2011
C30	B 12459	10/03/1959	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Blood	AmpC	29/07/2011
C31	A 6286	03/03/1959	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Bronchial secretion	AmpC	27/07/2011
C32	V 10239	04/04/1954	Enterobacter cloacae	Swab	Carbapenemase	21/07/2011
C33	V 10096	19/12/1967	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC	19/07/2011
C34	V 10071	29/04/1925	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Drain fluid	AmpC	19/07/2011
C35	A 6061	31/03/1945	Escherichia coli	Bronchial lavage	AmpC	19/07/2011
C36	F 4752	22/03/1982	Escherichia coli	Stool	AmpC	15/07/2011
C37	H 12025	22/01/1940	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	14/07/2011
C38	V 9799	16/03/1954	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC	11/07/2011
C39	V 57045/2	12/05/1975	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	Carbapenemase	08/07/2011
C41	H 11789	06/12/1963	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	08/07/2011
C42	H 11574	27/06/1923	Escherichia coli	Urine	AmpC	06/07/2011
C43	V 9493	15/09/1972	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC	05/07/2011
C44	H 9973	04/02/1928	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urine	AmpC	13/06/2011
C45	V 9270	25/11/1963	Klebsiella oxytoca	Swab	ESBL	04/07/2011
C46	V 9304	24/10/1954	Enterobacter cloacae	Urine	Unclear	02/07/2011
C47	F 4446	22/03/1982	Escherichia coli	Stool	AmpC	01/07/2011
C48	V 56853/2	10/02/1922	Proteus mirabilis	Skin	AmpC	01/07/2011
C49	A 5573	13/05/1999	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Sputum	AmpC	30/06/2011
C50	A 5538	06/10/1945	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Sputum	AmpC	29/06/2011
C51	V 56753	11/06/1981	Escherichia coli	Swab	AmpC	29/06/2011
C52	K 2102	06/03/1951	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Blood	AmpC	29/06/2011
C53	H 11020	02/06/1976	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urine	AmpC	28/06/2011
C54	A 5470	13/05/1940	Escherichia coli	Bronchial lavage	AmpC	28/06/2011
C55	A 5148	14/07/1965	Enterobacter cloacae	Sputum	Unclear	17/06/2011

Table 1. List of the clinical samples from the General Hospital of Vienna that were analysed in the study

2.1.4 DNA extractions

One millilitre of the bacterial overnight culture was transferred in a microcentrifuge tube. Bacterial cells were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for five minutes. For the on-chip PCR experiments and the characterization of clinical isolates from the Medical University of Graz, genomic DNA was extracted using the DNA Isolation Kit for Cells and Tissue (Roche Applied Science, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. DNA concentrations were measured using the Nanodrop

spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). If not otherwise stated, a dilution of the DNA extraction in ddH₂O at a ratio of 1 to 10 was used in subsequent experiments.

For the on-chip ligation and padlock probe experiments, dilution series of *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* isolates with known cell numbers per millilitre were prepared. Genomic DNA from every dilution was extracted using the NucleoSpin Tissue Kit (Macherey-Nagel, Germany) according the manufactures instructions. DNA was quantified with an Epoch spectrometer (BioTek, USA).

Isolates used from the General Hospital of Vienna were grown on BD Columbia blood agar plates with 5% sheep blood (BD Diagnostic Systems, USA) at 37°C overnight. Cells were transferred with an inoculation loop into 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes with 500 μ l ddH₂O and incubated at 100°C for ten minutes, followed by plunging into liquid nitrogen for one minute. The thermal cell lysis was repeated two more times. Subsequently, the lysed cell suspensions were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for one minute. The supernatant was used for the subsequent characterization experiments as DNA template.

2.1.5 DNA samples

Beside genomic DNA from bacterial strains, also PCR products of β -lactamase genes were used as template DNA in the experiments. The PCR products were obtained with the primers listed in Table 4 and Table 5. The genomic DNA from the clinical isolates analysed in this study served as template strands. The final primer concentration was 1 μ M in the PCR mix. Reagents of the Mastermix 16S Basic PCR kit (Molzym, Germany) were used at a total volume of 10 μ l. One microlitre of genomic DNA was added per reaction. Thermal cycling was carried out by an initial denaturation step at 95°C for five minutes, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing for 30 seconds (annealing temperatures listed in Table 4 and Table 5), elongation at 72°C for 80 seconds, and a final elongation cycle at 72°C for ten minutes. Negative controls without DNA template were used in all experiments. PCR products were analysed by ethidium bromide stained agarose (2%) gel electrophoresis and visualized with the video documentation system BioSpectrum 310 (UVP, USA).
Reactions with only one visible DNA lane in the agarose gel were further processed using the MinElute PCR Purification kit (Qiagen, Germany) according the manufactures instructions. If multiple lanes were present, the lane with the PCR product of the expected size was cut out and subsequently purified using the MinElute Gel Extraction kit (Qiagen) according the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA was eluated with both purification kits in ddH₂O instead the supplied eluation buffer. The purified PCR products were quantified with an Epoch spectrometer (BioTek). Dilution series were prepared based on copy numbers of PCR products per μ l in order to determine sensitivity in subsequent experiments.

2.1.6 Primer design

Prior to primer design, a sequence database with the most important β-lactamase genes was constructed. Nucleotide sequences were downloaded from GenBank (National Center for Biotechnology Information, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and imported into the software package ARB (75). The DNA sequences were analysed with the software tools Mfold and Freak (Institut Pasteur "Centre d'Informatique pour la Biologie", http://mobyle.pasteur.fr/cgi-bin/portal.py#welcome). Mfold calculates DNA secondary structures of a nucleotide sequence and illustrates them in several graphical data files. As simulation parameters for the secondary structure calculations, conditions occurring during the PCR annealing step were chosen. Temperature was set at 55°C. The Na⁺ concentration was 0.05 M, Mg²⁺ was 0.002 M. Freak visualizes the varying GC content of a nucleotide sequence.

Nineteen primers were chosen for on-chip PCR based on the probe design function of ARB. The primer design was further optimized with the NetPrimer software (http://www.premierbiosoft.com/netprimer/index.html) by identifying DNA secondary structures such as hairpins, dimers, and cross dimers. DNA sequences, primers targets, and amplification product lengths of the on-chip PCR primers are listed in Table 2. Primers were thiol-modified on their 5' end and purchased from Microsynth (Switzerland).

Primer name	Gene targeted	Sequence 5' 3' a	Length	Product size
Solid TEM 20F		TTTTTTTTGTGTCGCCCTTATTCCCTTTTT	22	
Solid TEM 789R		TTTTTTTTTTCATCCATAGTTGCCTGACTCCC	24	ation
Solid TEM 233R		TTTTTTTTGCCCGGCGTCAACACGGGATAATACCG	27	nbina
Solid TEM 140 F		TTTTTTTTTGGATCTCAACAGCGGTAAGATCCTTGAGAG	31	er col
Solid TEM 204R	TEM variants	TTTTTTTTCCACATAGCAGAACTTTAAAAGTGCTCA	28	prime
Solid TEM SS 521 F		TATTATTATTACGACGAGCGTGACACCACGATGCC	25	uo ɓ
Solid TEM SS 681 R		TATTATTATTCCAGCCGGAAGGGCCGAGCGCA	22	andin
Solid TEM SS 528 F		TATTATTATTGCGTGACACCACGATGCCTGC	21	depe
Solid TEM SS 729 R		TATTATTATTCCGCGAGACCCACGCTCACC	20	
Solid CTX-M SS 437 F Solid CTX-M SS 637 R	Variants of CTX-M-1 group	TATTATTATTTTGGCGGCCCGGCTAGCGTC TATTATTATTACCAGCTGCGCCCGTTGGCT	20 20	200
Solid SHV SS 228 F Solid SHV SS 553 R	SHV variants	TATTATTATTAGTGCTGGCGCGGGGGGGATG TATTATTATTGGCCATGCTGGCCGGGGTAG	20 20	325
Solid OXA SS 62 F Solid OXA SS 213 R	Variants of OXA-1 group	TATTATTATTACAGCAGCGCCAGTGCATCAACA TATTATTATTTCTGGTGCCATTTGCGTTGCACACT	23 25	151
Solid OXA-1 55F Solid OXA-1 472R	Variants of OXA-1 group	TTTTTTTTTATTATCTACAGCAGCGCCAGTGCAT TTTTTTTTTCGAGCCATGCTTCTGTTAATCCGTT	25 25	417
Solid 45F++ Solid 1386R+	16S rDNA	TTTTTTTTGCYTAAYACATGCAAGTCGARCG TTTTTTTTTCCGGGAACGTATTCACCG	23 18	1341

^aSequences according IUPAC nomenclature

Table 2. On-chip PCR primers designed in this study

To evaluate the specificity of the used on-chip PCR primers, a conventional liquid phase PCR in tubes had to be performed. PCR primers with the same DNA sequences like the on-chip PCR primers but lacking the polyT-spacer targeting only the β -lactamase gene of TEM-1 were designed (Table 3).

Primer name	Sequence 5' 3'	Length	Product size with TEM 20F	Product size with TEM 140F	Annealing temperature
TEM 20F	GTGTCGCCCTTATTCCCTTT	20			56°C
TEM 140 F	TGGATCTCAACAGCGGTAAGA	21			56°C
TEM 789R	TTCATCCATAGTTGCCTGACTC	22	769 bp	649 bp	56°C
TEM 233R	GGCGTCAACACGGGATAATA	20	213 bp	93 bp	56°C
TEM 204R	CCACATAGCAGAACTTTAAAAGTG	24	184 bp	64 bp	56°C

Table 3. Liquid phase primers used in on-chip PCR

For the detection of β -lactamases in liquid phase PCR, 25 primer pairs were designed with ARB. These primers were used for the molecular characterization of the clinical isolates. DNA sequences, amplification product lengths, and annealing temperatures of those primers are listed in Table 4.

2.1.7 DNA amplification and sequencing

The genomic DNA from clinical samples was analysed using PCR as the method of choice. The clinical DNA extracts were amplified using primers listed in Table 4 and also those published recently (Table 5) to double-check PCR results. The final primer concentration was 1 µM in the PCR mix. Reagents of the Mastermix 16S Basic PCR kit (Molzym) were used at a total volume of 50 µl. One microlitre of extracted DNA was added per reaction. Thermal cycling was carried out by an initial denaturation step at 95°C for five minutes followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing for 30 seconds (annealing temperatures listed in Table 4 and Table 5), elongation at 72°C for 80 seconds, and a final elongation cycle at 72°C for ten minutes. Negative controls without DNA template were used in all experiments. PCR products were analysed by ethidium bromide stained agarose (2%) gel electrophoresis.

Reactions with only one visible DNA lane in the agarose gel were further processed using the MinElute PCR Purification kit (Qiagen). If multiple lanes were present, the lane with the PCR product of the expected size was cut out and subsequently purified using the MinElute Gel Extraction kit (Qiagen). DNA was eluated in 50 μ l ddH₂O. The purified PCR products were Sanger sequenced (Microsynth).

Primer name	β-lactamase(s) targeted	Sequence 5' 3'	Length	Product size	Annealing temperature ^a
ACC F	ACC-1. ACC-4	GCAGAACACATTGAAGCTGTTATCCGT	27	1142 bp	60°C
ACC R		ATGAGCTCAGGATTTTATACGCCACCG	27		60°C
ACT F	ΔΟΤ-1 ΔΟΤ-2 ΔΟΤ-8	TGACTAAATCCCTTTGCTGCGCCC	24	1136 hn	60°C
ACT R	A01-1, A01-2, A01-0	ACAGCGCGCTCAAAATACGGT	21	1100 bp	60°C
CMY-1F	Variants of CMY-1 group,	GCCGTGGCCACCCTGATGTG	20	1114 bp	60°C
CMY-1R	MOX-1	CGGCCAACTGCGCCAGGAT	19	1114 bp	60°C
CMY-2F	Variants of CMV-2 aroun	TGCGCTCTGCTGGCGTTTTCC	20	1116 bn	60°C
CMY-2R	Valiants of Own-2 group	TTCAAGAATGCGCCAGGCCG	20	1110 bp	60°C
CTX-M-1F	Variants of CTX-M-1	TCACTGCGCCAGTTCACGCT	20	840 hn	65°C
CTX-M-1R	group	GACGATTTTAGCCGCCGACGC	21	043.00	65°C
CTX-M-25F	Variants of CTX-M-25	AAGCGTAAGGCGGGCGATGT	20	850 hn	65°C
CTX-M-25R	group	ACCGTCGGTGACAATTCTGGCG	22	009 ph	65°C
CTX-M-2F	Variants of CTX-M-2	TGACTCAGAGCATTCGCCGCT	21	854 hn	65°C
CTX-M-2R	group	GATTTTCGCCGCCGCAGCC	19	004 bh	65°C
CTX-M-8F	Variants of CTX-M-8	ACATCGCGTTAAGCGGATGATGCT	24	050 hn	65°C
CTX-M-8R	group	TCGGTGACGATTTTCGCGGCA	21	000 NH	65°C
CTX-M-9F	Variants of CTX-M-9	ACGGATGATGTTCGCGGCGG	20	051 hr	65°C
CTX-M-9R	group	ACAGCCCTTCGGCGATGATTCTC	23	854 bp	65°C
DHA F		CGCTCTGCTGGCGTTTTCCG	20	1100 hr	65°C
DHA R	DHA-1	CCAGTGCACTCAAAATAGCCTGTGC	25	1103 bp	65°C
FOX F		ACGACGTGCGTTCGCGCTAC	20	1105 hr	60°C
FOX R	FUX-1 to FUX-8	CTCAGGATGGCGTGAGCCGC	20	1125 bp	60°C
GES F	050	ACTGGCAGGGATCGCTCACTCT	22	000 1	60°C
GES R	GES variants	TGTCCGTGCTCAGGATGAGTTGTG	24	836 bp	60°C
IMP-1F		ATGAGCAAGTTATCTGTATTCTTTATA	27	740 1	55°C
IMP-1R	Variants of IMP-1 group	AGTTGCTTGGTTTTGATGGT	20	740 bp	55°C
KPC F	KDO a da la	GCTGTCTTGTCTCTCATGGCCGC	23	054.6	60°C
KPC R	KPC variants	ACTGCCCGTTGACGCCCAATC	21	854 bp	60°C
NDM-1F		CAGCGCAGCTTGTCGGCCAT	20	705 1	60°C
NDM-1R	NDM-1	TATGCACCCGGTCGCGAAGC	20	795 bp	60°C
OXA-1F		GAAAAACACAATACATATCAACTTCGC	27		55°C
OXA-1R	Variants of OXA-1 group	TGGTGATCGCATTTTTCTTGGC	22	806 bp	55°C
OXA-23F		AAATATTTTACTTGCTATGTGGTTGCT	27	704 hr	55°C
OXA-23R	Variants of OXA-23 group	TCAATAATTCATTACGTATAGATGCCG	27	784 bp	55°C
OXA-24F		AGTTTCTCTCAGTGCATGTTCA	22	700 1	55°C
OXA-24R	Variants of OXA-24 group	TGATTCCAAGATTTTCTAGCGACT	24	782 bp	55°C
OXA-51F		ATGAACATTAAAACCCTCTTACT	23	005 1	55°C
OXA-51R	Variants of OXA-51 group	CTATAAAATACCTAATTGTTCTAAGC	26	825 bp	55°C
OXA-58F		TAAGCATAAGTATTGGGGGCTTGTGCTG	27	000 1	55°C
OXA-58R	Variants of OXA-58 group	ATGAAAAACACCCAACTTATCTAGCA	26	800 bp	55°C
PER F	PER-1, PER-3, PER-4,	ACTGCCTCGACGCTACTGATGGT	23	004.1	60°C
PER R	PER-5	TGGGCTTAGGGCAGAAAGCTTTTTCAA	27	894 bp	60°C
SHV F	OLIN (ATGCGTTATATTCGCCTGTGTATTT	25	001 hr	60°C
SHV R	SILA AGUARDA	TTAGCGTTGCCAGTGCTCGAT	21	90100	60°C
TEM F	TEM veriente	ATGAGTATTCAACATTTCCGTGTC	24	064	55°C
TEM R	i Eivi variants	TTACCAATGCTTAATCAGTGAGG	23	qq 1.00	55°C
VEB F	VER varianta	AGCGGTAATTTAACCAGATAGGAGT	25	012	55°C
VEB R		TCCACGTTATTTTTGCAATGTCTGA	25	aranh	55°C
VIM-1F		AGTTTATTGGTCTACATGACCGCGTCT	27	770 -	60°C
VIM-1R	variants of VIM-1 group	CGGCGACTGAGCGATTTTTGTGT	23	778 pp	60°C

^aTemperature used during PCR

Table 4. Primers designed in this study for liquid phase β -lactamase detection

Primer name	β-lactamase(s) targeted	Sequence 5' 3'ª	Length	Product size	Annealing temperature ^b	Reference
PP ACC F	ACC-1, ACC-2	CACCTCCAGCGACTTGTTAC	20	346 bp	60°C	(54)
PP ACC R		GTTAGCCAGCATCACGATCC	20	0.000	60°C	(54)
PP ACT-1 F	ACT-1 MIR-1	CGGTAAAGCCGATGTTGCG	19	683 hn	60°C	(54)
PP ACT-1 R	A01-1, MIR-1	AGCCTAACCCCTGATACA	18	000 pp	60°C	(54)
PP CMY-1 F	Variants of CMY-1 group,	GCAACAACGACAATCCATCCT	21	895 hn	60°C	(54)
PP CMY-1 R	MOX-1, MOX-2	GGGATAGGCGTAACTCTCCCAA	22	030 pp	60°C	(54)
PP CMY-2 F	Variants of CMY-2 group,	CGAAGAGGCAATGACCAGAC	20	538 hn	60°C	(54)
PP CMY-2 R	LAT-1 to LAT-3, BIL-1	ACGGACAGGGTTAGGATAGY	20	000 bp	60°C	(54)
PP CTX-M-1 F	Variants of CTX-M-1 group	TTAGGAARTGTGCCGCTGYA	20	688 hn	60°C	(54)
PP CTX-M-1 R		CGATATCGTTGGTGGTRCCAT	21	000 pp	60°C	(54)
PP CTX-M-2 F	Varianta of CTV M 2 group	CGACGCTACCCCTGCTATT	19	550 hn	60°C	(76)
PP CTX-M-2 R	Variants of CTX-IVI-2 group	CCAGCGTCAGATTTTTCAGG	20	552 bp	60°C	(76)
PP CTX-M-25 F		GCACGATGACATTCGGG	17	327 bp	60°C	(76)
PP CTX-M-8 F	and CTX-M-25 group	TCGCGTTAAGCGGATGATGC	20	666 bp	60°C	(76)
PP CTX-M-8U25R		AACCCACGATGTGGGTAGC	19		60°C	(76)
PP CTX-M-9 F	Variants of CTX M 0 group	TCAAGCCTGCCGATCTGGT	19	561 bp	60°C	(54)
PP CTX-M-9 R	variants of CTX-IVI-9 group	TGATTCTCGCCGCTGAAG	18	301 bh	60°C	(54)
PP DHA F		TGATGGCACAGCAGGATATTC	21	007 hn	60°C	(54)
PP DHA R	DHA-1, DHA-2	GCTTTGACTCTTTCGGTATTCG	22	997 ph	60°C	(54)
PP FOX F		CTACAGTGCGGGTGGTTT	18	162 hn	60°C	(54)
PP FOX R	FUX-1 10 FUX-5	CTATTTGCGGCCAGGTGA	18	162 DP	60°C	(54)
PP GES F		AGTCGGCTAGACCGGAAAG	19	200 hm	60°C	(54)
PP GES R	GES-110 GES-9, GES-11	TTTGTCCGTGCTCAGGAT	18	299 ph	60°C	(54)
PP IMP-1 F	Varianta of IMD 1 group	TTGACACTCCATTTACDG	18	120 hm	55°C	(54)
PP IMP-1 R	variants of livir-1 group	GATYGAGAATTAAGCCACYCT	21	129 ph	55°C	(54)
PP KPC F	KPC voriante	CATTCAAGGGCTTTCTTGCTGC	22	529 hn	55°C	(54)
PP KPC R	KPC variants	ACGACGGCATAGTCATTTGC	20	530 nh	55°C	(54)
PP OXA-1 F	Variante of OVA 1 group	GGCACCAGATTCAACTTTCAAG	22	EG4 hr	60°C	(54)
PP OXA-1 R	variants of OXA-1 group	GACCCCAAGTTTCCTGTAAGTG	22	564 DP	60°C	(54)
PP OXA-23 F	Varianta of OVA 22 group	GATCGGATTGGAGAACCAGA	20	501 hr	52°C	(77)
PP OXA-23 R	variants of OXA-25 group	ATTTCTGACCGCATTTCCAT	20	901 DP	52°C	(77)
PP OXA-24 F	Varianta of OVA 24 group	GGTTAGTTGGCCCCCTTAAA	20	046 hr	52°C	(77)
PP OXA-24 R	variants of OXA-24 group	AGTTGAGCGAAAAGGGGATT	20	240 DP	52°C	(77)
PP OXA-51 F	Variante of OVA 51 group	TAATGCTTTGATCGGCCTTG	20	252 hr	52°C	(78)
PP OXA-51 R	variants of OXA-51 group	TGGATTGCACTTCATCTTGG	20	322 nh	52°C	(78)
PP OXA-58 F	Varianta of OVA EQ aroun	AAGTATTGGGGGCTTGTGCTG	20	500 hm	52°C	(77)
PP OXA-58 R	variants of OXA-56 group	CCCCTCTGCGCTCTACATAC	20	299 ph	52°C	(77)
PP PER F		GCTCCGATAATGAAAGCGT	19	500 hr	60°C	(54)
PP PER R	PER-I, PER-J	TTCGGCTTGACTCGGCTGA	19	520 DP	60°C	(54)
PP SHV F	CLIV (veriente	CAAAACGCCGGGTTATTC	18	027 hr	54°C	(55)
PP SHV R		TTAGCGTTGCCAGTGCT	17	937 pp	54°C	(55)
PP TEM F		TGAGTATTCAACATTTCCGTGT	22	061 hr	54°C	(55)
PP TEM R		TTACCAATGCTTAATCAGTGA	21	00 I DP	54°C	(55)
PP VEB F		CATTTCCCGATGCAAAGCGT	20	640	60°C	(54)
PP VEB R	VEB Variants	CGAAGTTTCTTTGGACTCTG	20	о48 рр	60°C	(54)
PP VIM-1 F		GATGGTGTTTGGTCGCATA	19		55°C	(79)
PP VIM-1 R	Variants of VIM-1 group	CGAATGCGCAGCACCAG	17	390 bp	55°C	(79)

^aSequences according IUPAC nomenclature

^bTemperature used during PCR

Table 5. Previously published primers used for liquid phase β -lactamase detection

2.1.8 On-chip ligation oligonucleotides

DNA sequences of the on-chip ligation oligonucleotides used in this study were designed in ARB based on the β -lactamase sequence database generated. All DNA oligonucleotide were checked for secondary structures as previously described and are listed in Table 6 and Table 7. Oligonucleotide probes were designed for four different ligation based reaction mechanisms (Figure 12 to Figure 15)

Figure 12. Schematic overview of a ligation and detection process using linear probes immobilized on a glass slide. During the hybridization step a DNA target molecule binds to the immobilized probe. Subsequently, the specificity probe binds to the caught DNA target directly next to the immobilized probe and is ligated to it. The specificity probe has a detection sequence at its 3' end to which a detection oligonucleotide can bind.



Figure 13. Schematic overview of a ligation and detection process using linear probes immobilized on a glass slide. During the hybridization step, a DNA target molecule binds to the immobilized probe. Subsequently, the specificity probe binds to the caught DNA target with several base pairs distance to the immobilized probe. A polymerase lacking exonuclease activity adds nucleotides to the immobilized probe until it reaches the hybridized specificity probe. Then a ligase binds the specificity probe to elongate the immobilized probe. The specificity probe has a detection sequence at its 3' end to which a detection oligonucleotide can bind.



Name	Sequence 5' 3'	Corresponding immobilized probe	Distance to immobilized probe	Length
Immobilized probe TEM 140 F	TITITITITITEGATCTCAACAGCGGGTAAGATCCTTGAGAG			41
Immobilized probe TEM 204R	TITITITITTCCACATAGCAGAACTTTAAAAGTGCTCA			38
Immobilized probe TEM 233R	TITITITITICCCCGGCGTCAACACGGGGATAATACCG			37
Immobilized probe TEM lig	TITITTTTGGATAATACCGCACC			25
Immobilized probe SHV lig	TTTTTTTTGGATCTGGTGGACTA			25
Immobilized probe OXA-1 lig	TITITITITITICTICTTTACTTTA			26
Immobilized probe CTX-M-1 lig	TITITITITITIGCGTCACCGCGTT			25
Specificity probe TEM 140F	CGAAGAACGTTTTCCAATGATTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	TEM 140F and TEM lig	9 bp resp. 0 bp	44
Specificity probe TEM 204R	CGCTGTTGAGATCCAGCTCTTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	TEM 204R	45 bp	43
Specificity probe TEM 233R	ACATAGCAGAACTTTAAAAGTGCTTTTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	TEM 233R	4 bp	48
Specificity probe SHV 306	CTCGCCGGTCAGCGAAAATTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	SHV lig	0 bp	42
Specificity probe OXA-1 144	CGATGCATCCACAAACGCTTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	OXA-1 lig	0 bp	42
Specificity probe CTX-M-1 465	CGCCCGACAGCTGGGAGATTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	CTX-M-1 lig	0 bp	42

Table 6. Oligonucleotides used for ligation based on-chip detection methods of β -lactamases presented in Figure 9 and Figure 10

Looplock probes	5' Spacer	Spacer intern	Lock Region 1	Lock Region 2	Spacer intern	Spacer 3'	Length
LL CTX-M-1	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCCAGGC		AGCATCTACAGGCTGCTTCC	TGTTTTCTGCAGTGGTCTGG		GCCTGGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	114
LL CTX-M-9	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCCAGGC		AGAAGCAGAGATCGCTGGAG	TCCAGAGCCACACCTITCTC		GCCTGGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	114
LL OXA-1	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCCAGGC		CACAGAGCTCAGGTGATCCA	CCACCTCCCAACTGTCTC		GCCTGGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	114
LL SHV	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCCAGGC		ACTCTAACTGCCTCCCGACA	GGTGTCGAGCTGTTGTCCTT		GCCTGGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	114
LL TEM	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCCAGGC		ACACGCAGATCAGTCAGCAT	GAGACAGTTGGAGGAGGTGG		GCCTGGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	114
LL c.pneu. P108	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	TCCTTCCGGGCGTTG	CGAAGGCGGGGAACA	24× T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL c.pneu. P646	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	TITGGGGGGGGGCTAT	TTTGTGCGCGGTCG	24x T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL c.pneu. P191	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	26x T	CGGGTGGAAGCCGAA	CCGCTAACGCGGGGGAGA	24x T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL b.per. P737	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	GTTGCGACACCACCG	TGGAAGGCGGCACTC	24x ⊤	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL b.per. P574	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	CGAAGGGGGGGGGACA	ACGGGCTGCTGAAGG	24x T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL b.per. P46	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	AGTCTTTGTGCGCGG	CCTGCGGCGATCTCA	24× T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL k.king. P79	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	TGAGATCGCCGCAGG	CGACCGCGCACAAAA	24× ⊤	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL k.king. P1008	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	GCACTCTGCCCCC	TGGAAGGCGGCACTC	24x T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL k.king. P455	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	GCGCACAGCGGATCT	TTCCCGTCTGCTGGC	24x T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL m.hom. P1001	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	ACGGTTGCGAGCACT	CGCCCTCGCGGGATAA	24x T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL m.hom. P170a	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	TTGCCAGCCAGTGGG	CCGTTACGTGCGCTG	24x T	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
LL m.hom. P170b	GCGGGGCTAGTGGACGGGCTGCC	25x T	GGGCGTCTGGAAGCA	GCGGCTGGTCTGACA	24x ⊤	GGCAGCCCGTCCACTAGCCCCGC	125
Immobilized linear probes		5' Spacer	Lock Region 1	Lock Region 2			
SP CTX-M-1		TTTTTTTT	AGCATCTACAGGCTGCTTCC	TGTTTTCTGCAGTGGTCTGG			50
SP CTX-M-9			AGAAGCAGAGATCGCTGGAG	TCCAGAGCCACACCTITCTC			50
SP CTX-M-9 ddNTP			AGAAGCAGAGATCGCTGGAG	TCCAGAGCCACACCTTTCTddCTP			50
SP OXA-1			CACAGAGCTCAGGTGATCCA	CCACCTCCCAACTGTCTC			50
SP SHV			ACTCTAACTGCCTCCCGACA	GGTGTCGAGCTGTTGTCCTT			50
SP SHV ddNTP			ACTCTAACTGCCTCCCGACA	GGTGTCGAGCTGTTGTCCTddTTP			50
SP TEM			ACACGCAGATCAGTCAGCAT	GAGACAGTTGGAGGAGGTGG			50
SP TEM ddNTP		TTTTTTT	ACACGCAGATCAGTCAGCAT	GAGACAGTTGGAGGGGGGGGGGdGTP			50
Capture probes A	5' Lock Region 1	Spacer intern	Detecti	ion oligo	Spacer intern	Target Region 2	
CP CTX-M-1 A	GGAAGCAGCCTGTAGATGCT	μ	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCT	E	TTT	CATACAGCGCACACTTCC	69
CP CTX-M-9 A	CTCCAGCGATCTCTGCTTCT	TTT	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCT	E	TIT	CTGTTGCGGCTGGGTAAA	68
CP OXA-1 A	TGGATCACCTGAGCTCAGTG	TTT	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCT	E	TTT	CCGCATCAAATGCCATAAG	69
CP SHV A	TGTCGGGAGGCAGTTAGAGT	TTT	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCT	E	TTT	AGGGTGGCTAACAGGGGAGAT	70
CP TEM A	ATGCTGACTGATCTGCGTGT	TTT	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCT	L	TTT	TGCTTAATCAGTGAGGCACCTA	72
CP13 c.pneu. P127	CAACGCCCGGAAGGA		GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGA(GTAGCCG		AGGGCAGATTATCTATGTA	63
CP13 c.pneu. P665	ATAGCGCGCCCAAA		GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGA(GTAGCCG		CTATCCTCTAGAAAGATAG	63
CP13 c.pneu. P211	TTCGGCTTCCACCCG		GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAL	GTAGCCG		GATCCCCTTCTTTAATATAT	64
CP13 b.per. P721	CGGTCGTGTCGCAAC		GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGA(GTAGCCG		CGCTCATGCACGAAAG	60
CP13 b.per. P556	TGTTCCCGCCCTTCG		GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGA(GTAGCCG		TTCGGAAAGAAGATGTG	62
CP13 b.per. P60	CCGCGCACAAAGACT		GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGA(GTAGCCG		AGGCCGAAGCCCGT	58

CP13 k.king.P1025 6666660 CP13 k.king. P475 AGATCC66 CP13 m.hom. P982 AGTGC766 CP13 m.hom. P154 CCCACT66 CP13 m.hom. P185 T6CTT66 Capture probes B	3AGAGTGC TTGTCCGC SCAACCGT		GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCG		GGCACAGAGAGTATCTCT	
CP13 k.king. P475 AGATCOGC CP13 m.hom. P982 AGTGCTCG CP13 m.hom. P154 CCCACTGK CP13 m.hom. P185 TGCTTCCA Capture probes B	TGTCCGC					61
CP13 m.hom. P982 AGTGCTCG CP13 m.hom. P154 CCCACTGG CP13 m.hom. P185 TGCTTGC Capture probes B	SCAACCGT	_	GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCG		CAGTTAATGATATTAGCATC	64
CP13 m.hom. P154 cccacted CP13 m.hom. P186 Tectrece Capture probes B			GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCG		AGAGATATAGTGGAGGTTA	63
CP13 m.hom. P186 TGCTTCCA Capture probes B	SCTGGCAA	-	GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCG		CGGATACGCATGGAAC	60
Capture probes B	GACGCCC	-	GCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCG		CACAACGGAACCATGC	60
	5' Target Region 1 S	pacer intern	Detection oligo	Spacer intern	Lock Region 2	
CP CTX-M-1 B TAACAACA	GCGTGACGGTTG	E	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	ш	CCAGACCACTGCAGAAAACA	20
CP CTX-M-9 B ATAGGTCA	CCAGAACCAGCG	TTT	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	TTT	GAGAAAGGTGTGGCTCTGGA	70
CP OXA-1 B TGATAATG	CGATCTTGAAGTTG	E	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	TTT	GAGACAGTTGGAGGAGGTGG	73
CP SHV B AATACACA	GGCGAATATAACGCA	III	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	III	AAGGACAACAGCTCGACACC	73
CP TEM B TCTCAGCC	ATCTGTCTATTTCG	III	TTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	111	CCACCTCCTACTGTCTC	72
CP52 c.pneu. P108 CTACTAAC	CCTTCCGC				TGTTCCCGCCCTTCG	41
CP52 c.pneu. P646 TTTTAAATT	SCTGACTTGGG				CGACCGCGCACAAAA	44
CP52 c.pneu. P191 ATTAGATG	CCTAATTACACT				TCTCCGCGTTAGCGG	45
CP52 b.per. P737 TGTGGG6	IGCAAACAG				GAGTGCCGCCTTCCA	41
CP52 b.per. P574 AAATCCCA	GGGCTTAAC				CCTTCAGCAGCCCGT	42
CP52 b.per. P46 GCTGCCG	FCCGACT				TGAGATCGCCGCAGG	39
CP52 k.king. P79 crcgrgd	TGCCGT				TTTTGTGCGCGCTCG	39
CP52 k.king.P1008 ACTCTCTT	CCGTACATG				GAGTGCCGCCTTCCA	42
CP52 k.king. P455 AACCTTT	CTTCCCTAACA				GCCAGCAGACGGGAA	44
CP52 m.hom. P1001 TCGGAGT(ACAGATGG				TTATCCGCGGGGGGG	41
CP52 m.hom. P170a cccATGG	TCCGTTGT				CAGCGCACGTAACGG	41
CP52 m.hom. P170b GGTTCCA1	GCGTATCC				TGTCAGACCAGCCGC	41

Table 7. Oligonucleotides used for ligation based on-chip detection methods of β -lactamases presented in Figure 11 and Figure 12

A new class of probes, looplock probes, was designed for the five clinically most frequent β -lactamase genes of CTX-M-1, CTX-M-9, OXA-1, TEM and SHV. The mode of action of these probes is shown in Figure 14.

Figure 14. Schematic overview of the ligation process using looplock probes. Yellow sequences indicate regions responsible for looplock and capture probe recognition, blue indicates the region on the capture probe detecting a specific DNA target, and red where detection oligonucleotides bind. After annealing of capture probes, looplock probe and the DNA target to each other, a ligase concatenates the ligated capture probes to the looplock probe. All unligated capture probes are removed during a stringent washing step using boiling water. Detection oligonucleotides are used to validate if the ligation reactions were successful.



These probes were compared with existing ligation dependent ligation methods using immobilized linear probes (Figure 15). The immobilized linear probes were ordered in two variants; one variant had dNTPs at its 3' end, the other had ddNTPs at the 3' end. The two variants were identical except this difference including their nucleotide sequences. Additionally, all immobilized probes had a sequence complementary to a capture probe A and a capture probe B. The immobilized linear probes had the same nucleotide sequence to bind capture probes as their analogous looplock probes.

Figure 15. Schematic overview of the ligation process using an immobilized linear probe to bind capture probes. The process is analogous to the one presented in Figure 14 except that no boiling water is used for washing but a less stringent washing buffer.



Capture probes are linear oligonucleotides that were used in the liquid phase of the detection reaction. Two capture probes (A and B) were necessary for the detection of a gene target. Every capture probe had two sequences at their ends to detect a gene target and their corresponding immobilized probe on the glass slide. The 3' end of capture probe A and the 5' end of capture probe B annealed to a gene target and got ligated. In parallel, the 5' end of capture probe A and the 3' end of capture probe B annealed to their common immobilized probe on the slide and were ligated. After the capture probes ligated at both ends, the resulting molecule was a circular DNA strand. Every capture probe had a universal sequence corresponding to the fluorescently labelled detection oligonucleotide BSrev (5' Cy5-AAGCTCACTGGCCGTCGTTTTAAA). The mentioned oligonucleotides were ordered from Microsynth.

2.1.9 Padlock probes, synthetic templates and microarray probes

Padlock probes were designed for the 33 clinically most common β -lactamases (Table 8). The β -lactamase target gene sequences were cut *in silico* with the restriction enzymes *AluI* and *HpyF3I*. The obtained fragments were used as input sequence in the online software Primer3 plus (http://www.bioinformatics.nl/cgi-bin/primer3plus/primer3plus.cgi) to calculate the 5' and 3' targeting arms of the padlock probes. Oligonucleotide sequences of the padlock probes designed in this study are shown in supplementary Table 1. Each gene-target was detected by two to four padlock probes resulting in 96 probes for the whole β -lactamase assay. Every padlock

probe contained a universal circle-to-circle amplification (C2CA) sequence and a unique sequence tag (80). A schematic overview of the designed padlock probes is shown in Figure 16. The polarity of oligonucleotides was referred to as "+", and of their complementary sequences as "-". Synthetic DNA templates were used to evaluate the ligation and subsequent amplification processes of every padlock probe (supplementary Table 2). Monomerization and ligation during C2CA was directed by the replication oligonucleotides C2CA⁺ (GTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTA) and C2CA⁻ (TACTCGAGGAGCTGCATACAC) with an included restriction site for *AluI*. The above mentioned oligonucleotides were ordered from Integrated DNA Technologies (USA).

Figure 16. Schematic overview of the elements on the padlock probes. The 5' and 3' target recognition arms anneal specifically to a target DNA sequence and are subsequently ligated. The C2CA sequence contains a restriction site and is necessary for the amplification reactions. Every ligated padlock probe can be assigned with the unique microarray barcode element to a microarray spot in the final detection hybridization. The average nucleotide length of padlock probes in this study is 83 nt.



A microarray was used to detect ligated padlock probes. The array consisted of 274 oligonucleotides, only 96 were used for padlock probe detection (81). Every sequence-tagged padlock probe was complementary to only one microarray oligonucleotide which had 5' amino-modified- $(T)_{10}$ -tails. Tag sequences were designed with ARB and had melting temperatures around 65°C. The fluorescently labeled detection oligonucleotide BSrev was used in every experiment as internal control to monitor the hybridization process. Microarray oligonucleotides are shown in supplementary Table 3 and were ordered from Microsynth.

Class A	Class B	Class C	Class D
CTX-M-1	IMP-1	ACT-1	OXA-1
CTX-M-2	IMP-24	CMY-1	OXA-2
CTX-M-8	VIM-1	CMY-2	OXA-23
CTX-M-9	VIM-2	DHA-1	OXA-24
CTX-M-25	NDM-1	FOX-1	OXA-48
GES-1		MIR-1	OXA-51
IMI-1			OXA-58
KPC-1			
PER-1			
RTG-4			
SFO-1			
SHV			
SME-1			
TEM			
VEB-1			

Table 8. Clinical important β -lactamases and their classification according sequence similarity. The padlock probe assay was designed to detect the genes of these enzymes

2.1.10 Glass slide preparation and spotting for on-chip PCR

First, glass slides were washed by sonication in acetone for ten minutes, followed by washing in ddH₂O for two minutes twice. Sonication was repeated in a 1 M NaOH solution for ten minutes. Slides were immersed overnight in 1 M HCl.

Washing was continued for four minutes in ddH₂O twice. Then, slides were rinsed in Ethanol and air-dried. The slides were subsequently immersed in dry acetone with 5% 3-aminopropyl-trimethoxysilane for one hour to coat the surface with aminosilane resulting in a nonpolar surface. Washing three times in acetone for five minutes each time was followed by rinsing the slides in ethanol. To fix the chemical surface on the glass slides, they were baked for 50 minutes at 90°C. Then, a freshly prepared cross-linker solution was applied on the top of the slides for five hours at room temperature.

Figure 17. Chemical structure of s-MBS. The sulfite modification makes the molecule water soluble. The molecule is reactive towards amino and thiol groups. The reactive sites are the sulfo-NHS ester and the maleimide.



The cross-linker solution consisted of 20 mM s-MBS (*m*-maleimidobenzoyl-*N*-hydroxysulfo-succinimide ester) in PBS (0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.15 M NaCl, pH 7.2). The cross-linker provides chemical functional groups that can link the aminosilane-surface with a thiol-modified oligonucleotide. Furthermore, it enables a very thermostable, covalent binding of the oligonucleotides to the surface. Due to the thiol-modification at the 5' end of the oligonucleotides, they bind exclusively with the 5' end to the surface. Slides were immersed in PBS after the application of the cross-linker, then briefly in ddH₂O and finally in ethanol. Slides were air-dried and stored overnight.

On the third day of the procedure, oligonucleotides were spotted onto the slides. The thiol-modified oligos were prepared as 50 μ M solution in NaPi (0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.15 M NaCl, pH 6.5). The oligonucleotides (Table 2) were applied with the contact-spotter Genemachines OmniGrid 100 (Digilab Genomic Solutions, USA) onto the slides. Then, the slides were incubated in a hybridization chamber with humid atmosphere at room temperature for five hours to enable the covalent binding of the oligos to the slide surface. Afterwards, slides were washed in NaPi for five minutes twice. To deactivate the free reactive groups on the slide surface the slides were treated with 10 mM mercaptoethanol in NaPi for one hour at room temperature. Then, slides were again washed in NaPi. To remove unbound oligonucleotides, slides were immersed in a saline solution (1.5 M NaCl, 10m M NaH₂PO₄, pH 7) for ten minutes. The manufacturing of the slides was finalised with washing in 5xSSC buffer (0.75 M NaCl, 0.075 M Na

citrate, pH 7) with 0.1% Tween for ten minutes, rinsing in 5xSSC and storing in 5xSSC at 4°C.

2.1.11 Microarray spotting for padlock probe and solid support ligation assay

5' and 3' end amino-modified oligonucleotides (supplementary Table 4, Table 6, and Table 7) were printed using the contact arrayer Omnigrid at a concentration of 50 μ M in 3×SSC and 1.5 M betaine monohydrate onto glass slide with an aldehyde surface (VSS-25F Silylated Slides, Cel Associates). Air humidity was between 55% and 60%. Spotting was carried out with SMP3 pins (TeleChem, Sunnyvale, California) leading to a spot size of 100 μ m diameter. Four replicates of each probe were printed per microarray slide. After spotting, slides were stored at room temperature.

2.1.12 Spotting efficiency and thermal stability of on-chip PCR slides

Tests to evaluate the efficiency of spotting were performed. The blocked on-chip PCR slides were hybridized with fluorescently labelled adenine-decamers (Cy5-polyA-oligo). The spotted oligonucleotides had on their 5' end a nucleotide spacer consisting of ten thymines. The polyA-oligo could anneal to this spacer, and thus, reveal the immobilization of the thiol-modified oligonucleotides on the slides.

For this purpose, a mix consisting of 25 μ l ddH₂O, 25 μ l ExpressHyb Hybridization Solution (Clonetech, USA) and 1 μ l polyA-oligo (50 μ M) was pipetted onto on-chip PCR slides with a lifterslip. The slides were put in a hybridization chamber with humid atmosphere and incubated at room temperature for one hour. After hybridization, slides were washed in 2xSSC with 0.1% SDS for five minutes, followed by washing in 0.2xSSC for two minutes and a final washing step in ddH₂O for one minute. Slides were dried in a centrifuge and scanned in a Genepix 4000A microarray scanner (Axon Instruments, USA). Data was analysed with Excel 2007 (Microsoft, USA).

After determination of spotting quality, the thermal stability of the used oligonucleotide immobilization chemistry was evaluated. On-chip PCR slides were transferred into boiling water for two hours. The evaluation of the thermal stability was determined analogous to the spotting efficiency with Cy5-labelled polyA-oligos as described above. Slides were scanned in a Genepix 4000A microarray scanner.

2.1.13 On-chip PCR chamber and sealing

Surface temperatures of the on-chip PCR slides were measured during thermal cycling with external thermo-sensors. The program in the thermo cycler was as follows: 95°C at 30 seconds, 58°C at 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds. These three temperature steps were repeated 30 times.

Different approaches to create a reaction chamber on an on-chip PCR slide were evaluated. All chambers were tested with different PCR-reagents in a thermal *In Situ* slide cycler (PTC-200; MJ research, USA). Thermal cycling was carried out as follows: 95°C for five minutes; 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for one minute; and a final cycle at 72°C for ten minutes. Commercially available and self-sticking reaction chambers with 18 μ l, 30 μ l 50 μ l and 100 μ l reaction volume (HybriWell; Grace-Biolab, USA) were tested with and without additional sealing. The chambers were sealed on their edges with nail polish, a paraffin pen (PAP Pen 520; Kisker, Germany), self-sealing solution (LTF Labortechnik, Germany) or mineral oil (Sigma-Aldrich, USA).

Liquid reaction chambers with a polar phase consisting of the PCR-mix and a nonpolar coating phase surrounding the PCR-mix were also tested.

Self-made chambers consisted of a cover slip or a lifter slip (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) on a microarray slide. The PCR-mix was pipetted under these glass slips and sealed with nail polish, self-sealing solution or mineral oil. In other approaches, reaction chambers were sealed with aluminium or polyolefin PCR foils (StarSeal sealing tape; Starlab, Germany) by wrapping the foil around the on-chip PCR slide with the lifter slip on top of it.

The chemical composition of different commercial PCR-mixes and its impact on evaporation was also tested. Therefore, following PCR-kits were tested: Phusion and Phusion Hotstart (New England Biolabs, USA), 16S Basic PCR kit (Molzym), TypeIt PCR kit and Multiplex PCR kit (Qiagen). Evaporation could not be measured absolutely due to the lack of appropriate measuring equipment. Thus, the amount and size of air bubbles formed under the lifter slips was compared when different kits were used.

2.1.14 Blocking of on-chip PCR slides

Before their use, on-chip PCR slides were blocked to reduce background fluorescence and the attachment of PCR reagents to the surface. Three approaches were compared. The first one used proteins to block the surface and was based on three steps: incubation in 5xSCC with 0.1% Tween and 0.1% BSA for ten minutes. Then, slides were washed in 5xSSC for two minutes, followed by washing in ddH₂O for one minute. Slides were always dried with a centrifuge after washing.

The second blocking method was based on urea. Slides were incubated in 3 M urea with 0.5% SDS for 30 minutes and then washed in ddH₂O for five minutes. The third approach tested if blocking was necessary at all and washed the slides in ddH₂O for two minutes twice.

2.1.15 Testing of PCR-kits

Various PCR kits were tested for their applicability in on-chip PCR. Reaction mixtures with Phusion and Phusion Hotstart polymerase were pipetted as follows: $36 \ \mu l \ ddH_2O$, 10 μl Phusion HF Reaction Buffer (5x), 1 $\mu l \ dNTPs$ (2.5 mM), 1.5 $\mu l \ DMSO$ (100%), 1 $\mu l \ BSA$ (2 $\mu g/\mu l$), 0.5 $\mu l \ polymerase$, and 2 $\mu l \ of \ genomic \ DNA$.

16S Basic Molzym kit was pipetted as follows: 19.4 μ l ddH₂O, 20 μ l Molzym Mastermix, 2 μ l BSA (2 μ g/ μ l), 1.6 μ l polymerase, and 2 μ l genomic DNA.

The TypeIt and Multiplex PCR kit reaction mixtures consisted of: 11 μ l ddH₂O, 25 μ l Mastermix, 2 μ l BSA (2 μ g/ μ l), and 2 μ l genomic DNA.

The ImmoMix PCR kit (Bioline, UK) was also tested: 23 μ l ddH₂O, 25 μ l Mastermix, and 2 μ l genomic DNA.

PCR mixtures were pipetted onto on-chip PCR slides with lifterslips and wrapped up with polyolefin PCR foils. On-chip PCR was performed in the thermal cycler PTC-200. Cycling was carried out as follows: 95°C for five minutes; 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for one minute; and a final cycle at 72°C for ten minutes.





2.1.16 Influence of concentrations of immobilized primers

The impact of different concentrations of immobilized oligonucleotides during on-chip PCR was tested. The primers TEM 20F, TEM 140F, TEM 204R, TEM 233R, TEM 789R, OXA 55F, OXA 472R, 45F++ and 1386R+ were spotted in the concentrations 20μ M, 40μ M, 60μ M and 80μ M according to the scheme in Table 9 . Every primer was spotted together with its corresponding primer.

ar	for	20µM	forward primer 2	forward primer 20µM	rimer 20µM	forward p
s	rev	60µM	reverse primer 6	reverse primer 40µM	rimer 20µM	reverse pi
ar	for	40µM	forward primer 4	forward primer 40µM	rimer 40µM	forward p
s	re	60µM	reverse primer 6	reverse primer 40µM	rimer 20µM	reverse pi
ar	for	60µM	forward primer 6	forward primer 60µM	rimer 60µM	forward p
s	rev	60µM	reverse primer 6	reverse primer 40µM	rimer 20µM	reverse pi
ar	for	80µM	forward primer 8	forward primer 80µM	rimer 80µM	forward p
s	rev	60µM	reverse primer 6	reverse primer 40µM	rimer 20µM	reverse pi

Table 9. Spotting pattern of on-chip PCR primers

2.1.17 Labelling of on-chip PCR products

To visualize on-chip PCR products, fluorescent labels were used. The method of choice was based on the incorporation of Atto-532 labelled dCTPs (MoBiTec, Germany) with a thermostable polymerase lacking 3' end exonuclease activity. In the labelling mixture, the Vent_R(exo-) polymerase (New England Biolabs, UK) was used with the following reagents: 18.45 μ l H₂O, 2.5 μ l Vent_R(exo-) buffer, 0.25 μ l MgSO₄ (100 mM), 0.5 μ l dNTPs (2.5 mM), 0.5 μ l Atto532-dCTP (100 nM), 1 μ l BSA (2 μ g/ μ l), 1 μ l Tween (1%) and 0.8 μ l Vent_R(exo-) polymerase. The labelling mixtures were pipetted onto on-chip PCR slides that already had undergone on-chip PCR. Then, slides were wrapped up with polyolefin PCR foils. Labelling was performed in the thermal cycler PTC-200. Cycling was carried out as follows: 95°C for five minutes; 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for one minute; and a final cycle at 72°C for ten minutes.

After labelling, slides were washed in 2xSSC with 0.1% SDS for five minutes, followed by washing in 0.2xSSC for two minutes, and a final washing step in ddH₂O for one minute. Slides were dried in a centrifuge and scanned in the Genepix 4000A microarray scanner. Data was analysed with Excel 2007.

2.1.18 Liquid phase primers

To evaluate the specificity of the used on-chip PCR primers, a conventional PCR in tubes was performed. PCR primers with the same DNA sequences as the on-chip PCR primers but without polyT-spacer were used (Table 10). For the specificity tests, the 16S Basic Molzym kit was used and pipetted as follows: 12.2 μ l H₂O, 10 μ l Molzym Mastermix, 0.5 μ l forward primer (10 μ M), 0.5 μ l reverse primer (10 μ M), 0.8 μ l polymerase, and 1 μ l genomic DNA.

Primer name	Sequence 5' 3'	Length	Product size with TEM 20F	Product size with TEM 140F	Annealing temperature
TEM 20F	GTGTCGCCCTTATTCCCTTT	20			56°C
TEM 140 F	TGGATCTCAACAGCGGTAAGA	21			56°C
TEM 789R	TTCATCCATAGTTGCCTGACTC	22	769 bp	649 bp	56°C
TEM 233R	GGCGTCAACACGGGATAATA	20	213 bp	93 bp	56°C
TEM 204R	CCACATAGCAGAACTTTAAAAGTG	24	184 bp	64 bp	56°C

Table 10. Liquid phase primers used in on-chip PCR

2.1.19 Specificity and sensitivity of on-chip PCR

Specificity in PCR reactions can be achieved through the adjustment of parameters including primer sequence, annealing temperature and salt concentrations. These parameters were also varied in the on-chip PCR experiments in order to obtain high specificity. Tests with dilution series of genomic DNA and PCR products of the genes *bla_{TEM}*, *bla_{SHV}*, *bla_{OXA-1}* and *bla_{CTX-M-1}* were performed to determine specificity and sensitivity of the assays. Probes were designed that annealed to the desired on-chip PCR products to evaluate the results of these experiments (Table 11). These probes specific for certain genes were detected with the fluorescently labelled detection oligonucleotide BSrev 2xATTO annealing to their 3' end.

For this purpose, a mixture consisting of 20 μ l ddH₂O, 25 μ l ExpressHyb Hybridization Solution, 1 μ l of every on-chip PCR product specific probe (50 μ M) and 1 μ l BSrev 2xATTO (50 μ M) was pipetted on a already cycled on-chip PCR slides. The slide was put in a hybridization chamber with humid atmosphere and incubated at 65°C for one hour. After hybridization, the slide was washed in 2xSSC with 0.1% SDS for five minutes, followed by washing in 0.2xSSC for two minutes and a final washing step in ddH₂O for one minute. The slide was dried in a centrifuge and scanned in a Genepix 4000A microarray scanner.

Probe name	Genes targeted	Sequence 5' 3'	Lenght
Sonde SHV 306	SHV variants	CTCGCCGGTCAGCGAAAATTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	42
Sonde OXA 144	variants of OXA-1 group	CGATGCATCCACAAACGCTTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	42
Sonde CTX-M 465	variants of CTX-M- 1 group	CGCCCGACAGCTGGGAGATTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	42
Sonde TEM 624	TEM variants	CTGGATGGAGGCGGATAATTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGCTT	42
BSrev 2xATTO		5' Atto-620-AAGCTCACTGGCCGTCGTTTTAAA-Atto-620-3'	24

 Table 11. Probes to detect on-chip PCR products. The last row lists the detection oligonucleotide BSrev 2xATTO

2.1.20 Multiplex solid support ligation assay

The solid support ligation assays detecting β -lactamase genes were tested with sequenced PCR products (*bla_{TEM}*, *bla_{SHV}*, *bla_{OXA-1}*, *bla_{CTX-M-1}* and *bla_{CTX-M-9}*), genomic DNA of *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* and synthetic DNA templates (Supplementary Table 3). In the first step, PCR products and genomic DNA had to be digested with *AluI* and

HpyF3I in the recommended buffers (Fermentas) for one hour at 37°C, following deactivation at 65°C for ten minutes. This step was obsolete if synthetic DNA templates were used. The ligation reaction mixture using immobilized linear probes and specificity probes located next to the immobilized probes, was as follows (Figure 12): Twenty-five microlitre of ampligase buffer containing amounts of each specificity probe ranging from 1 pM to 10 µM, 5 µg BSA, and five units ampligase (Epicenter, USA) were mixed and pipetted onto the microarray slide. To the ligation reaction mixture using specificity probes, which are several nucleotides apart from the immobilized probes, three units of Vent_R(exo-) polymerase and 125 µM dNTPs were additionally added (Figure 13). For the reactions described in Figure 14 and Figure 15 ligation mixtures were as follows: Twenty-five microlitre of ampligase buffer containing variable amounts of capture probes ranging from 1 pM to 1 μ M, 5 μ g BSA, and five units ampligase were mixed and pipetted onto the microarray slide. All ligation mixtures included 1 µl of the DNA digestion or 100 nM synthetic DNA as templates, respectively. The slide was sealed and placed in a thermal cycler after the application of the ligation mixture onto the slide surface. Thermal cycling was performed at 95°C for five minutes, following annealing at varying temperatures and incubation times starting from 30 minutes to 24 hours, and a final step of 95°C for two minutes. If looplock probes were analysed, slides were put in boiling ddH₂O for ten minutes. Subsequently, labelling with the fluorescently labelled detection oligonucleotides BSrev 2xAtto, C2CA1 Atto532 (5' Atto532-GTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTA-3'), or C2CA2 Atto532 (5' Atto532-TACTCGAGGAGCTGCATACAC-3') was performed.

2.1.21 Fluorescence labelling of immobilized ligation products

A mixture consisting of 25 μ l of ddH₂O, 25 μ l ExpressHyb Hybridization Solution (Clonetech, USA) and 1 μ l of the fluorescently labelled detection oligonucleotide (50 μ M; BSrev 2xAtoo, C2CA1 Atto532, C2CA2 Atto532) was pipetted on the microarray slide containing the ligation products. The slide was sealed with a lifterslip and incubated in a hybridization chamber with a humid atmosphere at 65°C for one hour.

Then, the fluorescently labelled solid support ligation slides were prepared for analysis. First, slides were washed in 2xSSC with 0.1% SDS for five minutes, followed by

washing in 0.2xSSC for two minutes, and washing in ddH_2O for one minute. Subsequently, slides were dried in a centrifuge and scanned in the Genepix 4000A microarray scanner. The resulting data was analysed using Microsoft Excel 2007.

2.1.22 Circle-to-circle amplification (C2CA)

The method of choice for DNA amplification is based on RCA. The advantages of this method are the avoidance of thermal cycling and the amplification of only circular DNA molecules in high numbers, effects that are possible due to the strand displacement capability of the φ 29 polymerase. The C2CA procedure consists of two single RCA reactions separated by an enzymatic restriction step (Figure 19).

Ligated and, thus, circularised padlock probes were replicated in $\varphi 29$ polymerase buffer (33 mM Tris-acetate (pH 7.9 at 37°C), 10 mM Mg-acetate, 66 mM K-acetate, 0.1% (v/v) Tween 20 and 1 mM DTT) containing 125 µM dNTPs, 4 µg BSA, 250 pM C2CA⁻ , four units of φ 29 DNA polymerase (Fermentas, USA) and 10 μ l ligation products in a total volume of 20 µl at 37°C for 20 minutes. The two RCAs were primed with C2CA⁻ or C2CA⁺; however, in the padlock probe evaluation experiments using synthetic DNA templates, the first RCA was primed with the synthetic template itself. The first RCA was terminated by a two-minute incubation at 65°C. Monomerization of the RCA products was performed in $\varphi 29$ polymerase buffer containing the C2CA+ oligonucleotide complementary to the amplification sequence in the RCA products. A 5-µl aliquot of φ 29 polymerase buffer containing 1 µg BSA, 0.8 µM C2CA+ and five units of the restriction enzyme AluI was added to the first RCA, followed by incubation at 37°C for 5 minutes. After monomerization, the enzyme was inactivated at 65°C for five minutes. To circularise the monomerized RCA products, 10 µl of φ 29 polymerase buffer containing 2 µg BSA, 0.25 mM dNTPs, 3 mM ATP, 0.5 units T4 DNA ligase (Thermo Scientific) and three units φ 29 DNA polymerase were added to the previous restriction reaction and incubated for 20 minutes at 37°C. Because the reaction mixture also contained φ 29 DNA polymerase, an immediate RCA occurred in the same reaction mixture after circularization of the monomerized RCA products. The second RCA and ligation were terminated by a two-minute incubation at 65°C.

Figure 19. Schematic overview of the padlock probe-based multiplex detection assay. Padlock probes have specific 5' and 3' ends for gene-target detection, a universal C2CA-sequence for amplification and a unique microarray sequence tag. The first step is the digestion of sample DNA with restriction enzymes, followed by annealing of padlock probes to their gene targets and subsequent ligation. Circularized padlock probes are amplified via RCA. Single-stranded RCA-products are incubated with C2CA-oligonucleotides which have an internal restriction site allowing monomerization of RCA-products with a restriction enzyme. Then, monomerized RCA-products circularize and anneal to excess C2CA-oligos that were not cut in the previous reaction. RCA-products are ligated and amplified in a second RCA. Those products are used as templates in a linear PCR with a C2CA-oligonucleotide as only primer resulting in single-stranded and fluorescently labelled DNA which is hybridized to a microarray.



2.1.23 Fluorescence labelling of C2CA products

To visualize C2CA products, fluorescent labelling was used (Figure 19). A linear PCR using only one primer instead of a primer pair was established for the incorporation of Atto-532 labelled dCTPs (MoBiTec, Germany) with a thermostable DNA polymerase lacking exonuclease activity. A 25 μ l reaction mixture in Vent_R (exo-) buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 10 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 10 mM KCl, 2 mM MgSO₄, 0.1% Triton X-100)

containing additionally 1.6 units Vent_R (exo-)-polymerase (New England Biolabs), 5 μ g BSA, 1 mM MgSO₄, 2 nM Atto532-dCTP, 1 μ M C2CA⁻, 50 μ M dNTPs, and 6 μ l C2CA products was used. Thermal cycling was carried out as follows: 95°C for five minutes; 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds; and a final cycle at 72°C for ten minutes.

2.1.24 Evaluation of padlock probes

The purchased padlock probes were tested with synthetic target oligonucleotides in a ligation reaction to determine their functionality and specificity. Synthetic DNA templates that represented the same gene were pooled and used in a single ligation reaction. A ligation mixture including all 96 padlock probes was incubated with the synthetic DNA template mix. DNA circles were prepared by the ligation of a 1-pM mixture of each padlock probe in ampligase buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3), 25 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM NAD, and 0.01% Triton® X-100), five units ampligase (Epicentre), 4 µg BSA, and 8.3 pM synthetic template in 20 µl at 60°C for one hour. The ligated probes were amplified using C2CA, and the generated C2CA products served as templates for labelling with fluorescent dCTPs in a linear PCR. These PCR products were hybridised to a DNA microarray slide. The padlock probes harboured a unique sequence tag complementary to a microarray probe. The microarray slides were scanned and analysed after washing. The cut-off for positive microarray signals was twice the mean fluorescence intensity of all the microarray probes used for padlock detection, and a heatmap was created for better visual presentation of the data. The microarray results from 35 experiments (one per gene plus two negative controls) were normalised, and the fluorescence intensity values were transformed into log(2) values. The resulting matrix was visualised in Microsoft Excel 2007.

2.1.25 Padlock probe assay testing using PCR products

The β -lactamase detection assay was also evaluated using the sequenced PCR products of five β -lactamase genes ($bla_{CTX-M-1}$, $bla_{CTX-M-9}$, bla_{OXA-1} , bla_{SHV} and bla_{TEM}). Aliquots of 2 µl of 1:10 dilutions ($10^{0} - 10^{9}$ PCR copies/µl) of these PCR products were added to a DNA digestion reaction (a total volume of 10 µl) containing *AluI* and *HpyF3I* (Fermentas) for one hour at 37°C according the manufacturer's recommendations, with

a subsequent inhibition step at 65°C for ten minutes. Ten microliters of ampligase buffer containing 2 pM of each padlock probe, 4 μ g BSA, and five units ampligase were added to the 10 μ l of the PCR digestion mixture. The padlock probe assay was placed in a thermal cycler at 95°C for five minutes and then at 60°C for various incubation times from 30 minutes to eight hours, followed by a final step of 95°C for two minutes. The different ligation times were tested to analyse the impact of ligation time on the sensitivity of the assay. After ligation, C2CA was performed using 10 μ l of the ligation reaction, followed by fluorescence labelling with Vent_R(-exo) DNA polymerase and analysis using the barcode sequence microarray.

2.1.26 Pre-amplification of genomic DNA

The sensitivity of the β -lactamase detection assay using genomic DNA as template could be increased if genomic DNA was preamplified in a 25-multiplex PCR. The Mastermix 16S Basic PCR Kit (Molzym, Germany) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. The total volume of the PCR was 10 µl containing 1 pM of 25 different primer pairs and 1 µl of the genomic DNA extract. Primers used for multiplex PCR are listed in Table 4. Thermal cycling was carried out as follows: 95°C for five minutes; 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 90 seconds; and a final cycle at 72°C for ten minutes.

2.1.27 Padlock probe based multiplex genotyping

The padlock probe assay detecting β -lactamase genes was tested with 70 clinical bacterial strains. A schematic overview of the whole experimental procedure, starting from DNA digestion until microarray detection, is illustrated in Figure 19. Prior to the ligation step of padlock probes, 10 µl of the genomic DNA extracts was digested with *AluI* and *HpyF3I* in the recommended buffers (Fermentas) for one hour at 37°C according the manufacturer's recommendations, followed by enzyme inhibition at 65°C for ten minutes. If genomic DNA was pre-amplified in the multiplex PCR, it was also digested according the manufacturer's recommendations. Ten microliters of ampligase buffer containing 2 pM of each padlock probe, 4 µg BSA, and five units ampligase were mixed with 10 µl of the digestion mix. The padlock probe assay was placed in a thermal cycler at 95°C for five minutes, and then 60°C for various incubation times from 30

minutes to 24 hours, followed by a final step of 95°C for two minutes. For the final analysis of the 70 clinical isolates, the genomic DNA was not pre-amplified; thus, a ligation time of 23 hours was chosen. After ligation, C2CA was performed using 10 μ l of the ligation reaction, followed by fluorescence labelling with Vent_R(-exo) DNA polymerase and analysis using the barcode sequence microarray. The cut-off for a positive microarray signal was the mean fluorescence intensity of all microarray probes used for padlock detection. Two criteria had to be fulfilled for the detection of a gene to be considered positive. The first criterion was a positive signal for at least two corresponding microarray probes. For the second criterion, the mean gene value of the microarray probes corresponding to the gene was calculated; the second criterion was fulfilled if this value was above twice the mean fluorescence intensity of all the mean gene values.

2.1.28 Microarray analysis of padlock probe assay

A mixture consisting of 25μ l of labelled C2CA products, 25μ l ExpressHyb Hybridization Solution (Clonetech) and 1μ l BSrev (50μ M) was pipetted on a microarray slide and using a lifterslip for coverage. The slides were put in a hybridization chamber with humid atmosphere and incubated at 65° C for one hour. Subsequently, slides were washed in 2xSSC and 0.1% SDS for five minutes, followed by washing in 0.2x SSC for two minutes and a final washing step in ddH₂O for one minute. Slides were dried in a centrifuge and scanned in the Genepix 4000A microarray scanner. Data was analysed using GenePix Pro 6.0 and Microsoft Excel 2007.

2.1.29 Diversity analyses

Based on the sequencing results, a DNA sequence database alignment was created (75;82). The obtained β -lactamase sequences were imported into ARB and their deduced amino acid sequences were manually aligned. Subsequently, the nucleotide sequences were aligned according to the amino acid alignment. Nucleotide sequences were grouped in ARB according to their sequence similarity. BLAST analyses of nucleotide and amino acid sequences were performed to classify the identified sequences.

Phylogenetic trees were calculated with distance-matrix (PHYLIP distance matrix with FITCH, global rearrangements and randomized input order; Neighbour Joining with Jukes-Cantor correction), maximum-likelihood (PHYLIP ProML with JTT) and maximum-parsimony (PHYLIP protein parsimony with bootstraps, 1000 resamplings) methods. Consensus trees were drawn based on the trees obtained with the above mentioned methods proposed by Ludwig et al. (82).

The biostatistical software EstimateS was used to calculate rarefaction curve, Chao1 and ACE values (83). These values are used in general ecology but also in microbial ecology to estimate the total number of species in an investigated habitat since it is hardly possible to determine the total number of species experimentally. Especially in species-rich communities, such as those of tropical invertebrates, microbial or plant communities, it is impracticable to sample all species.

These species richness estimators use the observed abundance of species to perform their calculations and can be equally used to calculate the incidence of genes. When starting analyses of very species-rich communities, it is likely that with every individual sampled a different species is identified. After intensive sampling, it becomes unlikely to discover not so far observed species because most individuals have been recorded. Theoretically, in an extensively sampled habitat, all present species have been documented and sampling of new individuals would not lead to the discovery of new species. This perfectly documented habitat plotted as a graph with the number of observed species on the y-axis and the sampled individuals on the x-axis would result in a jagged curve, also referred to as accumulation curve, with a horizontal asymptote. Rarefaction curves are the result of repeated randomizing of the sample order, and thus are smooth curves corresponding to an accumulation curve. In this study, rarefaction curves using the Coleman method and 1000 randomizations were calculated. Rarefaction curves are used to compare species diversity of different samples or communities. Using this method, also communities with varying sample numbers can be compared.

Species richness estimators ACE and Chao1 estimate the point when further sampling effort would not result in the observation of new species. These asymptotic estimators use the information on the distribution of rare species for their calculations.

53

In the General Hospital of Vienna study, I used these species richness estimators to calculate the number of species with different β -lactamase genotypes, the number of β -lactamase genes and their subtypes in the General Hospital of Vienna. The genetic diversity within *Enterobacteriaceae*, tested phenotypically ESBL-positive, AmpC-positive or generally β -lactamase-positive also including carbapenemases, was compared. Input parameters for the estimators used in this study were as follows (Figure 20): a gene-group was defined as the set of genes that was detected by a single primer pair. DNA sequences coding for different amino acid sequences were classified in this study as different genes. A single gene could be subcategorized due to silent mutations into several variants. These variants were assigned in this study as unique β -lactamase DNA sequences. The workflow of the statistical analyses is illustrated in Figure 21.

Figure 20. Illustration of the classification system used in the statistical analysis. TEM-1 var1 and TEM-1 var2 have the same amino acid sequence but distinct nucleotide sequences due to silent mutations. A unique genotype consists of combinations of unique β -lactamase sequences.



Figure 21. Schematic workflow of the statistical analysis estimating the genetic diversity of β -lactamase genes in the hospitals. The workflow for the analyses of the gene-groups and unique β -lactamase DNA sequences was identical. For the analyses of the diversity of unique resistance genotypes, the number of different genotypes and their incidence in the characterized clinical isolates was used for the data matrix.

Sequencing of detected β-lactamase PCR-products

Assignment of every sequenced PCR-product to a gene

Creation of a data matrix containing the number of different genes and their incidence among all sequenced β -lactamase PCR-products

Input of the data matrix into the software EstimateS and calculation of rarefaction curve data points, ACE and Chao1 estimations

Illustration of the rarefaction curve data in Microsoft Excel 2007

In the study analysing the clinical samples from Graz, rarefaction curves and the Chao1 and ACE models were used to estimate the number of isolates with a unique β -lactamase genotype and the number of different β -lactamase genes among the 1101 ESBL-positive isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae*.

2.1.30 Nucleotide sequence accession numbers

The nucleotide sequences determined in the study analysing ESBL-positive bacterial isolates from the Medical University of Graz will appear in GenBank under the accession numbers JN676824 to JN676893. The DNA sequences obtained from the clinical isolates harbouring β -lactamases from the General Hospital of Vienna will appear in GenBank under the accession numbers JX268601 to JX268788.

3 Results

3.1 Emergence of several β-lactamase genes in Austria

In the present study, I screened clinical isolates of Enterobacteriaceae from the General Hospital of Vienna for the presence of a wide range of β -lactamase genes to provide clinicians with information on the disseminated resistance mechanisms in the hospital. This genetic information enables physicians to select more specific antibiotic treatments and helps to avoid the application of some antibiotics stimulating new point mutations, and thus new resistance mechanisms. Isolates phenotypically tested positive for ESBL, AmpC or carbapenemases were analysed by PCR. Because even sophisticated molecular analyses detecting many genes in hundreds of isolates face the problem how to evaluate the significance of the obtained data, phylogenetic and statistical calculations were performed to estimate the genetic diversity. Ecologists have a similar problem when they analyse an environment with the need to estimate the number of different species in the sampled area. Thus, statistical models such as the species richness estimators ACE and Chao1 were introduced in order to estimate the number of different species but also genes in the investigated environment. Rarefaction curve analyses provide information about the significance of these estimations (84-86). This study gives an extremely detailed picture about the dissemination of β -lactamase genes in the General Hospital of Vienna.

3.1.1 Emergence of known and new β-lactamase genes in Austria

Six new β -lactamases that had not been described before were identified. Five out of the six differed only in a single amino acid from known enzymes. The probability that these single point mutations are the result of sequencing errors is low, due to the fact that all genes were sequenced with a forward and reverse primer. Thus, overlapping sequence information was available on both DNA strands. $bla_{CTX-M-new1}$, $bla_{CTX-M-new2}$, and $bla_{CTX-M-new3}$ were most closely related to $bla_{CTX-M-15}$. $bla_{CTX-M-new1}$ had an arginine

Results

instead of a glycine at amino acid (aa) position 22. $bla_{CTX-M-new2}$ had glutamic acid instead of a glycine at aa-position 45. $bla_{CTX-M-new3}$ had a serine instead of a glycine at aa-position 46. $bla_{CTX-M-new4}$ was most closely related to $bla_{CTX-M-1}$ but differed at aaposition 77 because glutamic acid was incorporated instead of valine. $bla_{CTX-M-new5}$ was similar to $bla_{CTX-M-14}$, but an isoleucine was incorporated instead of methionine at aaposition 138.

 $bla_{CMY-new}$ had four substitutions in comparison to bla_{CMY-2} : Asparagine 214 to serine, aspartic acid 218 to asparagine, arginine 252 to histidine, and alanine 273 to glutamic acid. The newly identified CMY β -lactamase gene was most related to bla_{CMY-41} .

In this study, we also report the emergence of the β -lactamase genes $bla_{CMY-2, -4, -42}$, $bla_{CTX-M-27, -38}$, bla_{DHA-1} , bla_{OXA-72} , $bla_{SHV-26, -33}$, $bla_{TEM-32, -135}$, $bla_{TEML-150}$, and bla_{VIM-4} in Austria. $bla_{TEML-150}$ is an unassigned TEM gene present in the β -lactamase engineering database of the University of Stuttgart (http://www.laced.uni-stuttgart.de).

3.1.2 Distribution of β-lactamase genes in *Enterobacteriaceae*

The routine diagnostic laboratory in the General Hospital of Vienna identified in 657 isolates of β -lactamase-positive *Enterobacteriaceae* AmpC, ESBL, and carbapenemase resistance mechanisms by phenotypic tests in the year 2011. In the present study, out of these 657 isolates 108 consecutive were chosen from different patients for a detailed genetic analysis. In 89 of the genetically investigated clinical strains, genes encoding β -lactamases could be detected. In total, 188 β -lactamase DNA sequences were identified in these 89 isolates by PCR analysis and further sequenced. Sequence analyses revealed the presence of ten gene-groups comprising 30 different genes (Table 12). Forty different unique β -lactamase DNA sequences (e.g. SHV-1 var1, SHV-1 var2) represented due to silent mutations only 30 different genes (e.g. SHV-1).

Exclusively in phenotypically AmpC-positive isolates, AmpC-genes of the CMY-2 group were present with a frequency of 38%. In 59% of phenotypically AmpC-positive isolates, bla_{DHA-1} was detected and 56% harboured additional bla_{SHV-11} . Surprisingly, other TEM variants than bla_{TEM-1} were only present in AmpC-positive isolates.

		Number of observed β	-lactamase sequence	es in
Gene-groups Genes	89 β-lactamase positive isolates	- 32 AmpC-positive isolates	53 ESBL-positive isolates	4 carbapenemase- positive isolates
1. CMY-2 group CMY-2 CMY-4 CMY-42 CMY-new	12 8 2 1 1	12 8 2 1 1		
2. CTX-M-1 group CTX-M-1 CTX-M-15 CTX-M-new1 CTX-M-new2 CTX-M-new3 CTX-M-new4	25 3 18 1 1 1 1		24 2 18 1 1 1 1	1 1
3. CTX-M-9 group CTX-M-14 var1 CTX-M-14 var2 CTX-M-27 var1 CTX-M-27 var2 CTX-M-38 CTX-M-new5	18 3 4 1 3 6 1		18 3 4 1 3 6 1	
4. DHA DHA-1	21 21	19 19	2	
5. KPC KPC-2	2 2			2
6. OXA-1 group OXA-1	32 32	18 18	14 14	
7. OXA-24 group OXA-72	1 1			
8. SHV SHV-1 var1 SHV-1 var2 SHV-2 var1 SHV-2 var2	38 2 1 1 3	18	17 2 1 3	3
SHV-5 SHV-11 var1 SHV-11 var2 SHV-11 var3 SHV-11 var4	1 21 3 1 1	17	1 3 3 1	1
SHV-12 SHV-26 SHV-33	2 1 1		1	1 1
9. TEM TEM-1 var1 TEM-1 var2 TEM-1 var3	38 31 2 1	9 6	27 24 2 1	2 1
TEM-1 var4 TEM-32 TEM-135 TEML-150	1 1 1 1	1 1 1		1
10. VIM	1			1

Table 12. Detected β -lactamase genes and their observed frequency in the characterized 89 clinical isolates. β -Lactamase-positive isolates include AmpC-, ESBL-, and carbapenemase-positive isolates. One hundred eighty-eight β -lactamase DNA sequences were detected in 89 isolates.

In 78% of ESBL-positive isolates, CTX-M genes were encountered, and in 52% TEM-1. *K. pneumoniae* isolates harboured 92% of the detected SHV genes. In ESBL-positive *E. coli*, *bla*_{SHV-5} and *bla*_{SHV-2} were detected, and in an ESBL-positive isolate of Serratia marcescens, *bla*_{SHV-12}. *bla*_{SHV-1}, -2, -5, -33 were found exclusively in ESBL-positive isolates.

Carbapenem resistance was in two cases mediated by bla_{KPC-2} and in one case by bla_{VIM-4} . In two phenotypically carbapenem-resistant isolates, no carbapenemase could be identified. One of these isolates was an *Enterobacter cloacae* strain (C8) with no β -lactamase detected by PCR, the other was a *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolate (C21) with $bla_{CTX-M-1}$ and bla_{SHV-26} present.

In total, 51 different β -lactamase genotypes were detected. The most frequently detected β -lactamase genotype was observed 16 times in AmpC-positive *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolates consisting of *bla_{DHA-1}*, *bla_{OXA-1}*, and *bla_{SHV-11}*. The second most common genotype contained *bla_{CTX-M-15}* and *bla_{OXA-1}* in ESBL-positive *E. coli* and was observed eight times. Other genotypes were less dominant and identified only three times or less (Table 13).

Isolate	Species	Isolation site	Resistance phenotype	β-lactamase genes	Genotype
C11	E. coli	Stool	AmpC-BL	CMY-new	1
C14	E. coli	Urine	AmpC-BL	CMY-2	2
C29	E. coli	Urine	AmpC-BL	CMY-2	2
C16	E. coli	Swab	AmpC-BL	CMY-2, TEM-1 var1	3
C18	E. coli	Urine	AmpC-BL	CMY-2, TEM-1 var1	3
C37	E. coli	Urine	AmpC-BL	CMY-2, TEM-1 var1	3
C47	E. coli	Stool	AmpC-BL	CMY-2, TEM-135	4
C36	E. coli	Stool	AmpC-BL	CMY-2, TEM32	5
C7	E. coli	Urine	AmpC-BL	CMY-2, TEML-150	6
C5	E. coli	Urine	AmpC-BL	CMY-42, TEM-1 var1	7
C28	P. mirabilis	Urine	AmpC-BL	CMY-4	8
C48	P. mirabilis	Skin	AmpC-BL	CMY-4, TEM-1 var1	9
6	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-27 var1, TEM-1 var1	10
15	M. morganii	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-new1, DHA-1, OXA-1, TEM-1 var1	11
5	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-new2, TEM-1 var1	12
10	K. pneumoniae	Bronchial secretion	ESBL	CTX-M-new3, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1, TEM-1 var1	13
9	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-new4	14
1	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-new5, TEM-1 var1	15
24	E. coli	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-1	16
42	E. coli	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-1	16
C21	K. pneumoniae	Dialysate	Carbapenemase	CTX-M-1, SHV-26	17
C45	K. oxytoca	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-14 var1	18
45	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-14 var1, CTX-M-15 var1	19

Results

-					
47	K. oxytoca	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-14 var1, TEM-1 var1	20
17	E. coli	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-14 var2	21
40	E. coli	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-14 var2	21
18	E. coli	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-14 var2, TEM-1 var1	22
23	E. coli	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-14 var2, TEM-1 var1	22
30	E. coli	Drain fluid	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1	23
34	E. coli	Blood	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1	23
52	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1	23
33	K. pneumoniae	Bronchial lavage	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, DHA-1, SHV-11 var1, TEM-1 var3	24
3	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1	25
12	E. coli	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1	25
13	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1	25
31	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1	25
32	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1	25
49	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1	25
51	E. coli	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1	25
55	E. coli	Sinus maxillaris	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1	25
43	K. pneumoniae	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1, TEM-1 var1	26
19	E. coli	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1, TEM-1 var1,	27
4	K. pneumoniae	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, OXA-1, TEM-1 var2,	28
44	K. pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, SHV-11 var3	29
28	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-15 var1, TEM-1 var1	30
14	E. coli	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-27 var2	31
37	E. coli	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-27 var2	31
54	E. coli	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-27 var2	31
7	K. pneumoniae	Urine	ESBL	CTX-M-38, SHV-11 var2, TEM-1 var1,	32
48	K. pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-38, SHV-11 var2, TEM-1 var1,	32
50	K. pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-38, SHV-11 var2, TEM-1 var1,	32
20	K. pneumoniae	Swab	ESBL	CTX-M-38, TEM-1 var1	33
26	K. oxytoca	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-38, TEM-1 var1	33
27	E. coli	Stool	ESBL	CTX-M-38, TEM-1 var2	34
C53	K. pneumoniae	Urine	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1	35
C1	K. pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C2	K. pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C6	K. pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C12	K. pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C25	K. pneumoniae	Tracheal secretion	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C26	K. pneumoniae	Urine	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C30	K. pneumoniae	Blood	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C31	K. pneumoniae	Bronchial secretion	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C33	K. pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C34	K. pneumoniae	Drain fluid	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C38	K. pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C43	K. pneumoniae	Swab	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C44	K. pneumoniae	Urine	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C49	K. pneumoniae	Sputum	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C50	K. pneumoniae	Sputum	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C52	K. pneumoniae	Blood	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var1,	36
C20	K. pneumoniae	Stool	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11 var4,	37
C9	K. pneumoniae	Bronchial lavage	AmpC-BL	DHA-1, SHV-11 var1	38
C19	K. pneumoniae	Swab	Carbapenemase	KPC-2, SHV-11 var1	39
C39	K. pneumoniae	Swab	Carbapenemase	KPC-2, SHV-12, TEM-1 var4,	40
29	E. coli	Anal swab	ESBL	OXA-1	41

Results

22	K pneumoniae	Stool	ESBI	OXA-72 SHV-33 TEM-1 var1	42
30	K pneumoniae	Anal swah	ESBI	SHV-1 var1 TEM-1 var1	43
55	R. prieumoniae	Anal Swab	LODL		45
46	K. pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	SHV-1 var1, TEM-1 var1	43
53	K. pneumoniae	Urine	ESBL	SHV-1 var2, TEM-1 var1	44
8	S. marcescens	Urine	ESBL	SHV-12, TEM-1 var1	45
16	K. pneumoniae	Urine	ESBL	SHV-2 var1	46
11	K. pneumoniae	Urethra	ESBL	SHV-2 var2	47
41	K. pneumoniae	Stool	ESBL	SHV-2 var2	47
21	E. coli	Anal swab	ESBL	SHV-2 var2, TEM-1 var1	48
38	E. coli	Anal swab	ESBL	SHV-5, TEM-1 var1	49
C41	E. coli	Urine	AmpC-BL	TEM-1 var1	50
35	E. coli	Swab	ESBL	TEM-1 var1	50
C32	E. cloacae	Swab	Carbapenemase	TEM-1 var1, VIM-4	51

Table 13. Results obtained from the genetic analysis of β -lactamase-positive isolates of

Enterobacteriaceae from the General Hospital Vienna.
Figure 22. Rarefaction curve analyses of the detected β -lactamase genes in the General Hospital of Vienna. (A-C) The observed number of gene-groups, genes and unique β -lactamase sequences was plotted versus the number of observed β -lactamase nucleotide sequences. (D) The number of observed β -lactamase genotypes was plotted versus the number of tested clinical isolates harbouring β -lactamases.



3.1.3 β-Lactamase gene diversity in General Hospital of Vienna

To estimate the total diversity of β -lactamase genes in the General Hospital of Vienna, statistical algorithms were used. Rarefaction curves were calculated to compare the genetic diversity of different β -lactamase phenotypes. In general, AmpC-positive isolates showed less genetic diversity of β -lactamases than ESBL-positive ones as shown in all graphs in Figure 22. The rarefaction curves in Figure 22A and Figure 22B resulting from all β -lactamase-positive isolates (including AmpC-positive, ESBL-

positive and carbapenemase-positive) are clearly above the ones of solely ESBLpositive. This is logical because the genes of the carbapenemase-positive isolates contribute to this higher diversity. Interestingly, the corresponding rarefaction curves in Figure 22C are almost identical, which is indicating a higher number of silent mutations in ESBL-positive isolates in comparison to other β -lactamase-positive isolates.

Only the rarefaction curves in Figure 22A approach the horizontal asymptote. This shows that the majority of gene-groups in β -lactamase positive isolates were detected and that extensive analyses of resistant strains in the General Hospital of Vienna would reveal only a few further new gene-groups. Chao1 and ACE models estimated that only two or three more gene-groups, respectively are present in this clinical environment (Table 14).

	β-lactamase-p	ositive	ESBL-posi	tive	AmpC-positive					
	Chao1	ACE	Chao1	ACE	Chao1	ACE				
Gene-groups	12 ±SD 4	13	8 ±SD 2	8	5 ±SD 0	5				
Genes	55 ±SD 19	52	40 ±SD 20	32	24 ±SD 17	21				
Unique β-lactamase sequences	77 ±SD 23	77	48 ±SD 14	45	30 ±SD 24	27				
β-Lactamase genotypes	123 ±SD 35	152	77 ±SD 27	97	75 ±SD 71	56				

Table 14. Results of the statistical calculations using the species richness estimators Chao1 and ACE to estimate the number of gene-groups, genes, unique β -lactamase sequences and β -lactamase genotypes in the General Hospital of Vienna.

In Figure 22B and Figure 22C, the flattening character of the slopes is visible but the rarefaction curves are clearly not approximating the horizontal asymptote. Chao1 and ACE values indicate that approximately 55% of β -lactamase genes present in the hospital were detected in this study.

Not only the presence of individual β -lactamases is important but also how they cluster together in clinical isolates as their composite genotype is responsible for phenotypic β -lactam resistance. Therefore, the diversity of β -lactamase genotypes was also analysed with rarefaction curve analysis. The slopes of the rarefaction curves in Figure 22D are nearly linear indicating that the sampling effort was not sufficient to estimate the total number of β -lactamase genotypes in the General Hospital of Vienna. Thus, the genotype numbers calculated with the asymptotic estimators have to be considered cautiously,

which is also reflected in the high standard deviation values and varying values calculated by the two methods (Table 14).

3.2 High genetic diversity of ESBL in south eastern Austria

In the present study, 33 ESBL-positive bacterial isolates collected from patients of the south-eastern Austrian city of Graz and its neighbourhood were studied for the presence of β -lactamase genes. The phenotypic characterizations were conducted in the central microbiological laboratory of the Medical University of Graz. Nucleotide sequence diversities were determined using phylogenetic analysis. The total number of β -lactamase genes and different resistance genotypes were calculated using richness estimators.

The investigation is technically almost identical with the one analysing clinical isolates from the General Hospital of Vienna. The sample number was significantly less, as only bacterial strains which were tested phenotypically as ESBL-positive, were genetically analysed. Additionally, a phylogenetic consensus tree was created, illustrating the diversity of the detected serine- β -lactamase genes. ESBL-positive isolates from the current biobank of the Medical University of Graz were already analysed in a previous study by Eisner *et al.* (87). The mentioned study investigated the emergence of ESBLpositive pathogens and the presence of CTX-M genes between 1998 and 2004. My study gives insight in the further development of the antibiotic resistance situation in this area.

3.2.1 Emergence of CTX-M-2 and DHA-1 genes

In the years 2009 and 2010, the Medical University of Graz received and analysed 180,604 patient samples from Graz and south-eastern Austria. 230,188 isolates could be identified. If clinical relevance was suspected, they were further tested for antibiotic susceptibility with cultivation based methods. The phenotypical characterization revealed 2177 ESBL-positive *Enterobacteriaceae*, mainly *E.coli* and *Klebsiella* spp., which represented 0.95% of all isolates in 2009 and 2010 (Table 15).

Antibiotic			E.	Coli			Klebsiella spp.												
Antibiotic Amoxicillin Amoxi/Clav Pip/Taz Cefalotin Cefuro/Axetil Cefoxitin Cefotaxime Cefotaxime Ceftazidime Ceftazidime Cefepime Imipenem Meropenem Ertapenem Gentamicin Amikacin Tetracycline Trimethoprim Trim/Sulfa	20	000	20	09	20	10	2(000	20	09	2010								
	%I	%R	%I	%R	%I	%R	%I	%R	%I	%R	%I	%R							
Amoxicillin	0.9	23.7	1.6	35	1.3	36	-	-	-	-	-	-							
Amoxi/Clav	4.4	1.8	8.2	3.8	7.5	3.2	2.8	1.7	5.4	9.8	3.5	7.8							
Pip/Taz	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.8	1.3	2.7	1.4	3	1.2	5							
Cefalotin	9.1	4.7	19.1	6.7	19.3	7.8	4	6.8	2.7	14.4	3.9	10.1							
Cefuro/Axetil	1.6	0.5	3.1	5.6	3.2	5.9	2.3	4	3.3	7.8	3.5	8.9							
Cefoxitin	0.6	0.5	1.5	0.7	0.9	0.5	0.9	2.1	1.5	2.1	2.5	3.2							
Cefotaxime	0	0.1	0	5.2	0.1	5.4	0.1	1.7	0.2	4.6	0.6	4.9							
Ceftazidime	0	0.1	0.1	5.2	0.1	5.4	0.2	2.7	0.1	4.8	0.9	5.1							
Cefepime	0	0.2	0	10.2	0	6.2	0	2.9	0	7	0.3	5.8							
Imipenem	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.2	0.2	0	2.6							
Meropenem	-	-	0	0	0	0	-	-	0	0.2	0.3	0.5							
Ertapenem	-	-	-	-	0	0.2	-	-	0	0	0	1.7							
Gentamicin	0	1.1	0.1	4.6	0.1	4.3	0.9	0.8	0.9	11.4	0.4	6.4							
Amikacin	0	0	0.1	0.6	0.2	0.1	0.2	0	0.3	0.3	0	1							
Tetracyclin	-	-	0	22.9	0.1	22.5	-	-	0.5	24.2	1	14.9							
Tigecycline	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.6	11.1	12.9	0							
Trimethoprim	0.1	16	0	25.5	0	27.6	1	7.1	0.1	15.6	0.2	14.7							
Trim/Sulfa	0.1	13.3	0	22.8	0	23.3	0.3	3.8	0.1	10	0.4	12.6							
Fosfomycin	1.6	3.9	0	1.4	0	1	-	-	0	39.4	0	30.2							
Ciprofloxacin	0.1	5	0.3	14.7	0.2	15.1	0.7	0.7	0.6	5.9	1.2	7.5							
Norfloxacin	0	6.3	0.4	16.3	0.2	18.1	0	1.5	1.3	8.1	1.3	9.3							
Nitrofurantoin	0.3	0.6	1.2	0.5	0.6	0.5	6.4	10.7	14.4	15.3	12.1	14.4							

R resistant; I intermediate; - not tested. Values higher than ten are indicated with boldface digits.

 Table 15. Results of phenotypical testing of the susceptibility against antibiotics from the Medical

 University of Graz

In all 33 isolates investigated, at least one β -lactamase gene could be identified. Genotypes were characterized by sequencing the PCR products and analyzing the DNA sequences with NCBI BLAST. In the 33 isolates investigated, 70 β -lactamase DNA sequences were found comprising 13 unique genes with the TEM-1 gene being the most common (in 58% of the isolates), followed by the genes coding for CTX-M-15 (55%), OXA-1 (46%), CTX-M-1 (9%), CTX-M-9 (9%), CTX-M-14 (9%), CTX-M-22 (6%), SHV-11 (6%), SHV-1 (3%), SHV-12 (3%), CTX-M-2 (3%), CTX-M-38 (3%), and DHA-1 (3%). CTX-M genes were found in 30 of 33 isolates investigated (Table 16).

Resul	ts

Cefotaxime, CTX; Ceftazidime, CAZ; Cefepime, FEP; Aztreonam, ATM; Imipenem, IMI ; Meropenem, MEM; Ertapenem, ETP

ЕТР	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	,	S	S	S	S	S	,	S	S	S	S		S	S	S	S		,	S	S	S	S	S	,	S
MEM	S	S	,	S	S	S	S	S	S	S		•	s		S	S		S	S	S	S	S	s		S	S			S	S	S	S	S
M	S	S	,	S	S			S	S	S		,	S	,	S	S		S	S	S	S	S	S						S	S	S	S	S
AIM	,	Ľ	,	Ľ	≃		,	s				,	¥	,	,	,	,	,	ĸ	,	¥	≃	,		,	,		,	≃	¥	≃	,	,
	ĸ	,	ï	Ľ	,	ĸ	¥	¥	¥	Ľ			ĸ	,	R	¥	,	ĸ	,	Ľ	¥	¥	ĸ		¥	Ľ	,	,		,	¥	Ľ	ĸ
	Ľ	Ľ	ĸ	Ľ	Ľ	ĸ	Ľ	¥	۲	Ľ	¥	Ľ	Ľ	Ľ	Ľ	¥	Ľ	Ľ	¥	Ľ	¥	Ľ	Ľ	¥	Ľ	۲	Ľ	¥	¥	Ľ	¥	Ľ	¥
\$	Ľ	Ľ	ĸ	Ľ	۲	ĸ	Ľ	¥	۲	Ľ	¥	Ľ	Ľ	Ľ	Ľ	¥	Ľ	Ľ	Ľ	Ľ	¥	Ľ	Ľ	¥	۲	۲	Ľ	¥	¥	Ľ	¥	Ľ	Ľ
5	s	S	s	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	-	S	S	s	S	S	S	Ľ	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	¥	Ľ	-
5	Ľ	,	,	,	,		,	,	Ľ	Ľ		,	,	,	Ľ	ĸ	,	Ľ	,	Ľ		,	Ľ	,	,	Ľ	,	,		,	,	Ľ	Ľ
	ĸ	Ľ	ĸ	Ľ	Ľ	¥	Ľ	¥	Ľ	R	¥	Ľ	ĸ	Ľ	R	¥	Ľ	ĸ	Ľ	Ľ	¥	Ľ	ĸ	ĸ	ĸ	Ľ	Ľ	ĸ	¥	Ľ	¥	Ľ	ĸ
	ĸ	Ľ	2	ĸ	2	ĸ	¥	≃	¥	R	2	2	ĸ	¥	R	2	2	¥	¥	Ľ	¥	ĸ	ĸ	¥	2	ĸ	Ľ	ĸ	₽	ĸ		Ľ	¥
CFZ	,	Ľ	,	,	¥	,		,	,	,	,		ĸ	,	,	,	,	,	¥	,	,	,	,	,	,	,	,	,	,	ĸ	¥	,	,
	S	Ľ	s	S	s	S	S	s	S	ĸ	S	S	S	S	S	s	S	S	S	S	S	S	s	-	S	¥	S	S	s	S	¥	Ľ	¥
	S	S	S	,	S		,		,	S	S	ა	,	S	,	S	S	S	S	,		,	,	¥	,	,	S	S	S	,		,	S
	Ľ	Ľ	-	s	¥	¥	¥	¥	¥	1	s	S	¥	-	s	-	-	-	-	-	S	S	-	¥	s	¥	s	¥	-	-	¥	¥	¥
	ĸ	Ľ	ĸ	¥	¥	¥	¥	¥	¥	ĸ	ĸ	ĸ	ĸ	¥	ĸ	¥	¥	¥	¥	¥	ĸ	¥	ĸ	¥	ĸ	ĸ	Ľ	¥	¥	¥	ĸ	¥	¥
	CTX-M-15, OXA-1, TEM-1	CTX-M-15, OXA-1	CTX-M-9, TEM-1	CTX-M-9, TEM-1	CTX-M-9, TEM-1	CTX-M-14, TEM-1	CTX-M-14, TEM-1	CTX-M-15	CTX-M-15	CTX-M-15, TEM-1	CTX-M-1, SHV-11	CTX-M-1, TEM-1	CTX-M-1	CTX-M-22, SHV-1, TEM-1	CTX-M-22	CTX-M-14	CTX-M-38, TEM-1	CTX-M-2, SHV-12, TEM-1	DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-11	TEM-1	OXA-1												
ISOIATION SITE	Urine	Urine	Urine	Anal swab	Urine	Urine	Sore	Sore	Groin	Urine	Urine	Urine	Stool	Urine	Ulcer natal cleft	Urine	Urine	Urine	Urine	Vaginal swab	Sore	Anal swab	Urine	Urine	Anal swab	Stoma	Urine	Urine	Urine	Urine	Urine	Stool	Urine
			ij	li	oli	ilc	ilc	oli	oli	ioli	iloi	coli	coli	coli	coli	coli	coli	coli	coli	coli	coli	coli	umoniae	coli	coli	umoniae	coli	coli	umoniae	umoniae	imoniae	imoniae	coli
Species	E. coli	E. col	E. co	Ш Ш	Ш С	Ш	ы	ы	ы	Е. О	Ш	ш	ш	ш	ш	ш	ш	ш	ш	ш	ш	ш	K. pne	ш	ш	K. pne	ш	ш	K. pne	K. pnei	K. pnet	K. pnet	ш

Table 16. Results obtained from the 33 isolates of *E.coli* and *K. pneumoniae* tested ESBL-positive at the

 Medical University of Graz

Figure 23. Phylogenetic consensus tree illustrating the members of Class A and Class D serine β lactamase genes. The tree was calculated using serine β -lactamase DNA sequences obtained from this study (bold) and the most closely related β -lactamases. The open circles indicate lineages with 80-90% parsimony bootstrap score, the filled circles >90%. The scale bar indicates 10% of sequence divergence as estimated from distance-matrix analysis.



To investigate the relation between the bacteria and genes in more detail, phylogenetic trees of the serine β -lactamase genes sequenced were calculated and a consensus tree

established (Figure 23). Fifty-three sequences were found to be members of Class A, 16 of Class D, and one of Class C serine β-lactamases. Sequences belonging to the three phylogenetically different CTX-M groups 1, 2, and 9 could be identified. The CTX-M-15 genes of isolates 10/141 and 10/145 showed only a single mutation when compared to the 15 CTX-M-15 genes of the other isolates. This synonymous mutation affected nucleotide position 528 with adenosine instead of guanine. The only sequence (*bla*_{DHA-1}) belonging to Class C β-lactamases was not included in the phylogenetic tree as it showed very little sequence similarity, and thus cannot be implemented correctly in the used alignment.

Figure 24. Rarefaction curve analyses. (A) The number of β -lactamase observed genotypes plotted versus the number of clinical isolates characterized. (B) The number of different β -lactamases and subtypes plotted versus the number of β -lactamase sequences obtained during the characterization of bacterial isolates.



The diversity analyses revealed a high diversity of β -lactamase antibiotic resistance genotypes among the clinical isolates investigated. From 17 different resistance genotypes, only five could be observed in more than one isolate. The genotype comprising *bla_{CTX-M-15}*, *bla_{OXA-1}*, and *bla_{TEM-1}* was dominant (Table 16). The slope of the rarefaction curve is almost linear indicating a high diversity of antibiotic resistance genotypes (Figure 24A). Among ESBL-positive *E.coli* and *K. pneumoniae* isolates, the number of antibiotic resistance genotypes was found to be 54 using the ACE model and 53 using the Chao1 models. Rarefaction curve analysis revealed a flattening slope suggesting that the majority of β -lactamase genes in ESBL-positive *E.coli* and *K.*

pneumoniae characterized in this laboratory was identified (Figure 24B). The ACE model estimated 17 to be the total number of β -lactamase genes. The Chao1 model estimated the presence of 19 β -lactamase genes in the investigated region of south eastern Austria.

3.3 On-chip PCR

The characterization of clinical isolates presented in the previous two sections was performed using PCR based techniques. In the majority of clinical laboratories, PCR is the method of choice to gain more detailed information on pathogens because it comprises several advantages. It is cheap, robust, simple, fast, and has a high sensitivity. The most important limitation concerns its poor multiplexing capability which is highly necessary in order to examine the thousands of genetic elements altering various pathogens. Beside species and strain information, also the presence of antibiotic resistance mechanisms is of special importance during pathogen characterization.

The immobilization of primers to a surface seems to be an elegant solution to the problem of PCR multiplexing. The spatially separated primers cannot hybridize to the same target and also the immobilized PCR products cannot interact with other primer pairs. Furthermore, the formation of artificial DNA chimera molecules is prevented, because different, partially elongated PCR products cannot hybridize unspecifically and get elongated using the unspecific PCR fragment as template. Unfortunately, several studies did not succeed to establish an on-chip PCR protocol due to missing specificity of the reaction. Thus, the goal of my study was to identify reaction parameters that are responsible for the specificity of the on-chip PCR. The reaction parameters should be optimized and implemented in an assay detecting β -lactamase genes.

3.3.1 Spotting efficiency and thermal stability

The spotting of primers is a critical step because the used binding chemistry influences the properties of the primers. A low thermal stability of the primer-surface binding can result in detachment from the surface. In this particular case, the on-chip primers with their nucleotide spacers can easily bind unspecifically to genomic DNA and outcompete the PCR on the surface. Thus, and due to quality control, every batch of on-chip PCR slides was tested with PolyA-probes before use to evaluate spotting efficiency. The used surface chemistry in combination with thiol-modified primers produced consistent spots. The exposure of on-chip PCR slides to boiling water did not have any significant impact on signal intensities if polyA probes were hybridized to the slides subsequently.

3.3.2 Reaction chamber

An own on-chip PCR chamber had to be developed, as no commercial one is available. During on-chip PCR, reaction mixtures were heated up to 95°C. Evaporation of the reaction mixtures had to be prevented in order to maintain the correct concentrations of the reagents. In this work, various reaction chambers and their sealing were tested. The on-chip PCR had to be performed on a glass slide that can be analysed in a microarray scanner. A further requirement was thermostability of the reaction chamber. Sealing reagents were not allowed to inhibit the enzymatic reactions. Due to subsequent reactions after on-chip PCR, the exchange of enzymatic mixtures had also to be possible.

Measuring of temperatures on the slide surface revealed that the glass slides reacted in an acceptable manner to thermal cycling. The surface temperature on the slides was 95°C for 32 seconds, 58°C for 22 seconds and 72°C for 34 seconds. If temperature was increased, the step with the higher temperature was for 2-4 seconds longer than programmed. The annealing step following temperature decrease was eight seconds shorter than programmed, which is approximately one third of the programmed time.

Thermostable sealing of reaction chambers with nail polish, paraffin, self-sealing solution and mineral oil could not be achieved. Reaction mixtures in Hybriwells also evaporated. On-chip PCR slides with lifter slips on top of them could not be sealed with aluminium PCR foils. A positive result was obtained with lifter slips and polyolefin PCR foils wrapped around on-chip PCR slides.

Tests with the PCR-kits Phusion polymerase, Phusion Hotstart polymerase, 16S Basic PCR kit, TypeIt PCR kit and Multiplex PCR kit were performed to investigate their properties regarding evaporation. Only the TypeIt PCR kit and the Multiplex PCR kit showed little volume change after thermal cycling. Solution Q, which is part of the TypeIt and the Multiplex PCR kit and not described in detail by the manufacturer, was present in those reaction mixtures and responsible for the low evaporation. If Solution Q was not used in reaction mixtures, evaporation was higher.

3.3.3 Blocking of slides

The tested blocking procedures with BSA and urea had no significant impact on fluorescence signals (Figure 25). Background fluorescence was also unaffected by

blocking. Tests with no blocking of slides produced similar signal intensities and background fluorescence values when compared to BSA blocked slides. Thus, slides were only washed twice with ddH₂O for two minutes before use in on-chip PCR.



Figure 25. On-chip PCR results showing the mean signal intensity of all primers on the chip and their mean background fluorescence using different blocking procedures.

3.3.4 Properties of gene targets

The β -lactamase genes that were used as model for the development of the on-chip PCR were analysed regarding possible secondary structures and the varying GC content of their nucleotide sequence. The software tools Mfold and Freak were used for these purposes. PCR conditions occurring during the annealing step were simulated. The GC content varied between the investigated genes significantly. In some regions of the *bla*_{OX4-1} gene, the GC content was close to 10%, whereas in the *bla*_{SHV-1} gene a GC-content of almost 90% was observed.

Probable DNA secondary structures were found on all investigated genes. The higher the GC content of the investigated genes, the higher was the number of possible secondary structures (Figure 26 and Figure 27). For the β -lactamase gene *bla_{SHV-1}*, more than one structure was calculated. Two of the three possibilities are shown in Figure 26.

Figure 26. Schematic overview of the possible DNA secondary structures of bla_{SHV-1} calculated with Mfold.



Figure 27. Schematic overview of the possible DNA secondary structures of the β -lactamase genes bla_{TEM-1} , $bla_{CTX-M-1}$, $bla_{CTX-M-9}$ and bla_{OXA-1} calculated with Mfold.



Interestingly, the first batch of primers, which was designed before the secondary structure analyses were calculated, anneals largely to the regions on the genes where secondary structure are formed. The focus on the design of this first batch of primers was on conserved regions because they should amplify as many as possible variants of their corresponding gene.

3.3.5 Testing of PCR-kits

Six different PCR-kits were tested for their use in on-chip PCR. In a parallel experimental setup, the liquid phase primer TEM 233R was added to the on-chip PCR

mixture. The goal was to observe the impact of additional liquid primers in the reaction mixture. Highest signal intensities were obtained with the TypeIt PCR-kit (Figure 28). No differences could be observed between the Multiplex PCR and the TypeIt PCR kit (data not shown). With the ImmoMix PCR kit, no fluorescence signal could be seen. The used liquid phase primer employed increased signal intensities of on-chip PCR. In subsequent experiments, the TypeIt PCR-kit was used.

Figure 28. On-chip PCR results showing the mean signal intensities of all microarray spots with immobilized primers targeting the β -lactamase genes of TEM-1 and the impact of different PCR-kits on signal intensity. PCR products of *bla_{TEM-1}* were used as template DNA in the on-chip reaction. The four best performing tested kits are illustrated. Columns labelled with +233R indicate experiments were the liquid phase primer TEM 233R was additionally added to the on-chip PCR reaction mixture.



3.3.6 Annealing temperature

The impact of different annealing temperatures during on-chip PCR was investigated in twelve separate experiments. In every experiment, two on-chip PCR slides per annealing temperature were tested. The number of different annealing temperatures per experiment varied between two and five. The mean signal intensities of all on-chip PCR experiments testing different annealing temperatures were used for the analysis (Figure 29). Highest signal intensities were observed at 69°C annealing temperature.

Figure 29. On-chip PCR results showing the impact of annealing temperature on signal intensity. The mean signal intensities were calculated from 20 different on-chip PCR slides using PCR products of the β -lactamase gene TEM-1 as template. The average fluorescence intensities of all microarray spots with intended on-chip PCR products were named as "mean specific signals". "Mean unspecific signals" comprised the mean fluorescence intensity of the microarray spots targeting the β -lactamase genes of SHV-1, OXA-1, and CTX-M-1, and the ribosomal 16S gene.



3.3.7 Immobilized primer concentrations

The amount of immobilized primers per surface area is an important parameter during on-chip PCR. It is influenced by the concentration of the primer solution before it is spotted. Too low primer concentrations will result in primers too far apart to anneal to immobilized on-chip PCR amplificates. Too high primer concentrations on the surface will provoke steric hindrance. Both above mentioned scenarios have an impact on the reaction mechanisms of the on-chip PCR and reduce its efficiency. Thus, experiments were designed to determine the optimal primer concentration that should be used for spotting. Concentrations started from 20 μ M to 80 μ M.

Eleven experiments were performed to determine the optimal primer concentration. The mean signal intensities of all spots with different primer concentrations that should give a specific signal were analysed and their standard deviation calculated (Figure 30A). The analysis showed no trend which favoured one of the tested concentrations. The high standard deviations illustrated as error bars show the high variance in signal intensity and the random impact of immobilized primer concentration. Primer sequence was a

more dominant factor as surprisingly some primers gave higher signals at lower spotting concentrations while others at higher concentrations. This phenomenon is also visible if the unspecific signals that were obtained during the on-chip PCR experiments were compared to the specific ones (Figure 30). The mean signal intensities of those primers showed different patterns using the same concentrations. Also the error bars of the mean unspecific signals in Figure 30B are higher than the signals themselves indicating the minor importance of immobilized primer concentration along the tested gradient.

Figure 30. On-chip PCR results illustrating the mean signal intensities of all on-chip PCR products collected from eleven experiments using the PCR products of bla_{TEM-1} as DNA template. Signals were ordered according the concentration at which the primers were spotted to the slide. Error bars indicate the standard deviation. (A) Mean signal intensities of all intended on-chip PCR products. (B) Mean signal intensities of unspecific microarray spots targeting the β -lactamase genes of SHV-1, OXA-1, and CTX-M-1, and the ribosomal 16S gene.



3.3.8 Impact of amplification product length

The nucleotide length of the immobilized PCR products influences the reaction mechanisms of an on-chip PCR strongly. Too short and too long on-chip PCR products cannot anneal to immobilized primers due to steric hindrance and DNA secondary structures. To determine the ideal amplification length, on-chip PCR primers were designed to amplify PCR products of different lengths. The mean signal intensities of 17 on-chip PCRs were calculated and compared (Figure 31A). The highest signal intensities were observed for PCR products with an intended length of 201 bp. The strong fluorescence signal decrease for slightly longer amplificates with 208 bp and 213 bp rose further questions about the significance of the data.

To evaluate the experiments investigating the ideal on-chip PCR product length, a forward or reverse primer was spotted on a single spot. Thus, on-chip PCR experiments included spots where only one primer, either forward or reverse, was spotted. The theoretical result would have been a very weak signal at these spots as the number of amplification products cannot grow at these sites exponentially but only linearly. Interestingly, these spots showed in the experiments the highest signal intensities (Figure 31B). These signals have to be interpreted as unintended PCR products.

Figure 31. On-chip PCR results showing the mean signal intensities of the on-chip PCR products with different nucleotide length obtained with the PCR products of bla_{TEM-1} as DNA template in the reaction. Error bars indicate the standard deviation. (A) "Unspecific signals" represents the mean fluorescence intensity of all microarray spots with immobilized primers targeting genes of SHV-1, OXA-1, CTX-M-1, or the ribosomal 16S gene. (B) On-chip PCR slides were also produced with spots containing only a single primer (forward and reverse respectively). The fluorescence signal intensities of these spots were compared to those with both primers immobilized.



3.3.9 Specificity of on-chip PCR

The specificity of on-chip PCR was tested with sequenced PCR products and genomic DNA of *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae*. The impact of the previously tested parameters on specificity was monitored during those experiments. Reagent composition of the PCR kits, annealing temperature, primer length, on-chip PCR product length and primer concentration could not be adjusted to amplify a specific on-chip PCR product. The

problem is illustrated in an experiment using PCR products of the β -lactamase genes of OXA-1 and TEM-1 as DNA templates (Figure 32). Regardless of the introduced DNA template, microarray signals showed a similar pattern. These findings were also observed using genomic DNA. The concentration of template DNA had no significant effect on specificity.

To determine which on-chip PCR products were amplified on the chip, hybridization probes were used. Labelling of the on-chip PCR products was performed with dCTPs fluorescent at a wave length of 532nm. Hybridization probes were designed to bind to the on-chip amplification products and show fluorescence at 635nm. After on-chip PCR, they were hybridized to the slide surface, and subsequently slides were stringently washed. In case of specific amplification during on-chip PCR, fluorescence signals should have been obtained at both wave lengths; at 532nm because of amplified on-chip PCR products and at 635nm because of hybridization probes annealing to those. Although in the experiments, fluorescence at 532nm was detected, there was never fluorescence detectable at 635nm. Thus, I conclude that the amplified DNA on the on-chip PCR slides was not the target DNA.





On-chip PCR primers and their gene target

3.4 Ligation based solid phase detection

Knowledge in modern medicine increases rapidly since new molecular mechanisms responsible for various diseases are revealed weekly. Much of this data is genetic information. It is important for clinicians to retrieve this disease-related information fast, reliable and in a cost-effective way. Some molecular methods such as PCR, Maldi-TOF, etc. are already used in routine diagnostics. The main limitation of many of these detection methods is their poor multiplex ability. Alternative approaches that overcome this limitation such as next generation sequencing are still too expensive for routine diagnostics. Thus, the development of fast and economic multiplex detection methods is still an important issue.

The introduction of microarrays was a promising step in reaching this goal. Several microarrays and similar hybridization based methods were developed for diagnostic purposes, although problems regarding unspecific hybridization remained. The need for pre-amplification of DNA with PCR posed a problem for the microarray technology, because the bottleneck concerning multiplex ability was PCR, allowing maximal parallel amplification of approximately twelve genes. An advance in multiplex detection was made when ligation dependent methods were presented. Assays based on padlock probes were developed enabling the amplification of thousands of genes in parallel. However, these methods were dependent on solid support based detection such as microarrays, bead arrays or sequencing, which extended the detection time of these methods dramatically.

Consequently, methods were developed that combined the very specific ligation reaction with oligonucleotides immobilized on a solid support. Unfortunately, these methods had also problems regarding unspecific reactions. In this work, I present new ligation dependent detection methods that are based on probes with double-stranded DNA spacers and use RCA for DNA amplification. For proof of concept, a group of clinically important antibiotic resistance genes were used. The resistance genes belong to the genetically very diverse group of β -lactamases.

3.4.1 **Proof of principle**

The multiplex ligation assays with immobilized probes on a glass slide were tested with bacterial genomic DNA and PCR products of the β -lactamase genes of CTX-M-1, CTX-M-9, OXA-1, TEM, and SHV. The slides were incubated with a ligation mixture containing the respective probes and processed according the particular protocols (Figure 12 to Figure 15). In all methods, detection oligonucleotides were used for ligation product detection and analysis was performed with a microarray scanner.

Microarray fluorescence signals were successfully obtained with all tested methods except the one presented in Figure 13. In this method, the immobilized linear probe had first to be elongated by a polymerase until the polymerase reached the specificity probe, which subsequently had to be ligated to the immobilized amplification product. Modification of annealing temperature and varying nucleotide distances between specificity probe and the immobilized probe did not result in a positive fluorescence signal.

3.4.2 Specificity using immobilized probes and specificity probes

The ligation method shown in Figure 12 is based on an immobilized probe and a specificity probe. During the reaction, a DNA target molecule anneals to the immobilized probe and serves as template strand for the specificity probe, which binds next to the immobilized probe. A ligase connects the two probes. Annealing temperatures ranging from 55°C to 65° C were tested for this method but a specific signal could not be obtained. Also different ligation reaction concentrations of the specificity probes ranging from 1 pM to 10 μ M were tested. The combination of immobilized probe TEM 140F and the specificity probe TEM 204R was the only one that produced a ligation product which was detectable by the detection oligonucleotide. Unfortunately, the specificity probe TEM 204R was designed to target the complementary strand of the one to which immobilized probe TEM 140F binds. These two probes can anneal to each other and have an overlap of 14 bp. An experimental setup in which other specificity probes than TEM 204R were ligated to a solid support probe could not be established.

3.4.3 Capture probes concentration

Capture probes are oligonucleotides hybridizing to a DNA target and an immobilized nucleotide probe at the same time. They are used in the ligation reactions described in Figure 33 and Figure 34. The concentration of capture probes used during the ligation reaction is an important parameter influencing specificity and sensitivity. Too high concentrations of capture probes facilitate unspecific hybridization to DNA targets and immobilized probes. Lower concentrations improve specificity but reduce the sensitivity of the assay. To determine the ideal concentration of capture probes, experiments were performed with capture probe concentrations ranging from 1 pM to 1 μ M per reaction. PCR products were used as gene targets in those experiments.

Figure 33. Schematic overview of the ligation process using looplock probes. Yellow sequences indicate regions responsible for looplock and capture probe recognition, blue indicates the region on the capture probe detecting a specific DNA target, and red where detection oligonucleotides bind. After annealing of capture probes, the looplock probe and the DNA target to each other, a ligase concatenates the ligated capture probes to the looplock probe. During a stringent washing step using boiling water, all unligated capture probes are removed. Detection oligonucleotides are used to validate if the ligation reactions were successful.



Figure 34. Schematic overview of the ligation process using an immobilized linear probe to bind capture probes. The process is analogous to the one presented in Figure 33 except that no boiling water is used for washing but a less stringent washing buffer.



Fluorescence signals in experiments with 10 pM capture probes or less were not detectable. Capture probe concentrations starting from 100 pM to 1 μ M were used in subsequent experiments (Figure 35). An increase of signal intensity with increasing concentrations of capture probes was detected.

Figure 35. Mean fluorescence intensities of the on-chip ligation reactions described in Figure 33 and Figure 34. Both immobilized probe types described in the two figures were spotted on every slide. Different concentrations of the capture probes were used in these ligation reactions. The data was separated according the type of immobilized probe (immobilized linear probes or looplock probes) and specificity of the signals. PCR products of the TEM-1 gene were used as DNA templates in the ligation reactions.



3.4.4 Looplock vs. linear probes

Most methods in which DNA was hybridized to single stranded immobilized oligonucleotides face the problem of unspecific binding. The goal in this study was to design oligonucleotides that are less prone to this phenomenon. Looplock probes were covalently attached with their 3' end and their 5' end to a solid support. A feature of the looplock probes was the double stranded DNA spacer increasing the distance of the recognition sequence from the surface. Single stranded DNA probes can form secondary structures which results in a decreased distance of the binding sequence from the surface, and thus make them less accessible to target DNA. The main idea behind looplock probes was the elimination of unspecific hybridization. The used enzyme ampligase can recognize perfectly matching DNA more specifically than DNA polymerases. Additionally, the integration of a total denaturation and a washing step after the ligation reaction into the protocol should result in the improvement of current methods. Capture probes were designed to concatenate with their corresponding looplock probe after ligation, and thus, could not be washed away. In contrast, the analogous immobilized linear probes helped to ligate capture probes in the same way, but due to their free 3' end, under very stringent washing conditions ligated capture probes could be washed away.

Results of an experiment comparing the two immobilized types of probes under stringent washing conditions are illustrated in Figure 36. Both types of probes were spotted on the same slide. The ligation reaction was performed as described in Figure 14 and Figure 15. After the ligation and first incubation with detection oligos, spots with looplock probes and immobilized linear probes showed, as expected, fluorescence signals. Washing in boiling ddH₂O and subsequent scanning confirmed that all detection oligos and non-covalently bound DNA were washed away (data not shown). The last incubation with detection oligos had a surprising result since not only spots with looplock probes but also the ones with immobilized linear probes showed fluorescence signals. The most probable explanation of this phenomenon was that capture probes were covalently connected to the free 3' ends of the immobilized linear probes. To test this hypothesis, immobilized linear probes with an analogous dideoxynucleotide (ddNTP) at their 3' ends were ordered. The ddNTP prevented the ligation of capture probes at the 3' end.

Figure 36. Mean fluorescence intensities of an on-chip ligation experiment containing both immobilized probe types described in Figure 33 and Figure 34. The slide was scanned before washing in boiling ddH_2O and afterwards. In both scenarios, the slide was incubated with a detection oligonucleotide and washed before scanning. PCR products of the TEM-1 gene were used as DNA templates in the ligation reactions.





Looplock probes, linear probes with and without a dideoxynucleotide at its 3' end were spotted onto a glass slide. Capture probes were added to the ligation reaction in the concentrations 1 μ M, 100 nM, 10 nM and 100 pM per capture probe. After ligation, slides were washed in boiling ddH₂O and subsequently incubated with detection oligos. Then, slides were washed and analysed. At high capture probe concentrations, a significant decrease in signal fluorescence intensity of spots with linear probes with a ddNTP in comparison to normal immobilized linear probes could be observed (Figure 37). This data confirmed the hypothesis of unspecific binding of capture probes to free 3' ends. Interestingly, at the lowest tested capture probe concentration of 100 pM, spots with linear probes with a ddNTP showed equal or even slightly higher fluorescence signal intensities.

Figure 37. Mean fluorescence intensities of the on-chip ligation experiments containing three immobilized probe types on a single slide (Looplock probes, linear probes with and without a dideoxynucleotide at their 3' end). The reactions described in Figure 33 and Figure 34 were conducted on the slides. Two different concentrations of capture probes were used and are shown in grey and black columns. PCR products of the TEM-1 gene were used as DNA templates in the ligation reactions.



3.4.6 Specificity of on-chip ligation

The specificity of the used ligation reactions was tested with PCR products and genomic bacterial DNA. The problem of unspecific ligation to the free 3' ends of the immobilized linear probes could not be totally resolved. Thus, the interpretation of unspecific signals remained difficult. Nevertheless, specific looplock probes produced slightly higher signal intensities than unspecific ones using PCR products as DNA templates (Figure 38). Ligation reactions with genomic bacterial DNA were unspecific.

Figure 38. Mean fluorescence intensities of four on-chip ligation experiments using the PCR product of the β -lactamase gene of TEM-1 as template. The reactions described in Figure 33 and Figure 34 were conducted on the slides. Three different immobilized probe types were spotted on a single slide (Looplock probes, linear probes with and without a dideoxynucleotide at their 3' end). Four different capture probe concentrations were used in the four ligation reactions to monitor the impact of the capture probe concentration on the specificity.



A possible source contributing to unspecific fluorescence signals was the spotting buffer containing betaine and SSC. It was spotted in all experiments as negative control additionally on the slides. However, in some experiments, fluorescence intensities obtained from spots made only with spotting buffer exceeded the fluorescence intensities from spots containing immobilized probes (Figure 39). This phenomenon occurred on several occasions, although new spotting buffer and spotting solutions were prepared after realization of the problem.

Figure 39. Mean fluorescence intensities of the ligation experiments with different concentrations of capture probes. Columns show spots with the weakest and strongest fluorescence intensity. Also the average signal intensity including all spots on the slide is illustrated. Black columns show the signal intensity from spots on which only the spotting buffer was spotted.



Capture probe concentration

3.5 Multiplex detection of β-lactamases in liquid phase using padlock probes

In parallel to the development of the on-chip ligation based detection methods described in the previous section, a ligation based assay in liquid phase was also developed. The assay uses padlock probes that allow a high degree of multiplexing. These probes anneal to a DNA target, circularize, and a ligase connects their 5' and 3' ends. The most popular method to detect the subsequently amplified and labelled padlock probes are microarrays.

In this study, I further optimized multiplex genotyping using padlock probes and developed an assay with nearly 100 padlock probes. The used padlock probes contained a DNA target recognition site, a sequence region for C2CA, and a barcode sequence tag for microarray based detection (Figure 16) (80). Ligated padlock probes were amplified with C2CA. This amplification method consisted of two RCAs intercepted by monomerization, circularization and ligation of the products from the first RCA. These circularized products were amplified in the second RCA and subsequently fluorescently labelled with a linear PCR (Figure 19). The assay was designed to identify 33 different β -lactamase genes. Genomic DNA from clinical samples, PCR products and synthetic DNA templates were used to evaluate specificity and sensitivity of the method.

3.5.1 Evaluation of padlock probes using synthetic templates

I first tested the functionality and specificity of the padlock probes with short synthetic DNA templates: synthetic templates corresponding to the same gene were pooled and used in a single ligation reaction. Six of the 96 padlock probes (MIR-1 P147, OXA-1 P540, OXA-48 P448, OXA-51 P439, OXA-51 P712 and SHV-1 P734) produced no microarray signal (Figure 40). In particular, the detection of bla_{MIR-1} , bla_{OXA-1} , bla_{OXA-48} and bla_{SHV-1} might be problematic when using the padlock probes described herein, and a single functional probe was not sufficient for bla_{OXA-51} confirmation.

Because a barcode sequence microarray containing 299 probes was used to identify the 96 padlock probes, two-thirds of the microarray probes had no corresponding padlock probe to bind.

Nonetheless, we observed nonspecific hybridization of the labelled DNA to these microarray probes in all the experiments (Figure 41). Moreover, three microarray

probes of the 96 that targeted the padlock probe amplification products had fluorescence signals in more than 71% of the experiments. We confirmed that these false-positive signals were the result of the nonspecific hybridisation of labelled DNA rather than the nonspecific ligation and amplification of padlock probes, as illustrated in Figure 41. Four microarray probes lacking any corresponding padlock probe were also positive in the majority of our experiments due to the nonspecific binding of the labelled DNA. To discriminate false positives from true positives, each gene had to be targeted at least by three padlock probes to be scored as positive.

Figure 40. Heatmap of the microarray signals from 33 experiments using the synthetic DNA as template in the ligation reaction. Two experiments with negative controls are included. On the vertical axes microarray probes are named according their corresponding padlock probe. The number after the letter P in the probe name indicates the nucleotide position on the gene. The fluorescence intensities were normalized and transformed to log(2) values.



Synthetic template DNA

8 log(2)

Figure 41. Heatmap of the microarray signals from 33 experiments using the synthetic DNA as template in the ligation reaction. Two experiments with negative controls are included. The upper part of the figure shows microarray probes which have a complementary sequence to bind the padlock probe amplificates. The part below shows the fluorescence intensity of the microarray probes with no corresponding padlock probe. The fluorescence intensities were normalized and transformed to log(2) values.



Synthetic template DNA

3.5.2 Test of the assay using PCR products

To determine the specificity and sensitivity of our approach, five sequenced PCR products for the clinically most prevalent β -lactamases were used as templates. The β -lactamase assay successfully detected the PCR products of $bla_{CTX-M-I}$, $bla_{CTX-M-9}$, bla_{OXA-I} , bla_{SHV-I} and bla_{TEM-I} . The evaluation of the sensitivity of the assay was performed with 1:10 dilution series of these PCR products from 10⁰ to 10⁹, and the impact of the ampligase ligation time on the sensitivity was also examined. The detection limit of the method for the PCR products was found to be 10⁴ DNA molecules per ligation reaction. The 3D-diagram in Figure 42 shows an increase in sensitivity with longer padlock probe ligation times. The microarray signal intensity increased with increasing PCR product concentration in the padlock probe ligation reaction, and longer ligation times during this reaction step had a similar effect on the microarray signals. Interestingly, the increase in the microarray signal intensities to saturation was approximately linear with respect to the increases in the template concentration and ligation time. These results suggest that the assay is at least semi-quantitative.

Figure 42. Microarray results from multiplex detection experiments using different template concentrations of PCR products of β -lactamase gene of CTX-M-9. The impact of ligation time on sensitivity during the annealing of the padlock probes is also illustrated.



3.5.3 Specificity of genotyping

To investigate the specificity of the assay, genomic DNA samples from 70 characterized clinical strains were used as templates, with 141 β -lactamase gene sequences being present (Figure 43). These sequences encode 8 different β -lactamases, comprising 25 different subtypes. Because the assay was not conceptually designed to detect SNPs, it was not possible to identify all 25 subtypes but the assay could specifically detect their associated genes. The microarray results for a representative clinical isolate showing the mean gene values is presented in Figure 44. All β -lactamase genes present were correctly detected in 97% of the investigated bacterial isolates. In the two isolates with a false negative result, one gene (*bla*_{OXA-1} and *bla*_{SHV-11}, respectively) was not detected as a direct result of dysfunctional padlock probes. The mean gene values remained below the cut-off in these two cases. In total, 98.6% of all the β -lactamase genes present in the tested clinical isolates were correctly detected with our assay.

The correlation of the β -lactam resistance phenotypes of the clinical isolates and their β lactamase genotypes deduced from the results of the detection assay was also evaluated. The β -lactamase phenotype could be precisely confirmed with the developed assay for 62 (88.6%) of the 70 tested clinical isolates (Figure 43). In four of the remaining eight clinical strains, potential ESBL (extended spectrum β -lactamase) genes were identified, providing a possible mechanism for the observed resistance phenotype; however, due to the lack of SNP subtyping, the narrow-spectrum β -lactamases (bla_{TEM-1} , bla_{SHV-1}) could not be distinguished from ESBLs (eg. bla_{TEM-7} , bla_{SHV-2} , bla_{SHV-12}). Therefore, the precise confirmation of the observed phenotype was not possible in these cases. In four of the eight isolates, the molecular mechanisms responsible for the resistance phenotype were previously not known and could not be determined with our method.
Figure 43. Results of the evaluation of the multiplex detection method using genomic DNA from 70 clinical isolates. Grey squares indicate the correct identification of a gene. Black squares are false negatives. In the isolates illustrated in bold letters, the genetic mechanism responsible for the resistance phenotype was not known. In the italicized ones, confirmation of the resistance phenotype was not possible with our method due to missing SNP genotyping.

	/pe				7	-2	ø	6-	-25												~	-+	~	_	~										
Gene	sista	Ŀ	۲-1	Y-2	N-X	Ň-Y	N-X	Š-V	Ž-	A-1	X-1	S-1	-	-	-24	5		Δ-1	A-1	A-2	A-2;	A-24	A-48	A-5,	A-58	5-7	4-5	5-1	>	Ш	5	<u>.</u>		-7	
Isolate	Res	AC ⁻	CM	CM	G	G	CI	G	C	HO	Ę0	Ü	Ĭ	MP	IMP	KPC	MIR	IQN	XO	Ň	Ň	Ň	Ň	Xo	Ň	μ	RTO	SFO	SH	SM	Ē	ÿ	N N	≧	
AKH11-C7	AmpC																																		
AKH11-C16	AmpC	-			-		_			_		_	_								-	-	-	-	-	-			_	-	_	-	-	_	
AKH11-C18 AKH11-C36	AmpC	-			-		-		-	-		-	-	-	-		-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-		_		-	-	-	-	-	
AKH11-C30	AmpC	-																					-	-	-			_		-		-	-	_	
AKH11-C47	AmpC																																		
AKH11-C48	AmpC									_																							_		
AKH11-C28	AmpC	-			-		_					_	_			_					-	-	-	-	-			_		_	_	-	-	_	
AKH11-C29	AmpC	-	-		-		-			-		-	-	-	-				-		-	-	-	-	-	-				-	-	-	-	_	
AKH11-014 AKH11-15	ESBL	-					-						-	-	-	-	-				-	-	-	-	-							-	-	-	
AKH11-33	ESBL																																		
AKH11-10	ESBL		-							_						-							-							_		_	_		
10-141	ESBL	-	-		_		-		_	_		_	_			_	-		_	-	-	-	-	-	-			_		-	_	-	-	_	
10-142	ESBL	-	-	-			-		-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	+	+	-	-			-	-	-	-+	-+	-	
10-145	ESBL	-			1		-														-	-	-	\vdash	-			_				-	-	_	
10-147	ESBL																																		
10-152	ESBL							_																											
10-153	ESBL	-	-				_			_		_	_	_					_	-	-		-	-	-					-	_	-	-	_	
09-133	ESBL	-	-				-		_			-	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-					-	_	-	-	_	
AKH11-13	ESBL	-																			-		-	-	-					-1		-	-	_	
AKH11-55	ESBL																																		
AKH11-51	ESBL																																_		
AKH11-49	ESBL	-	-		_		_	_		_		_	_	_	_		-		_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				_	_	_	-	_	
AKH11-32	ESBL	-	-		-		-		_	-		-	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	+	-	-	-				-	-	-+	-+	-	
10-140	ESBL	-											-		-						-	-	+	-	-	-		_		-	-	-	-	_	
AKH11-3	ESBL																																		
10-146	ESBL																																		
10-154	ESBL	-					_			_										-	_		-	-						_	_	_	\rightarrow	_	
10-155	ESBL	-	-				-			_		-	-	-	-		-			-	-	-	-	-	-					-	-	-	-	_	
10-136a	ESBL	-					-			-			-	-	-				-		-	-	-	-	-	-						-	-	-	
AKH11-5	ESBL															1																		_	
AKH11-42	ESBL							_																											
10-148	ESBL	-	-				_	_		_		_	-	_	-		-		-		-	-	-	-	-					-	_	-		_	
AKH11-28	ESBL	-	-				-	-	_	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				-	-	-+	-	-	
AKH11-32 AKH11-24	ESBL	-					-			-		-	-	-	-				-		-	-	+	+	-	-				-	-	-	-	-	
AKH11-9	ESBL																																		
10-136b	ESBL																																		
10-151	ESBL	-			_		_			_			_	_	-		-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-				-	_	_	_	_	
AKH11-7	ESBL	-	-		-		-			-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-				-	_	-+	-+	_	
AKH11-47	ESBL	-			-		-			-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-				-		-	-	-	
AKH11-27	ESBL																																		
AKH11-26	ESBL																																		
AKH11-23	ESBL	-			-		-			_		-	-	-	-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		_	$ \rightarrow $	-		\rightarrow	-	_	
AKH11-20 AKH11-19	ESBL	-			-		-			-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				+		-	+	_	
AKH11-6	ESBL	1																					1	-								+	+		
10-137	ESBL																																		
10-149	ESBL	_								_																				_		_	_		
10-150	ESBL	-	-		-		-		_	_		_	-	-	-	-	-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-				-	_	-	+	_	
ΑΚΗ11-1 ΔΚΗ11-27	ESBL	-					-			-			-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-		_	+	-		+	+	-	
AKH11-17	ESBL																															-	+		
AKH11-14	ESBL																																		
10-144	ESBL																																_		
10-134	ESBL	-	-		-		-		_			-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-				-	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	-	_	
ΔKH11-C53 ΔKH11-21	ESBI	-			-		-		-				-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						+	+	-	
AKH11-8	ESBL	1																					-	-	-			_				+	+		
AKH11-53	ESBL																																		
AKH11-41	ESBL								_															1								\square	_		False negative
AKH11-16	ESBL	-		-	-		-		_	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		_		-		-	+	_	
AKH11-35 AKH11-C41	AmnC	-	-		-		-						-	-	-		-		-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-		_	+			+	+	-	Positive
		1																							1							_			

Results

Figure 44. Microarray result of the multiplex detection experiment using genomic bacterial DNA from an overnight culture. Genes of CTX-M-1, OXA-1 and TEM-1 were present in the isolate and successfully detected with the β -lactamase assay.



3.5.4 Sensitivity of β-lactamase detection assay

Clinical samples were the source of the genomic DNA used to determine whether the detection limits were clinically relevant. To this end, a 1:10 dilution series of bacterial cells ranging from 10^{0} to 10^{9} cells/ml was prepared, and the genomic DNA was extracted. We selected a ligation time of at least 12 hours for β -lactamase detection based on a dilution of 10^{9} cells/ml; the cell density was critical for the results because it was not possible to detect any genes using the 10^{7} cells/ml dilution, even after a prolonged ligation time of 24 hours. However, the initial 25-multiplex PCR pre-amplification of the genomic DNA significantly improved the detection limit, and positive microarray signals were observed for the 10^{7} cells/ml dilution (Figure 45). Furthermore, the ligation time could be reduced to two hours by using pre-amplified genomic DNA originating from a dilution of 10^{9} cells/ml.

Figure 45. Microarray results showing the positive mean gene values using genomic bacterial DNA as template. The tested bacterial isolate harboured the β -lactamase genes of DHA-1, SHV, and TEM. The DNA extracts from bacterial dilution series were used in a multiplex PCR for DNA pre-amplification before the PCR products were added to the ligation reaction. The red line indicates the cutoff for the mean gene values.



Results

The analysis of the genetic diversity of a biological habitat is a routine procedure in microbial and general ecology. A large set of molecular and statistical tools have been developed to address this issue. The first methods were based on fingerprinting techniques such as RFLP. More sophisticated studies sequenced selected marker genes with Sanger sequencing to draw conclusions about the investigated habitat. The current state of the art uses next generation sequencing to investigate biological communities. A huge problem in microbial ecology is that the large majority of species cannot be cultivated. To circumvent this problem, all genes are sequenced from an environmental sample and then assigned to a corresponding species. This approach is summarized under the term "Metagenomics". The huge accumulation of data resulting from the introduction of this new approach led to the development of many different diversity indices addressing particular problems in ecology. Thus, ecology has become an interdisciplinary field consisting of biology, molecular biology and statistics.

Especially for clinicians, it becomes difficult to keep track on the advances in these fields because their profession in the hospital is very time demanding. Clinical studies using only RFLP analyses are still widespread. Nevertheless, hospitals have to be considered as very dynamic and interesting microbial environments harbouring many bacterial species. The high selection pressure caused by antibiotic treatment and the global exchange of bacterial strains due to human and goods traffic enhance the evolution of pathogens dramatically. Thus, hospitals are hotspots of bacterial evolution. Due to their outstanding importance for the human health, the bacterial community is very well monitored in many hospitals, providing large datasets to researchers. The scientific advances resulting from the routine implementation of microbial ecology techniques into the clinical environments will be interesting to observe. A fundamental biological dogma, that genetic information can only be transferred from parents to

children, was already annihilated after the discovery of HGT during the investigation of antibiotic resistance.

4.1 Emergence of β-lactamases in the General Hospital of Vienna

The high occurrence of CTX-M genes in this study confirmed the prevalence of these enzymes in ESBL-positive isolates. The dissemination of $bla_{CTX-M-15}$ and $bla_{CTX-M-14}$ is already well documented, but the spread of the second most commonly encountered CTX-M gene in this study, $bla_{CTX-M-38}$, was only observed in China so far (88;89). CTX- $bla_{CTX-M-27}$, which was present in two different variants, was so far rarely present in Europe and only detected in UK, France and Spain (90;91). The five new CTX-M genes were all encountered in this study for the first time so that their clinical importance cannot be predicted. More detailed characterizations of these genes have to be carried out in a follow-up study.

Both bla_{SHV-26} and bla_{SHV-33} were detected once in two different *K. pneumoniae* and both for the first time in Austria. Previously, bla_{SHV-26} has been only detected in Portugal and bla_{SHV-33} in Spain (92;93).

In this study, I describe for the first time the occurrence of the carbapenemase gene bla_{OXA-72} in *Enterobacteriaceae*, which was only observed in *Acinetobacter baumannii* until now. It is also the first detection of bla_{OXA-72} in central Europe. The gene was present in an ESBL-positive *K. pneumoniae* isolate in combination with bla_{TEM-1} and bla_{SHV-33} .

Furthermore, CMY genes were detected for the first time in Austria. Beside the more common bla_{CMY-2} and bla_{CMY-4} genes, the bla_{CMY-42} gene, which was only once identified in Germany, was present in this study (94). The new CMY gene with similarity to bla_{CMY-41} has to be further analysed. This is also the first report of the inhibitor-resistant β -lactamase genes bla_{TEM-32} and $bla_{TEML-150}$, and the β -lactamase gene $bla_{TEM-135}$ in Austria.

The emergence of *bla_{VIM-4}* was also observed for the first time in Austria, although local studies published the presence of VIM-1 in *Enterobacter cloacae* and VIM-2 in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (95;96). The presence of KPC in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Klebsiella oxytoca* was already confirmed in south-eastern Austria but no sequence

analyses were performed so that it remained unclear whether KPC-2 is really new in Austria (97;98).

In two isolates (C8 and C21), there was a discrepancy between phenotype (metallo- β -lactamase, due to synergism of meropenem with dipicolinic acid) and genotype as no gene could be found that would explain the observed phenotype. However, the metallo- β -lactamase phenotype could not be reproduced on re-testing in one of the two cases. In contrast, in the other isolate (C8), the metallo- β -lactamase phenotype remained unexplained. This strain was additionally tested with a ligation-dependent multiplex method detecting the carbapenemase genes of IMI-1, IMP-24, OXA-48 and SME-1 and the commercial kit Check-MDR CT103 from Checkpoints (data not shown). The Check-MDR CT103 kit detected the AmpC β -lactamase ACT/MIR, but no other genes were identified with the above mentioned methods. Explanations for the absence of carbapenemase genes could be either technical errors, mutations or the presence of rare or new carbapenemases. This strain has been chosen as a target for whole genome sequencing in a new project to understand mechanisms behind the phenotype.

4.1.1 Analysis of β-lactamase diversity

To my best knowledge, this is the first report in which the genetic diversity of β -lactamases in a hospital was statistically estimated. My data showed that the majority of β -lactamase gene-groups present in the General Hospital of Vienna in the year 2011 was detected in this study. Approximately 55% of the β -lactamase genes estimated to be present in the hospital were identified. Interestingly, the total number of different genotypes has still remained unclear. Many different combinations of the detected β -lactamase sequences seem to be possible and present. Rarefaction curve analyses also revealed that the genetic diversity of AmpC-positive isolates is much lower than the one of ESBL-positive. Especially the high occurrence of different variants of the same genes in ESBL-positive isolates was notable. These trends are either the result from higher mutation rates in ESBL-positive *Enterobacteriaceae* or that an ESBL-phenotype is more easily developed by *Enterobacteriaceae* with higher mutation rates.

4.2 Analysis of genetic diversity in south-eastern Austria

In recent reports, a wide distribution of CTX-M genes was found in Austrian *Enterobacteriaceae* isolates; however, the presence of the three CTX-M groups 1, 2, and 9 in a single study set was not observed so far (87;99;100). Similar to those studies, the wide distribution of CTX-M genes was confirmed in this study. Eisner et al. investigated the prevalence of CTX-M genes in the identical laboratory and found CTX-M genes in 58% of all ESBL-positive isolates in 2004 (87). Compared to that data, a significant increase in CTX-M prevalence was detected in this study.

Recently, NDM-1, TEM-1, OXA-1, and a SHV subtype with 99% homology to SHV-5 and SHV-12 were also identified in isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae*; however, the spread of other β -lactamases has not been published in Austria yet (99;101). Except for NDM-1, all β -lactamase genes, observed in isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae* in Austria so far, were present in the investigated strains. The distribution of *bla_{SHV-1}*, *bla_{SHV-11}*, and *bla_{DHA-1}* was not described until now.

Although the Class C β -lactamase DHA-1 was already isolated in isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae* from several continents, it was not found in Austria yet (102-104). In 2009, Shi et al. published a *K. pneumoniae* isolate from China that contained the β -lactamase genes of DHA-1, OXA-1, SHV-28 similar to the isolate 10/134. In this Chinese isolate, the genes of TEM-1, CTX-M-9, and CTX-M-55 were additionally identified. Shi et al. also tested the resistance genes transfer of 18 isolates of *K. pneumoniae* to those of *E.coli* and found five of eight transconjugants that harboured bla_{DHA-1} (105). The dissemination of DHA-1 in combination with OXA-1 and SHV was also observed by Menezes *et al.* who found a similar resistance genotype with bla_{DHA-1} , bla_{OXA-1} , bla_{SHV-12} and bla_{TEM-1} in *Salmonella* serovar Agona from India (106). The only metallo- β -lactamases identified in Austria were NDM-1 in isolates of *K. pneumoniae*, IMP-13, IMP-22 and VIM-2 in isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (101;107). The resistance genes of those enzymes could not be detected among the investigated ESBL-positive isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae*.

Rarefaction curves and the richness estimators ACE and Chao1 were used to estimate the diversity and number of species in the samples (108). To my best knowledge, these tools have not been used in clinical environments to estimate the diversity of antibiotic resistance genotypes respectively resistance genes. The analyses of resistance gene

patterns revealed a high diversity in this study. Due to the almost linear slope of the rarefaction curve, it was not possible to estimate the number of resistance gene patterns with the present data set correctly.

In contrast, analysing the diversity of β -lactamases revealed that most of the screened genes present among the ESBL-positive isolates of *E.coli* and *K. pneumoniae* were identified. The ACE and the Chao1 models calculated similar values. Characterizing new isolates with the used primer set should unveil only a few new β -lactamases and subtypes, which is confirmed by the flattening shape of the rarefaction curve.

In conclusion, this data supports recent data showing that the TEM, OXA, SHV, and CTX-M genes are widely disseminated in isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae* and that $bla_{CTX-M-15}$ and bla_{TEM-1} may be the most abundant genes of these enzymes. As no phenotypically carbapenem resistant isolates were analysed, it was not surprising that metallo- β -lactamase genes or the serine β -lactamase gene of KPC were absent. The high number of different β -lactamase genotypes may indicate a vivid exchange of β -lactamase genes in the bacterial environment. To reduce the spread of new β -lactamases, the hotspots of these clinically relevant horizontal gene transfers should be identified and prevention strategies should be defined.

4.3 On-chip PCR

The concept of PCR was a revolutionary invention in life sciences. It was the fundament of modern molecular biology because DNA could be detected and amplified in a simple reaction for the first time. Unfortunately, the new technique had also limitations. Some of them such as the possibility to quantify DNA could be resolved with the introduction of real time PCR. Others, such as the parallel detection and amplification of high numbers of genes still remained. Thus, many investigations addressed this issue. A theoretically straightforward and elegant idea was the spacial separation of PCR primers and products in one reaction camber. With the introduction of microarrays it became possible to immobilize thousands of separated primers onto a surface and create a reaction chamber for the PCR. Although researchers faced constant drawbacks in their attempts to immobilize the PCR, the persuasion remained that only the right reaction conditions remained to be found. A boost in this field was the introduction of the next generation sequencer from Solexa. The commercial product used immobilized primers to amplify DNA on a chip for subsequent sequencing. After this success, the research field on on-chip PCR was revived. Several publications presented advances and further developments using new surfaces and binding chemistries.

4.3.1 Annealing temperature

The major problem regarding on-chip PCR in this and other studies was the poor specificity of the reaction. The attempts performed in this study to resolve this problem included adaption of annealing temperature, primer sequence composition, primer length, primer concentration, spacer composition of primers, surface chemistry, reaction reagents, and on-chip PCR product length. In general, the most used parameter to adjust the specificity in a liquid phase PCR is the annealing temperature. In my experiments, the increase of annealing temperature until 76°C showed no improvement regarding specificity, but only a loss in fluorescence signal intensity with increasing temperature. In liquids, the Brownian motion of molecules increases with temperature. This is the reason why it possible to adjust specificity with an increase in temperature. The increase of Brownian motion of primers and template DNA leads to the melting of double stranded DNA since the hydrogen bonds cannot withstand the increasing thermal motion. AT-rich DNA sequences have lower melting temperatures than GC-rich

regions, because their nucleotides are connected only with two hydrogen bonds per nucleotide. Guanine and cytosine use three hydrogen bonds, and thus have higher binding energies. The immobilization of primers may influence the Brownian motion of the primers dramatically. On one hand on-chip PCR primers cannot rotate at their 5' end as their counterparts in liquid phase. On the other hand, through the covalent attachment to a glass surface, the primers absorb the thermal motion of the glass slide, which could be altering their own thermal motion. More systematic investigations have to be conducted to estimate the impact of these two factors on the molecular system, but the mentioned factors should play a key role in new attempts to gain specificity in on-chip PCR.

4.3.2 Primer spacer

An important difference between the primers used in the liquid phase PCR and the onchip PCR is the presence of a primer spacer in the on-chip PCR. The spacer is necessary to grant the accessibility of the large DNA polymerase molecules and their catalytic centres to the primer sequence. Furthermore, primers without spacers have a decreased annealing capability (109;110). The spacers in this study consisted of two elements. One element was necessary to covalently bind the primers exclusively at their 5' ends to the glass slide. The binding had to be highly thermostable and was accomplished with crosslinker molecules consisting of carbon chains. The second element was a decamer nucleotide spacer. Two sequence variants of the nucleotide spacer were tested in this work but no difference was observed. The combination of the two spacer elements resulted in a relative long spacer molecule. Unfortunately, this length could be a cause for the unspecificity of on-chip PCR. Tests with the on-chip PCR primers and the same primers lacking the spacer were performed in a liquid phase PCR. The reactions lacking the primers with spacers were specific, whereas in reactions with primer spacers unspecific amplification products could be observed (data not shown). Especially the nucleotide spacer increased the primer length, which is known to be a critical parameter in liquid phase PCR because too long primers increase the probability of unspecific hybridization. Thus, new on-chip PCR approaches should exclude the nucleotide spacers which are widely used in DNA microarrays. Also a possible interaction of the DNA polymerase with the organic spacers, necessary for the covalent attachment of the primers to the surface, should be investigated in more detail.

4.3.3 On-chip PCR chamber

As no thermostable reaction chambers were commercially available that could be used in standard equipped clinical laboratories, an appropriate chamber had to be developed. Restraints were that the analysis in a microarray scanner should be possible, implying that a standard glass slide had to be used as substrate for the primers. Due to the used thermal cycler, also the maximal thickness was restricted to 2.5 times a glass slides. A critical point during on-chip PCR represents the molecular environment in which the reaction takes place. The glass slides were coated with aminosilane resulting in a nonpolar surface. Polar surfaces such as the ones present on aldehyde slides can bind polar biomolecules to their surface. These aldehyde slides need to be blocked with BSA or urea prior PCR. This procedure and possible source of contamination was successfully avoided with the choice of a nonpolar surface (Figure 25).

One of the greatest challenges in the development of the reaction chamber was the control of evaporation of the reaction mixture during thermal cycling which resulted in increased ion concentrations. Positively charged ions like Mg²⁺ or Na⁺ increase the binding energy of double stranded DNA because they intercalate with the negatively charged phosphate backbone of DNA. The ions stabilize the opposite DNA strands through electrostatic interactions. Thus, if evaporation due to thermal cycling occurs, there is a decrease in PCR specificity after every cycle due to unspecific primer binding to target DNA. The addition of nonpolar reagents like SolutionQ (Qiagen) or Self-Sealing Solution (LTF Labortechnik) to the reaction mixture and sealing of the chamber with PCR-foil reduced evaporation significantly. Nevertheless, all used reaction chambers in this study were susceptible to a certain degree to evaporation. New approaches of on-chip PCR have to develop a slide that is compatible with microarray spotters, microarray scanners and also integrates a reaction chamber that can be sealed and reopened several times.

4.3.4 Surface chemistry of on-chip PCR slides

In this study, the coating of the glass slides with aminosilane was chosen as the best surface. The advantage of this surface over aldehyde and epoxy slides is that the aminosilane surface is non-polar. Thus, polar molecules like DNA and proteins are not trapped by electrostatic interactions on the surface. Another important prerequisite is that the covalent binding between the surface and the oligonucleotide is thermostable. Selective binding of the primer at its 5' end to the surface is also necessary, as well as a certain surface density of primers.

Especially the specific attachment of the primers at their 5' end was subject of several investigations. Epoxy silane-derivatised slides were used to generate a covalent binding with 5' amino modified primers (111;112). Thiol-derivatised glass slides were used in combination with 5' disulfide modified primers (113). 5' succinvlated oligonucleotides can be attached to amino-derivatised glass slides (114). Also, crosslinker molecules can be used such as those in the present study, which increase the distance of the primer to the surface and influence the surface properties (Figure 46). Beside the crosslinker used in this study, many others have been tested. Maleic anhydride, phenyldiisothiocyanate, carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC), sulfosuccinimidyl(4-iodoacetatyl)aminobenzoate (s-SIAB), sulfosuccinimidyl 4-(N-maleimidomethyl)-cyclohexane-1 carboxylate (ssuccinimide SMCC), N-(γ -maleimidobutyryloxy)sulfo ester (s-GMBS) and sulfosuccinimidyl 4-(p-maleimidophenyl)-butyrate (s-SMPB) also mediated the covalent linkage of the 5' end of primers (115;116). The crosslinker chemistry is not limited to glass supports. The carboiimide chemistry was chosen together with latex beads, dextran supports, polystyrene microwells and amino controlled-pore glass (117-121). In addition, many other solid supports were tested for their suitability for on-chip PCR. Oligonucleotides were also immobilized in polyacrylamide gels and the PCR conducted within the gel (122;123).

Adessi *et al.* performed extensive experiments evaluating various binding chemistries regarding their loading density, the 5' end selectivity of the binding reaction and the thermal stability of the covalent bond (116). The binding chemistry in this study was chosen based on those results preferring the one with the highest thermal stability, high loading density and 5' end selectivity. Retrospectively, it can be said that those factors were not among the most important ones to have a good specificity of the on-chip PCR.

The focus during the development of new binding and surface chemistries has to be put on better emulation of the liquid phase primer behaviour than other factors.

Figure 46. Illustration of the different primer attachment chemistries taken from Adessi *et al.* (116). The processes to covalently attach nucleic acid molecules to a glass support are shown. Hydroxylated glass surfaces were silanised using aminosilane reagents exemplified here by ATS. EDC and imidazole reagents lead to the formation of a phosphoramidate linkage between amino-derivatised glass surfaces and 5' end phosphate modified oligonucleotides in a one-step reaction (**a**). For cross-linker chemistry (**b**), an amide bond was formed between amino groups of the surface and the succinimidyl ester moiety of the cross-linker compounds exemplified with s-MBS or s-SIAB reagents. 5' end thiol modified oligonucleotides reacted with either the maleimide portion of s-MBS-like compounds or the iodoacetamide portion of s-SIAB.



4.3.5 **On-chip primer design**

Primers are short, initiating DNA strands that bind to target DNA and are further elongated by DNA polymerases. Critical for the specificity of a PCR is that the primer matches the complementary DNA strand perfectly. Nevertheless, DNA polymerases can also elongate primers that do not perfectly match to their target DNA (124). Thus, it is

important during primer design to consider various factors. The stability of the 3' end of the primer, amplification product length, primer length, melting temperature and GC content are important parameters. Possible mismatches should be located at the 3' end (125-127). DNA secondary structures formed by primers such as hairpins, palindroms, primer dimers and cross-dimers reduce PCR efficiency significantly (128).

Primer name	Spacer	Sequence 5' 3'	Length	GC content	Melting temperature
Solid TEM 20F	ттттттттт	GTGTCGCCCTTATTCCCTTTTT	22	50.0%	52°C
Solid TEM 789R	ттттттттт	TTCATCCATAGTTGCCTGACTCCC	24	45.5%	53°C
Solid TEM 233R	ттттттттт	GCCCGGCGTCAACACGGGATAATACCG	27	50.0%	52°C
Solid TEM 140 F	ттттттттт	TGGATCTCAACAGCGGTAAGATCCTTGAGAG	31	47.6%	52°C
Solid TEM 204R	ттттттттт	CCACATAGCAGAACTTTAAAAGTGCTCA	28	37.5%	52°C
Solid TEM SS 521 F	TATTATTATT	ACGACGAGCGTGACACCACGATGCC	25	64.0%	64°C
Solid TEM SS 681 R	TATTATTATT	CCAGCCGGAAGGGCCGAGCGCA	22	73.9%	66°C
Solid TEM SS 528 F	TATTATTATT	GCGTGACACCACGATGCCTGC	21	66.7%	60°C
Solid TEM SS 729 R	TATTATTATT	CCGCGAGACCCACGCTCACC	20	75.0%	62°C

Table 17. Primers targeting the TEM gene designed for on-chip PCR

On-chip primer design differed only slightly from the one in liquid phase. The main difference represented the spacer sequence that was meant not to interact with target genes. To identify important primer parameters that influence on-chip PCR, nine primers were designed targeting the TEM gene (Table 17). Sixteen different primer combinations and PCR products were possible with these primers. The primers differed in size (18bp - 31bp), GC content (37.5% - 75%) and melting temperature. Surprisingly, none of these parameters had a detectable impact on the specificity of the on-chip PCR.

A parameter that influences the reaction mechanism of the on-chip PCR massively is the amplification product length (129;130). Too short and too long immobilized products cannot bind to the immobilized primers due to steric hindrance. Thus, the optimal amplification product length was tested experimentally (Figure 31). It was expected that at the optimal product length the microarray signal intensities are highest and that they are decreasing with shorter and longer amplification product lengths. Indeed, the signal intensity increased constantly with its maximum at 201bp product length, but at 208bp and 213bp there was a sharp decrease in signal intensity. The two

following longer on-chip PCR products (649bp, 769bp) showed higher signal intensities than the ones with 201bp and 208bp (Figure 31). This irregular pattern in the signal intensities indicates that the major factors responsible for the observed different signals intensities are not the varying on-chip PCR product lengths, because such a strong decrease in signal intensities cannot be explained by significant steric differences between DNA molecules with 201bp, 208bp and 213bp length. Failure to detect the intended immobilized on-chip PCR products with specific detection oligos, although microarray signals were present (3.3.9 Specificity of on-chip PCR), indicates that the observed microarray signals were not resulting from the intended fluorescently marked on-chip PCR products. The unspecific amplification of DNA on the chip surface could be an explanation for the irregular pattern observed with different amplification product lengths.

In summary, no parameter important during liquid phase primer design was identified to be also important in on-chip PCR design under the tested reaction conditions.

4.3.6 Conclusions regarding on-chip PCR

On-chip PCR is a promising technology aiming to detect and amplify thousands of genes in a single reaction. The method has gained popularity in the scientific community with the introduction of microarrays since it became possible to immobilize thousands of primers onto a small area. This miniaturization was also economically interesting because the downsizing of many parallel amplification reactions to a small volume promised a wide application of the technology. Although the first publications were presented in the early 90s, the achieved progresses regarding this technology were poor so far.

In this study, a simple reaction chamber was developed that can be used in standard equipped laboratories. Furthermore, the PCR mechanism could be established with primers immobilized on a glass solid support. An aminosilane surface, s-MBS as crosslinker and 5' end thiol-modified primers were chosen as surface and binding chemistry. The efficiency of on-chip PCR was strongly dependent on the used PCR kit. The Qiagen products Multiplex PCR kit and TypeIt kit led in combination with fluorescence labelling with Vent_R(exo-) polymerase, incorporating Atto532-dCTPs into the on-chip PCR products, to the highest signal intensities. To adjust the specificity of

on-chip PCR, several parameters were tested. Variation of annealing temperature, reaction reagents, primer composition, amplification products length, primer concentration, blocking procedures, PCR cycling protocols and other parameters could not improve specificity to a desirable degree.

New approaches have first to investigate the molecular interactions on the chip surface. The differences between liquid phase and solid phase PCR have to be understood before alternative on-chip PCR setups are to be developed. The new surface chemistry should grant accessibility of target DNA and enzymes to the immobilized primers without the necessity of a nucleotide spacer.

4.4 Ligation based solid phase detection

Microarrays used to be a promising technology in molecular biology and diagnostics because of their multiplex ability. A huge set of microarrays for many different applications was developed but false positive signals remained a main limitation of this technique. Nevertheless, clever design and extensive testing of a microarray probe panel can decrease the presence of false signals to an acceptable degree. An interesting application of microarrays was their use for the detection of padlock probes. Padlock probes are approximately 100 base pair long nucleotides that bind to a gene target and are ligated to a circular molecule. Every padlock probe can be identified on the microarray through a unique sequence tag. This combination allows the detection of up to 1000 different targets in a single reaction. The logical consequence of these results was the immobilization of the very specific padlock probe reaction to a microarray surface. To my knowledge, the achievements obtained from liquid phase experiments could not be reproduced with immobilized probes so far, probably due to the different hybridization behaviour of immobilized probes. Thus, I developed a new kind of immobilized probe, the looplock probe, which allowed the elimination of some factors contributing to unspecific signals.

4.4.1 Ligation methods using immobilized probes and specificity probes

The proof of concept of the ligation method that uses a polymerase to fill up the gap between the immobilized probe and the specificity probe prior ligation failed (Figure 13). Later it was realized that a systematic error may be responsible. The polymerase used to fill up the gap was $Vent_R(exo-)$ polymerase lacking 5' end exonuclease activity. It was thought that the polymerase reaches the 5' end of the specificity probe and detaches from the DNA target strand. This was an false assumption because the $Vent_R(exo-)$ polymerase is capable of strand displacement. $Vent_R(exo-)$ polymerase can detach the specificity probe from the DNA target strand and no ligation would be possible. The detection oligonucleotide would have no sequence to bind to. A solution for this problem would be the use of the Stoffel fragment as alternative polymerase. The Stoffel fragment is lacking 5' end exonuclease but also strand displacement activity. With the other, simpler solid phase ligation method shown in Figure 12, which also uses

an immobilized linear probe and a specificity probe, a microarray fluorescence signal

was obtained (data not shown). The problem with this method was that the reaction was not specific. The immobilized probe TEM 140F and the specificity probe TEM 204R were ligated, although they share none common DNA template strand but bind to the complementary sequences. The two probes have an sequence overlap of 14bp and thus can bin to each other. This overlap might facilitate the unspecific ligation process although the 3' end of immobilized probe TEM 140F and the 5' end of specificity probe TEM 204R is 16bp apart.

Since no DNA amplification steps were conducted, poor sensitivity of both methods might be considered as reason for negative fluorescence signals. However, the high concentrations used in the experiments of up to 10 μ M of probes and 10¹² DNA copies in the reaction mixture should have resulted in sufficient ligation products for detection without a DNA amplification step.

4.4.2 Looplock probes

The encouraging results from the proof of principle experiments showed that looplock probes are suited for immobilization onto a glass surface and subsequent enzymatic reactions (Figure 35 - Figure 39). An advantage of these probes over conventional microarray probes is the possibility to include a maximal stringency washing step into the protocol. This feature may be helpful in resolving the problem of unspecific hybridization, which is faced by microarray probes. The closed structure of the looplock probe is also of advantage due to the unexpected unspecific ligation of capture probes to the 3' ends of linear immobilized probes. This result was highly surprising because ampligase was thought to recognize and ligate highly specific perfectly matching DNA. The usage of linear immobilized probes with a dideoxynucleotide at their 3' end reduced fluorescence signals significantly, but not completely. An explanation for the persistence of fluorescence signals could be the poor purification of oligonucleotide after synthesis with remaining shorter oligonucleotides lacking the terminal dideoxynucleotide. The specificity of ligases mentioned in publications was the main reason why they were chosen over polymerases in recent solid support methods. In combination with polymerases capable of strand displacement (Φ 29 polymerase, Bst polymerase and Vent_R(exo-) polymerase), the amplification of DNA molecules circularized through ligation should be highly selective.

Another difference of the looplock probes in comparison to conventional microarray probes concerns the spacer. Moiseev *et al.* showed that immobilized single stranded DNA is due to its conformation closer located to the surface than double stranded DNA. Thus, double stranded DNA was used as spacer to grant better accessibility of the enzymes to the immobilized probes. A possible problem regarding looplock probes concerns the ring strain that emerges with their circularization. It is known from padlock probes that too short molecules cannot be ligated. In this study, two circularized DNA molecules (ligated capture probes and looplock probes) had to hybridize and overcome the accumulated ring strains of both molecules. Unintended secondary structures with reduces ring strain energies could be a result.

4.4.3 Capture probes

The concentration of probes or primers in an enzymatic hybridization reaction is of particular importance. High concentrations lead to a high probability of hybridization to a DNA target and high sensitivity, but also decreased specificity due to unspecific binding. Low concentrations of oligonucleotides reduce sensitivity and hybridization events, but make them highly specific. The ideal concentration is a trade-off between specificity and sensitivity, and has to be determined experimentally. The impact of capture probe concentrations on the signal intensity and hence sensitivity is illustrated in Figure 35 confirming the above mentioned model. Interestingly, signal intensities did not increase in the same order of magnitude as did capture probe concentrations. The reason for this was that the ligation process was also influenced by factors such as DNA template concentration, enzyme concentration and other parameters. The biggest difference in signal intensity between unspecific and specific probes was observed at a capture probe concentration of 10 nM (Figure 38). This concentration approximately matches the ones used in padlock probe experiments were ligation products were specifically separated by capture probes immobilized to magnetic beads.

4.4.4 Specificity of on-chip ligation assay

As in all multiplex methods, the specificity of the on-chip ligation assay is the most important parameter. Unintended ligation to 3' ends was identified as factor contributing to unspecificity. Remarkable and unclear was the fluorescence pattern

obtained with oligonucleotides with a terminal ddNTP using low concentrations of capture probes (Figure 37). Oligonucleotides with a terminal ddNTP showed equal or even higher fluorescence signal intensities than the same probes with a normal 3' end. This may be an indication for further unintended reactions on the surface. Also the spotting buffer was identified in some experiments as possible contributor to fluorescence signals. In some cases, the combination of SSC in the spotting buffer with a detection oligonucleotide showed fluorescence at 532 nm, even if the detection oligonucleotide used carried only a fluorophore emitting at 635 nm (data not shown). A reason why this phenomenon occurred was not found yet.

In conclusion, a promising new type of probe was developed. Further improvements of the protocol will include the implementation of polymerases with strand displacement capability. These polymerases will take advantage of the circularized capture probes amplifying them via rolling circle amplification, thus improving sensitivity and specificity of the assay. The successful immobilization of the ligation reaction onto the detection platform microarray will reduce the time to obtain data for at least two hours in comparison to analogous liquid phase methods. This is especially important in clinical environments where the correct treatment of the patient has to be induced as soon as possible. Thus, further effort will be put in the improvement and development of multiplex detection methods such as this on-chip ligation assay.

4.5 Multiplex detection of antibiotic resistance genes with padlock probes

In this work, a multiplex DNA detection method for antibiotic resistance characterization based on padlock probes is presented. The main advantage over current procedures is the multiplex capability of the developed assay including the possibility to detect SNPs, which can alter the susceptibility to antibiotics. Results from studies using similar ligation dependent assays indicate that with the presented method up to 10,000 DNA targets might be detected in a single assay (131;132). With these features, it is possible to design an assay targeting all known antibiotic resistance mechanisms.

The optimization of several parameters was necessary to obtain a high specificity with the developed assay. The most critical one was concerning the concentration of padlock probes. High concentrations of DNA in a solution increase the number of events of specific and unspecific hybridization. Although mismatching double stranded DNA has a lower melting temperature than perfect matching DNA and denaturates fast, the short living intermediate can be modified by enzymes. Unspecific PCR products are the most prominent representatives of these unintended reaction products. But also other enzymes than polymerases are prone to this phenomenon. As shown in the previous sections, ligases which are thought to have better proof-reading properties than polymerases also ligate mismatching DNA hybrids. Thus, limiting the amount of padlock probes in a reaction mixture decreases the events of unspecific hybridization and ligation. In my first experiments using padlock probes, their initial concentration was 10 nM and 1 nM per padlock probe respectively (data not shown). The subsequent microarray analyses revealed that all padlock probes had been ligated, although only one DNA target was present. The 1000-fold reduction of the initial padlock probe concentration to 1 pM resulted in specific signals when using the same protocol. This finding was considered as essential for the optimization of specificity for ligation based reactions. Due to parallel development of the padlock probe assay and the on-chip ligation assays presented in the previous sections, the ideal concentration of probes was under intense evaluation in the on-chip ligation based methods.

4.5.1 Sensitivity of padlock probe assay

Unfortunately, a low padlock probe concentration does not only decrease unspecific hybridization events but also the specific ones. This factor has a strong impact on sensitivity. However, a high sensitivity is for clinical applications of outstanding importance. Some diseases such as sepsis need diagnostic tests capable to detect one cell per ml. Others, such as urinary tract infections need less sensitive tests (10⁴ cells/ml). In clinical routine, cultivation based methods are used that can theoretically detect up to one cell per ml. Nevertheless, some studies have shown that these tests can also produce false negative and false positive results (52;53). An advantage of DNA based tests over cultivation based ones is that these tests can also detect non viable cells and free DNA in blood and other sample types. An optimized PCR assay is able to detect ten DNA molecules per reaction, although commercially available sepsis detection kits specify a detection limit of 30 to 300 viable cells. Explanations for this suboptimal sensitivity are inhibitory substances in biological samples and inefficient DNA extractions.

The sensitivity of the developed padlock probe assay was 10⁴ PCR product molecules per test. If genomic DNA was used, a multiplex PCR for pre-amplification of DNA was necessary to detect at least 10⁷ cells/ml. This large difference between sensitivity using PCR products and genomic DNA may be caused by several factors. A poor DNA extraction protocol results in low amounts of target DNA in the sample. Furthermore, the number of non target DNA molecules in genomic DNA is much higher than in PCR products, where theoretically every molecule should be a target. The non target DNA is partly competing with target DNA for hybridization events with padlock probes and thus reducing the probability for stable target-padlock probe hybridizations.

The number of antibiotic resistance gene copies in a bacterial cell can also vary dramatically. They can be located on high copy number plasmids or on the genome as single copy. However, in many cases the presence or expression of antibiotic resistance genes represents a reduction of fitness. Thus, not all surviving bacteria in a culture have antibiotic resistance genes, because enough enzymes are transported into the extracellular space by some members of the culture to deactivate antibiotics. This illustrates the problem to estimate the exact copy number of a resistance gene from a sample with known cell numbers.

An increase of the sensitivity of the assay can be achieved by several measures. First, the DNA extraction protocol for genomic DNA should be optimized. Furthermore, the ideal time point during bacterial cultivation, when the copy number of antibiotic resistance genes is highest, has to be determined. Only DNA from cultures taken at this time point should be analysed. Another possibility to increase the sensitivity is the introduction of more RCA steps into the C2CA procedure. The fluorescence labelling of C2CA products is performed in a linear PCR at this point. This reaction has a very low efficiency. The use of two primers in the labelling PCR would increase the number of fluorescently labelled molecules exponentially with every cycle. The combination of these measures should result in an improved sensitivity of the assay.

4.5.2 Specificity

The high specificity of the β -lactamase assay is the most remarkable property of the method. It was achieved by a whole cascade of discriminatory enzymatic reactions. The ampligase is thought to have significantly lower error rates than DNA Taq polymerases. The circularization of the padlock probe after ligation produces a very unique molecule, which is approximately only 90 base pairs long. The next steps take advantage over this structure and use the phi29-polymerase to amplify DNA. This polymerase has a strand displacement capability and can only amplify circular molecules efficiently due to missing denaturation steps. The linear PCR using only one primer results in a low probability of formation of unspecific PCR products.

Furthermore, the high specificity was also achieved by the assay design philosophy. Every gene was detected by multiple padlock probes. As the microarray technology has limitations regarding specific target hybridization, it was necessary to design more padlock probes per gene in order to identify false positive microarray signals. Figure 41 shows the evaluation of the padlock probes with synthetic templates and clearly illustrates this problem. Thus, at least three padlock probes per gene were necessary for definite information on the presence of β -lactamase genes.

4.5.3 State of the art

Molecular methods for ligation-dependent multiplex detection of β -lactamases are commercially available but limited only to a few genes per assay (Check-MDR CT101, CT102, CT103; Check-Points, Netherlands). Multiplex-PCR-based assays were also developed as were microarrays for SNP characterization of β -lactamases (54;55). Nevertheless, none of these assays can detect all β -lactamases in a single test.

Alternative approaches to characterize pathogens are based on mass spectrometry. The low cost per analysis ($\in 0.40$) has made this technology attractive in routine diagnostics. The characterization is based on large databases where every pathogen is characterized with molecular biological tools in detail regarding its antibiotic resistance and strain information. Subsequently, the strain is analysed with a mass spectrometer, and the spectrum fingerprint is deposited in a reference database. In clinical routine, bacterial isolates are analysed with mass spectrometry and the resulting spectrum fingerprint is compared with the reference database.

With decreasing prices, sequencing technologies are also becoming more interesting for hospitals. Yet, no assays are available for routine diagnostics. Beside bureaucratic aspects caused by missing certifications for these technologies, also other factors make them little attractive for clinicians. Fast data retrieval is the most important argument for clinicians to use molecular diagnostic tools. The long duration time to obtain the sequencing results makes the current sequencers almost meaningless in a clinical setting. Another aspect concerns the produced data flood. Clinicians are interested in very specific issues concerning the investigated pathogen and have little interest in additional information. However, a very promising and revolutionary technology might change medical diagnostics. The Oxford Nanopore is presented as technology capable of single nucleotide sequencing within minutes or hours. The system should have been commercially available at the end of 2012 but its release was postponed.

4.5.4 Future outlook for the β-lactamase detection assay

Along with the technological advantages, our novel approach also offers cost benefits. We estimate the costs for consumables, including the self-made microarrays, to be approximately \$25 per analysis. In addition, the majority of clinical laboratories are equipped with the required state-of-the-art technology and can easily adapt this method

to their routine analyses. The automation of the multiplex assay or integration into a labon-chip device represent further advances for this technology. Additionally, a linear increase in the microarray signal intensity corresponding to a gradually elevated template concentration or ligation time was observed until saturation of the microarray signal (Figure 42). This can be used for two different purposes. As signal intensity is dependent on the ligation time of padlock probes, the sensitivity of the assay can be optimized by increasing the ligation time. The more import conclusion concerns a possible new application of the method. Introducing internal standards with defined concentrations into the β -lactamase assay might enable the semi-quantitative detection of gene targets. The concept is analogous to the one used in real time PCR. To our knowledge, no semi-quantitative multiplex detection methods were published so far. In summary, we developed a novel high-throughput and cost-effective multiplex assay to identify antibiotic resistance genes that can yield semi-quantitative results.

5 Abstract

In the present study, the issue of antibiotic resistance in clinically relevant bacteria has been discussed intensively. Due to the large number of different resistance mechanisms, the focus was on one of the most important classes of resistance genes, the β lactamases. It is a protein category, which is defined by its enzymatic activity. These enzymes cleave β -lactam antibiotics, and thus, deactivate them. β -Lactams are the most important bactericides against human pathogens which mainly belong to the *Enterobacteriaceae*. β -Lactams share a structural similarity with D-alanyl-D-alanine, which is a component of the bacterial cell wall. It is involved in the molecular crosslinking of the bacterial murein by a peptidase. β -Lactams bind irreversibly to the peptidase, which provokes after a cascade of further reactions, bacterial cell lyses.

More than 950 different naturally occurring *β*-lactamases are already known and divided into four phylogenetically different classes (A-D). Although they have a similar enzymatic activity, the catalytic sites and protein sequences differ strongly between these classes. One goal of this work was to obtain an overview of the distribution of βlactamase genes in Austria's largest urban areas Vienna and Graz. For this purpose, clinical isolates taken from patients and phenotypically determined as β -lactamasepositive were analysed genetically. The first step was the creation of a β -lactamase DNA sequence database. Based on this data, 25 primer pairs were designed targeting the clinically most important β -lactamase genes. To double check, also 24 already published primer pairs were used in the analysis. All 33 clinical isolates from Graz and 108 from Vienna were analysed with these 49 primer pairs by PCR twice. The detected genes were amplified, sequenced and used for further statistical analyses. The Chao1, ACE and Rarefaction curve algorithms, which are widely used in ecology, have been applied in a clinical study for the first time. They were used to estimate the number of β -lactamase genes in the investigated hospitals. In the present study, a large number of genes have been described in Austria and Europe for the first time. Members of all four classes of β -lactamases were among the detected genes. The statistical analyses showed that the majority of β -lactamase genes in clinical isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae* were identified in the surveyed hospitals. The number of different β -lactamase genotypes could not be determined due to the high diversity among the genotypes.

Abstract

The second objective of this work was the development of a multiplex detection method. The immobilization of the PCR on a glass slide was an obvious approach for this purpose. A primer pair was covalently bound with a microarray spotter to a nonpolar surface. Based on this reaction environment, many different parameters such as reaction mixture, annealing temperature, primer sequence, product length, etc. were evaluated. The DNA was amplified on a glass surface successfully during the on-chip PCR, but it was not possible to determine parameters for specific amplification. Based on the experience obtained from on-chip PCR experiments, a multiplex ligation reaction with immobilized probes was developed. A newly developed type of probes (looplock probes) was compared with linear probes. Parameters that were essential for the specificity of the on-chip ligation reaction were studied systematically. The proof-of-principle with the new probes and the on-chip ligation reaction could be shown, but for routine use, further optimization of specificity is required.

In addition to the tested surface-based methods, also a liquid phase multiplex detection method was developed based on padlock probes. These padlock probes were ligated in the presence of a target sequence resulting in single-stranded, circular DNA molecules. The ligated padlock probes were amplified in two successive rolling circle amplification reactions and then fluorescently labelled in a linear PCR. The labelled amplification products were detected with a microarray. With this method, nearly 100 different target sequences could be determined in parallel. An assay detecting all clinically important β -lactamase genes in a single reaction was developed. The assay was successfully evaluated with clinical isolates and produces results with excellent sensitivity and specificity. Compared to existing products on the market, the developed assay can detect three to four times more genes in parallel. In addition, it has a very high development potential because the detection of all antibiotic resistance genes in a single assay is possible with this method.

6 Zusammenfassung

In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurde das Thema der Antibiotikaresistenzen in klinisch relevanten Bakterien intensiv behandelt. Aufgrund der hohen Anzahl an unterschiedlichen Resistenzmechanismen wurde der Fokus auf eine der wichtigsten Klassen von Resistenzgenen gelegt, die β -Laktamasen. Es handelt sich hierbei um eine Proteinkategorie, die über ihre enzymatische Aktivität definiert wird. Die Enzyme sind in der Lage β -Laktam Antibiotika zu spalten und damit zu deaktivieren. Die β -Laktame sind die wichtigsten Bakterizide gegen die meisten humanen Pathogene. Die Wirkung der β -Laktame basiert auf einer strukturellen Ähnlichkeit mit einem Bestandteil der bakteriellen Zellwand, dem D-Alanyl-D-Alanin, welches in Kombination mit einer Peptidase für die molekulare Vernetzung des bakteriellen Mureins verantwortlich ist. β -Laktame binden irreversibel an die Peptidase, wodurch nach einer Kaskade von weiteren Reaktionen das Bakterium sich schließlich selbst lysiert.

Über 950 unterschiedliche, natürlich vorkommende β-Laktamasen sind bereits bekannt und werden in vier Klassen (A-D) eingeteilt, die zwar ähnliche enzymatische Aktivität, aber unterschiedliche katalytische Zentren und Proteinsequenzen haben. Ein Ziel dieser Arbeit war es einen detaillierten Überblick über die Verbreitung der β-Laktamasen in Österreichs größten Ballungszentren Wien und Graz zu erlangen. Zu diesem Zweck wurden klinische, phänotypisch β-Laktam resistente Stämme genetisch untersucht. Nach dem Erstellen einer β-Laktamase DNA Sequenzdatenbank wurden 25 Primerpaare entworfen mit denen die 25 wichtigsten β-Laktamasegene identifiziert werden konnten. Zur Doppelkontrolle wurden auch 24 bereits publizierte Primerpaare verwendet. Dreiunddreißig klinische Isolate aus Graz und 108 aus Wien wurden jeweils zweimal mit diesen 49 Primerpaaren analysiert. Die mittels PCR amplifizierten Gene wurden sequenziert und für statistische Auswertungen verwendet. Die Rarefaction Curve, Chao1 und ACE Algorithmen wurden genutzt um die Anzahl von β-Laktamasegenen in den untersuchten Spitälern abschätzen zu können. In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurde

Zusammenfassung

eine große Anzahl von Genen zum ersten Mal in Österreich bzw. Europa beschrieben. Darunter befinden sich Gene aus allen vier Klassen der β -Laktamasen. Die statistischen Auswertungen ergaben, dass der Großteil der β -Laktamasegene in den klinischen Isolaten der *Enterobacteriaceae* in den untersuchten Spitälern identifiziert wurde. Die genaue Anzahl an unterschiedlichen β -Laktamase Genotypen konnte aufgrund der hohen Diversität nicht bestimmt werden.

Das zweite Ziel dieser Arbeit war die Entwicklung einer Methode mit der viele unterschiedliche Gene in einer Reaktion detektiert werden können. Die Immobilisierung der PCR auf einem Objektträger war eine naheliegende Herangehensweise bei der Primerpaare mit einem Microarrayspotter an eine unpolare Oberfläche kovalent gebunden wurden. Unterschiedliche Parameter wie Reaktionsgemisch, Annealing Temperatur, Primersequenz, Produktlänge, etc. wurde getestet. Die DNA konnte zwar in der On-Chip-PCR auf der Oberfläche vervielfältigt werden, aber es gelang nicht spezifische Reaktionsbedingungen zu bestimmen. Darauf aufbauend wurde eine Multiplex-Ligationsreaktion mit immobilisierten Sonden getestet. Ein neu entwickelter Typ von Sonde (looplock probe) und diverse Parameter wurden systematisch untersucht. Die Ligationsreaktion konnte mit den neuen Sonden auf der Objektträgeroberfläche zwar etabliert werden, aber eine weitere Optimierung der Spezifität ist notwendig.

Neben oberflächenbasierenden Methoden wurde auch ein Multiplex-Detektionsverfahren in Lösung entwickelt. Dabei wurden Padlock Sonden verwendet, die bei Vorhandensein eines Zielgenes zu zirkularen DNA Molekülen ligiert werden. Die ligierten Padlock Sonden werden in zwei aufeinanderfolgenden Rolling-Circle-Amplication-Reaktionen vervielfältigt und anschließend in einer linearen PCR fluoreszenzmarkiert. Die Detektion der markierten DNA erfolgte mit einem Microarray. Mit dieser Methode konnten knapp 100 verschiedene Zielsequenzen parallel bestimmt werden. Der Assay kann alle wichtigen β-Laktamasegene in einer Reaktion identifizieren und wurde mit klinischen Isolaten erfolgreich evaluiert. Er zeichnet sich durch eine hervorragende Spezifität und Sensitivität aus. Im Vergleich zu bestehenden Produkten am Markt kann er drei bis vier Mal mehr Gene parallel detektieren und hat ein sehr hohes Entwicklungspotential, da eine Erweiterung des Assays um eine Vielzahl von zusätzlichen Zielgenen möglich ist.

7 References

- 1. Bongaarts, J. (2009) Human population growth and the demographic transition. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond B Biol. Sci.*, **364**, 2985-2990.
- 2. Ginsburg, I. (2002) The role of bacteriolysis in the pathophysiology of inflammation, infection and post-infectious sequelae. *APMIS*, **110**, 753-770.
- 3. Kong,K.F., Schneper,L. and Mathee,K. (2010) Beta-lactam antibiotics: from antibiosis to resistance and bacteriology. *APMIS*, **118**, 1-36.
- 4. Brown, A.G. (1982) beta-Lactam nomenclature. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 10, 365-368.
- 5. Bush,K. (2010) Alarming beta-lactamase-mediated resistance in multidrug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.*, **13**, 558-564.
- 6. Ambler, R.P. and Meadway, R.J. (1969) Chemical structure of bacterial penicillinases. *Nature*, **222**, 24-26.
- 7. Medeiros, A.A. (1997) Evolution and dissemination of beta-lactamases accelerated by generations of beta-lactam antibiotics. *Clin. Infect. Dis.*, **24 Suppl** 1, S19-S45.
- 8. Hall,B.G. and Barlow,M. (2003) Structure-based phylogenies of the serine betalactamases. J. Mol. Evol., 57, 255-260.
- 9. Aminov, R.I. and Mackie, R.I. (2007) Evolution and ecology of antibiotic resistance genes. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, **271**, 147-161.
- 10. Aminov, R.I. (2009) The role of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in nature. *Environ. Microbiol.*, **11**, 2970-2988.
- Fernandez-Alarcon, C., Miranda, C.D., Singer, R.S., Lopez, Y., Rojas, R., Bello, H., Dominguez, M. and Gonzalez-Rocha, G. (2010) Detection of the floR gene in a diversity of florfenicol resistant Gram-negative bacilli from freshwater salmon farms in Chile. *Zoonoses. Public Health*, 57, 181-188.
- 12. Batt,A.L., Snow,D.D. and Aga,D.S. (2006) Occurrence of sulfonamide antimicrobials in private water wells in Washington County, Idaho, USA. *Chemosphere*, **64**, 1963-1971.

- 13. Yang,S. and Carlson,K. (2003) Evolution of antibiotic occurrence in a river through pristine, urban and agricultural landscapes. *Water Res.*, **37**, 4645-4656.
- 14. Kong,K.F., Schneper,L. and Mathee,K. (2010) Beta-lactam antibiotics: from antibiosis to resistance and bacteriology. *APMIS*, **118**, 1-36.
- 15. Haeggman,S., Lofdahl,S. and Burman,L.G. (1997) An allelic variant of the chromosomal gene for class A beta-lactamase K2, specific for Klebsiella pneumoniae, is the ancestor of SHV-1. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, **41**, 2705-2709.
- 16. Queenan, A.M. and Bush, K. (2007) Carbapenemases: the versatile betalactamases. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.*, **20**, 440-58, table.
- Borer, A., Saidel-Odes, L., Riesenberg, K., Eskira, S., Peled, N., Nativ, R., Schlaeffer, F. and Sherf, M. (2009) Attributable mortality rate for carbapenemresistant Klebsiella pneumoniae bacteremia. *Infect. Control Hosp. Epidemiol.*, 30, 972-976.
- 18. Patel,G., Huprikar,S., Factor,S.H., Jenkins,S.G. and Calfee,D.P. (2008) Outcomes of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae infection and the impact of antimicrobial and adjunctive therapies. *Infect. Control Hosp. Epidemiol.*, **29**, 1099-1106.
- 19. Walsh, T.R., Toleman, M.A., Poirel, L. and Nordmann, P. (2005) Metallo-betalactamases: the quiet before the storm? *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.*, **18**, 306-325.
- 20. Cornaglia, G., Giamarellou, H. and Rossolini, G.M. (2011) Metallo-betalactamases: a last frontier for beta-lactams? *Lancet Infect. Dis.*, **11**, 381-393.
- Daikos,G.L., Petrikkos,P., Psichogiou,M., Kosmidis,C., Vryonis,E., Skoutelis,A., Georgousi,K., Tzouvelekis,L.S., Tassios,P.T., Bamia,C. *et al.* (2009) Prospective observational study of the impact of VIM-1 metallo-betalactamase on the outcome of patients with Klebsiella pneumoniae bloodstream infections. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, **53**, 1868-1873.
- 22. Jacoby,G.A. (2009) AmpC beta-lactamases. Clin. Microbiol. Rev., 22, 161-82, Table.
- 23. Hall,B.G. and Barlow,M. (2004) Evolution of the serine beta-lactamases: past, present and future. *Drug Resist. Updat.*, 7, 111-123.
- 24. Jacoby,G.A. (2009) AmpC beta-lactamases. Clin. Microbiol. Rev., 22, 161-82, Table.
- 25. Barlow, M. and Hall, B.G. (2002) Phylogenetic analysis shows that the OXA beta-lactamase genes have been on plasmids for millions of years. *J. Mol. Evol.*, **55**, 314-321.

- 26. Kong,K.F., Schneper,L. and Mathee,K. (2010) Beta-lactam antibiotics: from antibiosis to resistance and bacteriology. *APMIS*, **118**, 1-36.
- 27. Doyon, J.P., Ranwez, V., Daubin, V. and Berry, V. (2011) Models, algorithms and programs for phylogeny reconciliation. *Brief. Bioinform.*, **12**, 392-400.
- Zuckerkandl, E. and Pauling, L.B. Evolutionary divergence and convergence in proteins. 97-166. 1965. Evolving Genes and Proteins, Academic Press, New York. Ref Type: Report
- 29. Jordan, I.K., Kondrashov, F.A., Rogozin, I.B., Tatusov, R.L., Wolf, Y.I. and Koonin, E.V. (2001) Constant relative rate of protein evolution and detection of functional diversification among bacterial, archaeal and eukaryotic proteins. *Genome Biol.*, **2**, RESEARCH0053.
- 30. Philippot, P., Van, Z.M., Lepot, K., Thomazo, C., Farquhar, J. and Van Kranendonk, M.J. (2007) Early Archaean microorganisms preferred elemental sulfur, not sulfate. *Science*, **317**, 1534-1537.
- 31. Wagner, M., Roger, A.J., Flax, J.L., Brusseau, G.A. and Stahl, D.A. (1998) Phylogeny of dissimilatory sulfite reductases supports an early origin of sulfate respiration. *J. Bacteriol.*, **180**, 2975-2982.
- 32. Meyer, B. and Kuever, J. (2007) Phylogeny of the alpha and beta subunits of the dissimilatory adenosine-5'-phosphosulfate (APS) reductase from sulfate-reducing prokaryotes--origin and evolution of the dissimilatory sulfate-reduction pathway. *Microbiology*, **153**, 2026-2044.
- 33. Ho,S.Y., Lanfear,R., Bromham,L., Phillips,M.J., Soubrier,J., Rodrigo,A.G. and Cooper,A. (2011) Time-dependent rates of molecular evolution. *Mol. Ecol.*, **20**, 3087-3101.
- 34. Dagan, T., Roettger, M., Bryant, D. and Martin, W. (2010) Genome networks root the tree of life between prokaryotic domains. *Genome Biol. Evol.*, **2**, 379-392.
- 35. Theobald,D.L. (2010) A formal test of the theory of universal common ancestry. *Nature*, **465**, 219-222.
- 36. Hall,B.G. and Barlow,M. (2004) Evolution of the serine beta-lactamases: past, present and future. *Drug Resist. Updat.*, **7**, 111-123.
- 37. Cornaglia, G., Giamarellou, H. and Rossolini, G.M. (2011) Metallo-betalactamases: a last frontier for beta-lactams? *Lancet Infect. Dis.*, **11**, 381-393.
- 38. Garau,G., Di Guilmi,A.M. and Hall,B.G. (2005) Structure-based phylogeny of the metallo-beta-lactamases. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, **49**, 2778-2784.

- 39. Kong,K.F., Schneper,L. and Mathee,K. (2010) Beta-lactam antibiotics: from antibiosis to resistance and bacteriology. *APMIS*, **118**, 1-36.
- 40. Coque, T.M., Baquero, F. and Canton, R. (2008) Increasing prevalence of ESBLproducing Enterobacteriaceae in Europe. *Euro. Surveill*, **13**.
- 41. Lytsy,B., Sandegren,L., Tano,E., Torell,E., Andersson,D.I. and Melhus,A. (2008) The first major extended-spectrum beta-lactamase outbreak in Scandinavia was caused by clonal spread of a multiresistant Klebsiella pneumoniae producing CTX-M-15. *APMIS*, **116**, 302-308.
- Nicolas-Chanoine, M.H., Blanco, J., Leflon-Guibout, V., Demarty, R., Alonso, M.P., Canica, M.M., Park, Y.J., Lavigne, J.P., Pitout, J. and Johnson, J.R. (2008) Intercontinental emergence of Escherichia coli clone O25:H4-ST131 producing CTX-M-15. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 61, 273-281.
- 43. Bush,K. (2010) Alarming beta-lactamase-mediated resistance in multidrugresistant Enterobacteriaceae. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.*, **13**, 558-564.
- 44. Nordmann, P., Naas, T. and Poirel, L. (2011) Global spread of Carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.*, **17**, 1791-1798.
- 45. Nordmann, P., Naas, T. and Poirel, L. (2011) Global Spread of Carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.*, **17**, 1791-1798.
- 46. Pitout, J.D. and Laupland, K.B. (2008) Extended-spectrum beta-lactamaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae: an emerging public-health concern. *Lancet Infect. Dis.*, **8**, 159-166.
- 47. Bradford,P.A. (2001) Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in the 21st century: characterization, epidemiology, and detection of this important resistance threat. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.*, **14**, 933-51, table.
- 48. Bush,K. (2010) Alarming beta-lactamase-mediated resistance in multidrugresistant Enterobacteriaceae. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.*, **13**, 558-564.
- 49. Andersson, D.I. and Levin, B.R. (1999) The biological cost of antibiotic resistance. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.*, **2**, 489-493.
- 50. Garberi, J., Labrador, J., Garberi, F., Garberi, J.E., Peneipil, J., Garberi, M., Scigliano, L. and Troncoso, A. (2012) Rapid and Biosecure Diagnostic Test for Tuberculosis. *Cell Biochem. Biophys.*.
- 51. Druszczynska, M., Kowalewicz-Kulbat, M., Fol, M., Wlodarczyk, M. and Rudnicka, W. (2012) Latent M. tuberculosis infection--pathogenesis, diagnosis, treatment and prevention strategies. *Pol. J. Microbiol.*, **61**, 3-10.
- 52. Karahan,Z.C., Mumcuoglu,I., Guriz,H., Tamer,D., Balaban,N., Aysev,D. and Akar,N. (2006) PCR evaluation of false-positive signals from two automated blood-culture systems. *J. Med. Microbiol.*, **55**, 53-57.
- 53. Kocoglu, M.E., Bayram, A. and Balci, I. (2005) Evaluation of negative results of BacT/Alert 3D automated blood culture system. *J. Microbiol.*, **43**, 257-259.
- 54. Dallenne, C., Da, C.A., Decre, D., Favier, C. and Arlet, G. (2010) Development of a set of multiplex PCR assays for the detection of genes encoding important beta-lactamases in Enterobacteriaceae. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.*, **65**, 490-495.
- 55. Leinberger, D.M., Grimm, V., Rubtsova, M., Weile, J., Schroppel, K., Wichelhaus, T.A., Knabbe, C., Schmid, R.D. and Bachmann, T.T. (2010) Integrated detection of extended-spectrum-beta-lactam resistance by DNA microarray-based genotyping of TEM, SHV, and CTX-M genes. J. Clin. Microbiol., 48, 460-471.
- 56. AKIBA,T., KOYAMA,K., ISHIKI,Y., KIMURA,S. and Fukushima,T. (1960) On the mechanism of the development of multiple-drug-resistant clones of Shigella. *Jpn. J. Microbiol.*, **4**, 219-227.
- 57. Ambler, R.P. (1980) The structure of beta-lactamases. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond B Biol. Sci.*, **289**, 321-331.
- Koenig, J.E., Boucher, Y., Charlebois, R.L., Nesbo, C., Zhaxybayeva, O., Bapteste, E., Spencer, M., Joss, M.J., Stokes, H.W. and Doolittle, W.F. (2008) Integron-associated gene cassettes in Halifax Harbour: assessment of a mobile gene pool in marine sediments. *Environ. Microbiol.*, **10**, 1024-1038.
- 59. Matsui, H., Yoneda, S., Ban-Tokuda, T. and Wakita, M. (2011) Diversity of the formyltetrahydrofolate synthetase (FTHFS) gene in the proximal and mid ostrich colon. *Curr. Microbiol.*, **62**, 1-6.
- 60. Zaprasis, A., Liu, Y.J., Liu, S.J., Drake, H.L. and Horn, M.A. (2010) Abundance of novel and diverse tfdA-like genes, encoding putative phenoxyalkanoic acid herbicide-degrading dioxygenases, in soil. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **76**, 119-128.
- 61. Hartmann,M. and Widmer,F. (2006) Community structure analyses are more sensitive to differences in soil bacterial communities than anonymous diversity indices. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **72**, 7804-7812.
- 62. Pitta,D.W., Pinchak,E., Dowd,S.E., Osterstock,J., Gontcharova,V., Youn,E., Dorton,K., Yoon,I., Min,B.R., Fulford,J.D. *et al.* (2010) Rumen bacterial diversity dynamics associated with changing from bermudagrass hay to grazed winter wheat diets. *Microb. Ecol.*, **59**, 511-522.
- 63. Stevens, H. and Ulloa, O. (2008) Bacterial diversity in the oxygen minimum zone of the eastern tropical South Pacific. *Environ. Microbiol.*, **10**, 1244-1259.

- 64. Saiki,R.K., Scharf,S., Faloona,F., Mullis,K.B., Horn,G.T., Erlich,H.A. and Arnheim,N. (1985) Enzymatic amplification of beta-globin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anemia. *Science*, **230**, 1350-1354.
- 65. Poritz, M.A., Blaschke, A.J., Byington, C.L., Meyers, L., Nilsson, K., Jones, D.E., Thatcher, S.A., Robbins, T., Lingenfelter, B., Amiott, E. *et al.* (2011) FilmArray, an Automated Nested Multiplex PCR System for Multi-Pathogen Detection: Development and Application to Respiratory Tract Infection. *PLoS. One.*, **6**, e26047.
- 66. Mercier, J.F. and Slater, G.W. (2005) Solid phase DNA amplification: a Brownian dynamics study of crowding effects. *Biophys. J.*, **89**, 32-42.
- 67. Landegren, U., Samiotaki, M., Nilsson, M., Malmgren, H. and Kwiatkowski, M. (1996) Detecting Genes with Ligases. *Methods*, **9**, 84-90.
- 68. Wiedmann, M., Wilson, W.J., Czajka, J., Luo, J., Barany, F. and Batt, C.A. (1994) Ligase chain reaction (LCR)--overview and applications. *PCR Methods Appl.*, **3**, S51-S64.
- 69. Nilsson, M., Malmgren, H., Samiotaki, M., Kwiatkowski, M., Chowdhary, B.P. and Landegren, U. (1994) Padlock probes: circularizing oligonucleotides for localized DNA detection. *Science*, **265**, 2085-2088.
- Landegren, U., Schallmeiner, E., Nilsson, M., Fredriksson, S., Baner, J., Gullberg, M., Jarvius, J., Gustafsdottir, S., Dahl, F., Soderberg, O. *et al.* (2004) Molecular tools for a molecular medicine: analyzing genes, transcripts and proteins using padlock and proximity probes. *J. Mol. Recognit.*, 17, 194-197.
- 71. Thomson,K.S. (2010) Extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase, AmpC, and Carbapenemase issues. J. Clin. Microbiol., **48**, 1019-1025.
- 72. Moland, E.S. and Thomson, K.S. (1994) Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases of Enterobacteriaceae. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., **33**, 666-668.
- 73. Garrec,H., Drieux-Rouzet,L., Golmard,J.L., Jarlier,V. and Robert,J. (2011) Comparison of nine phenotypic methods for detection of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase production by Enterobacteriaceae. *J. Clin. Microbiol.*, **49**, 1048-1057.
- Lee, K., Kim, C.K., Yong, D., Jeong, S.H., Yum, J.H., Seo, Y.H., Docquier, J.D. and Chong, Y. (2010) Improved performance of the modified Hodge test with MacConkey agar for screening carbapenemase-producing Gram-negative bacilli. *J. Microbiol. Methods*, 83, 149-152.
- 75. Ludwig, W., Strunk, O., Westram, R., Richter, L., Meier, H., Yadhukumar, Buchner, A., Lai, T., Steppi, S., Jobb, G. *et al.* (2004) ARB: a software environment for sequence data. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **32**, 1363-1371.

- 76. Woodford,N., Fagan,E.J. and Ellington,M.J. (2006) Multiplex PCR for rapid detection of genes encoding CTX-M extended-spectrum (beta)-lactamases. J. *Antimicrob. Chemother.*, **57**, 154-155.
- Woodford,N., Ellington,M.J., Coelho,J.M., Turton,J.F., Ward,M.E., Brown,S., Amyes,S.G. and Livermore,D.M. (2006) Multiplex PCR for genes encoding prevalent OXA carbapenemases in Acinetobacter spp. *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents*, 27, 351-353.
- Brown,S., Young,H.K. and Amyes,S.G. (2005) Characterisation of OXA-51, a novel class D carbapenemase found in genetically unrelated clinical strains of Acinetobacter baumannii from Argentina. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.*, **11**, 15-23.
- 79. Ellington, M.J., Kistler, J., Livermore, D.M. and Woodford, N. (2007) Multiplex PCR for rapid detection of genes encoding acquired metallo-beta-lactamases. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.*, **59**, 321-322.
- 80. Dahl,F., Baner,J., Gullberg,M., Mendel-Hartvig,M., Landegren,U. and Nilsson,M. (2004) Circle-to-circle amplification for precise and sensitive DNA analysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A*, **101**, 4548-4553.
- Wiesinger-Mayr,H., Vierlinger,K., Pichler,R., Kriegner,A., Hirschl,A.M., Presterl,E., Bodrossy,L. and Noehammer,C. (2007) Identification of human pathogens isolated from blood using microarray hybridisation and signal pattern recognition. *BMC. Microbiol.*, 7, 78.
- 82. Ludwig, W., Strunk, O., Klugbauer, S., Klugbauer, N., Weizenegger, M., Neumaier, J., Bachleitner, M. and Schleifer, K.H. (1998) Bacterial phylogeny based on comparative sequence analysis. *Electrophoresis*, **19**, 554-568.
- 83. Colwell,R.K. EstimateS: Statistical estimation of species richness and shared species from samples. Version 8.2. 2009. Ref Type: Generic
- 84. Hartmann,M. and Widmer,F. (2006) Community structure analyses are more sensitive to differences in soil bacterial communities than anonymous diversity indices. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **72**, 7804-7812.
- 85. Pitta,D.W., Pinchak,E., Dowd,S.E., Osterstock,J., Gontcharova,V., Youn,E., Dorton,K., Yoon,I., Min,B.R., Fulford,J.D. *et al.* (2010) Rumen bacterial diversity dynamics associated with changing from bermudagrass hay to grazed winter wheat diets. *Microb. Ecol.*, **59**, 511-522.
- 86. Stevens, H. and Ulloa, O. (2008) Bacterial diversity in the oxygen minimum zone of the eastern tropical South Pacific. *Environ. Microbiol.*, **10**, 1244-1259.
- 87. Eisner, A., Fagan, E.J., Feierl, G., Kessler, H.H., Marth, E., Livermore, D.M. and Woodford, N. (2006) Emergence of Enterobacteriaceae isolates producing CTX-

M extended-spectrum beta-lactamase in Austria. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, **50**, 785-787.

- Ho,P.L., Wong,R.C., Chow,K.H., Yip,K., Wong,S.S. and Que,T.L. (2008) CTX-M type beta-lactamases among fecal Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae isolates in non-hospitalized children and adults. *J. Microbiol. Immunol. Infect.*, 41, 428-432.
- 89. Zhang,Z., Guo,X. and Zhang,Q. (2009) Prevalence characterization of extendedspectrum beta-lactamases among Escherichia coli isolates collected in Zhengzhou. J. Clin. Lab Anal., 23, 404-407.
- 90. Doumith,M., Dhanji,H., Ellington,M.J., Hawkey,P. and Woodford,N. (2011) Characterization of plasmids encoding extended-spectrum beta-lactamases and their addiction systems circulating among Escherichia coli clinical isolates in the UK. J. Antimicrob. Chemother..
- 91. Romero, E.D., Padilla, T.P., Hernandez, A.H., Grande, R.P., Vazquez, M.F., Garcia, I.G., Garcia-Rodriguez, J.A. and Munoz Bellido, J.L. (2007) Prevalence of clinical isolates of Escherichia coli and Klebsiella spp. producing multiple extended-spectrum beta-lactamases. *Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.*, **59**, 433-437.
- 92. Chaves, J., Ladona, M.G., Segura, C., Coira, A., Reig, R. and Ampurdanes, C. (2001) SHV-1 beta-lactamase is mainly a chromosomally encoded species-specific enzyme in Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, **45**, 2856-2861.
- Machado, E., Coque, T.M., Canton, R., Novais, A., Sousa, J.C., Baquero, F. and Peixe, L. (2007) High diversity of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases among clinical isolates of Enterobacteriaceae from Portugal. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 60, 1370-1374.
- 94. Hentschke, M., Kotsakis, S.D., Wolters, M., Heisig, P., Miriagou, V. and Aepfelbacher, M. (2011) CMY-42, a novel plasmid-mediated CMY-2 variant AmpC beta-lactamase. *Microb. Drug Resist.*, **17**, 165-169.
- 95. Heller, I., Grif, K. and Orth, D. (2011) Emergence of VIM-1-carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacter cloacae in Tyrol, Austria. J. Med. Microbiol..
- 96. Duljasz, W., Gniadkowski, M., Sitter, S., Wojna, A. and Jebelean, C. (2009) First organisms with acquired metallo-beta-lactamases (IMP-13, IMP-22, and VIM-2) reported in Austria. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, **53**, 2221-2222.
- 97. Hoenigl,M., Valentin,T., Zarfel,G., Wuerstl,B., Leitner,E., Salzer,H.J., Posch,J., Krause,R. and Grisold,A.J. (2012) Nosocomial Outbreak of Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase producing Klebsiella oxytoca, Austria. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*..

- 98. Zarfel,G., Hoenigl,M., Wurstl,B., Leitner,E., Salzer,H.J., Valentin,T., Posch,J., Krause,R. and Grisold,A.J. (2011) Emergence of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in Austria, 2001-2010. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.*, **17**, E5-E8.
- 99. Huemer,H.P., Eigentler,A., Aschbacher,R. and Larcher,C. (2011) Dominance of CTX-M group 1 beta-lactamase enzymes in ESBL producing E. coli from outpatient urines in neighboring regions of Austria and Italy. *Wien. Klin. Wochenschr.*, **123**, 41-44.
- Prelog, M., Fille, M., Prodinger, W., Grif, K., Brunner, A., Wurzner, R. and Zimmerhackl, L.B. (2008) CTX-M-1-related extended-spectrum beta-lactamases producing Escherichia coli: so far a sporadic event in Western Austria. *Infection*, 36, 362-367.
- 101. Zarfel,G., Hoenigl,M., Leitner,E., Salzer,H.J., Feierl,G., Masoud,L., Valentin,T., Krause,R. and Grisold,A.J. (2011) Emergence of New Delhi metallo-betalactamase, Austria. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.*, **17**, 129-130.
- Diestra,K., Miro,E., Marti,C., Navarro,D., Cuquet,J., Coll,P. and Navarro,F. (2010) Multiclonal epidemic of Klebsiella pneumoniae isolates producing DHA-1 in a Spanish hospital. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.*.
- Lee,C.H., Su,L.H., Li,C.C., Chien,C.C., Tang,Y.F. and Liu,J.W. (2010) Microbiologic and clinical implications of bacteremia due to extended-spectrumbeta-lactamase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae with or without plasmidmediated AmpC beta-lactamase DHA-1. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, 54, 5395-5398.
- 104. Iabadene, H., Messai, Y., Ammari, H., Alouache, S., Verdet, C., Bakour, R. and Arlet, G. (2009) Prevalence of plasmid-mediated AmpC beta-lactamases among Enterobacteriaceae in Algiers hospitals. *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents*, **34**, 340-342.
- 105. Shi,W.F., Zhou,J. and Qin,J.P. (2009) Transconjugation and genotyping of the plasmid-mediated AmpC beta-lactamase and extended-spectrum beta-lactamase genes in Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Chin Med. J. (Engl.)*, **122**, 1092-1096.
- 106. Menezes,G.A., Khan,M.A., Harish,B.N., Parija,S.C., Goessens,W., Vidyalakshmi,K., Baliga,S. and Hays,J.P. (2010) Molecular characterization of antimicrobial resistance in non-typhoidal salmonellae associated with systemic manifestations from India. J. Med. Microbiol., 59, 1477-1483.
- 107. Duljasz, W., Gniadkowski, M., Sitter, S., Wojna, A. and Jebelean, C. (2009) First organisms with acquired metallo-beta-lactamases (IMP-13, IMP-22, and VIM-2) reported in Austria. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, **53**, 2221-2222.
- Williams, M.M., Domingo, J.W., Meckes, M.C., Kelty, C.A. and Rochon, H.S. (2004) Phylogenetic diversity of drinking water bacteria in a distribution system simulator. J. Appl. Microbiol., 96, 954-964.

- 109. Southern, E., Mir, K. and Shchepinov, M. (1999) Molecular interactions on microarrays. *Nat. Genet.*, **21**, 5-9.
- 110. von Nickisch-Rosenegk, M., Marschan, X., Andresen, D., Abraham, A., Heise, C. and Bier, F.F. (2005) On-chip PCR amplification of very long templates using immobilized primers on glassy surfaces. *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, **20**, 1491-1498.
- 111. Lamture, J.B., Beattie, K.L., Burke, B.E., Eggers, M.D., Ehrlich, D.J., Fowler, R., Hollis, M.A., Kosicki, B.B., Reich, R.K., Smith, S.R. *et al.* (1994) Direct detection of nucleic acid hybridization on the surface of a charge coupled device. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 22, 2121-2125.
- Beattie,K.L., Beattie,W.G., Meng,L., Turner,S.L., Coral-Vazquez,R., Smith,D.D., McIntyre,P.M. and Dao,D.D. (1995) Advances in genosensor research. *Clin. Chem.*, 41, 700-706.
- Rogers, Y.H., Jiang-Baucom, P., Huang, Z.J., Bogdanov, V., Anderson, S. and Boyce-Jacino, M.T. (1999) Immobilization of oligonucleotides onto a glass support via disulfide bonds: A method for preparation of DNA microarrays. *Anal. Biochem.*, 266, 23-30.
- 114. Joos, B., Kuster, H. and Cone, R. (1997) Covalent attachment of hybridizable oligonucleotides to glass supports. *Anal. Biochem.*, **247**, 96-101.
- 115. Guo,Z., Guilfoyle,R.A., Thiel,A.J., Wang,R. and Smith,L.M. (1994) Direct fluorescence analysis of genetic polymorphisms by hybridization with oligonucleotide arrays on glass supports. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **22**, 5456-5465.
- 116. Adessi, C., Matton, G., Ayala, G., Turcatti, G., Mermod, J.J., Mayer, P. and Kawashima, E. (2000) Solid phase DNA amplification: characterisation of primer attachment and amplification mechanisms. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **28**, E87.
- 117. Ghosh,S.S. and Musso,G.F. (1987) Covalent attachment of oligonucleotides to solid supports. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **15**, 5353-5372.
- 118. Wolf,S.F., Haines,L., Fisch,J., Kremsky,J.N., Dougherty,J.P. and Jacobs,K. (1987) Rapid hybridization kinetics of DNA attached to submicron latex particles. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **15**, 2911-2926.
- 119. Lund, V., Schmid, R., Rickwood, D. and Hornes, E. (1988) Assessment of methods for covalent binding of nucleic acids to magnetic beads, Dynabeads, and the characteristics of the bound nucleic acids in hybridization reactions. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **16**, 10861-10880.
- 120. Gingeras, T.R., Kwoh, D.Y. and Davis, G.R. (1987) Hybridization properties of immobilized nucleic acids. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **15**, 5373-5390.

- 121. Rasmussen, S.R., Larsen, M.R. and Rasmussen, S.E. (1991) Covalent immobilization of DNA onto polystyrene microwells: the molecules are only bound at the 5' end. *Anal. Biochem.*, **198**, 138-142.
- 122. Huang,H., Xiao,P., Qi,Z., Bu,Y., Liu,W. and Zhou,G. (2009) A gel-based solidphase amplification and its application for SNP typing and sequencing on-chip. *Analyst*, **134**, 2434-2440.
- Strizhkov,B.N., Drobyshev,A.L., Mikhailovich,V.M. and Mirzabekov,A.D. (2000) PCR amplification on a microarray of gel-immobilized oligonucleotides: detection of bacterial toxin- and drug-resistant genes and their mutations. *Biotechniques*, 29, 844-2, 854.
- 124. Rychlik, W. (1995) Priming efficiency in PCR. *Biotechniques*, 18, 84-90.
- 125. Miura, F., Uematsu, C., Sakaki, Y. and Ito, T. (2005) A novel strategy to design highly specific PCR primers based on the stability and uniqueness of 3'-end subsequences. *Bioinformatics.*, **21**, 4363-4370.
- 126. Onodera,K. and Melcher,U. (2004) Selection for 3' end triplets for polymerase chain reaction primers. *Mol. Cell Probes*, **18**, 369-372.
- 127. Qu,W., Shen,Z., Zhao,D., Yang,Y. and Zhang,C. (2009) MFEprimer: multiple factor evaluation of the specificity of PCR primers. *Bioinformatics.*, **25**, 276-278.
- 128. Chavali,S., Mahajan,A., Tabassum,R., Maiti,S. and Bharadwaj,D. (2005) Oligonucleotide properties determination and primer designing: a critical examination of predictions. *Bioinformatics.*, **21**, 3918-3925.
- 129. Shchepinov, M.S., Case-Green, S.C. and Southern, E.M. (1997) Steric factors influencing hybridisation of nucleic acids to oligonucleotide arrays. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **25**, 1155-1161.
- 130. Palanisamy, R., Connolly, A.R. and Trau, M. (2010) Considerations of solid-phase DNA amplification. *Bioconjug. Chem.*, **21**, 690-695.
- 131. Hardenbol, P., Yu, F., Belmont, J., Mackenzie, J., Bruckner, C., Brundage, T., Boudreau, A., Chow, S., Eberle, J., Erbilgin, A. *et al.* (2005) Highly multiplexed molecular inversion probe genotyping: over 10,000 targeted SNPs genotyped in a single tube assay. *Genome Res.*, **15**, 269-275.
- 132. Porreca, G.J., Zhang, K., Li, J.B., Xie, B., Austin, D., Vassallo, S.L., LeProust, E.M., Peck, B.J., Emig, C.J., Dahl, F. *et al.* (2007) Multiplex amplification of large sets of human exons. *Nat. Methods*, **4**, 931-936.

References

Padlock probe name	Sequence 5°-3'	Length
PL ACT1 Pos.384	AGGTTGCCAGATCCAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCTACAAGACTCCAGCCTGCCAAACCTCCTGCGGTAT	80
PL ACT1 Pos.7	CCAATACCGAGGGGGGGGGGGGGTGTAGCCGAGTAGCCGGACCCCCCTCTACAAGACTCCATCTGACATCGGGGTAG	81
¹ ACT1 Pos.852	CCTGATACATGGCCCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCATCCATC	79
PL CMY1 Pos.237	AACAGGGTCTGCTCGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGAACTCGTTGTACTTCCCCCACGGATCCTATCTCG	84
PL CMY1 Pos.621	GGTGTGGTGCGTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCTGCGAGTAACGTCAATCGCCTCGGCACATTGACATA	80
PL CMY1 Pos.985	AAGAGCACCTGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGGCTCTCTGTGCTACCGCTCGGAGCCGGTCTTGTTG	79
PL CMY2 Pos.1057	ACGATECCAAGETTTECECETETATECAECTCCTCEAETAECCEGECATEAEGECCCEAAGETCTTETTECCAECATC	77
PL CMY2 Pos.146	AGATAACGGCCAACGGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGTCGTCACCCCGAGAGCAAGCA	78
PL CMY2 Pos.424	CTAACGTCATCGGGGGGGGGGGGGTGTAGCGGGGGGGGGG	80
PL CTX-M1 Pos.429	GGCCGCCAACGTGAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGCCATCAGGCAGATCCCCCATACGGTGACGCTAGCCG	79
PL CTX-M1 Pos.243	GCGGCCATCACTTTACGCGCGTGTAGCGCTCGAGTAGCCGTGGGATTGGCTTACCGTCGCCGCCGCGGGCC	78
PL CTX-M1 Pos.45	AACAGCGTGACGGTTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCTTGACACCTTCCTCCCGGACTCGGCACACTTCCTAAC	81
PL CTX-M1 Pos.682	CAGGAAGCAGGCAGTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCATCTGACTCAATCAA	82
PL CTX-M2 Pos.36	ATAGCAGGGGGTAGCGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGGTCAGCCTTTACCCCCACCTACTAGCGTTGCGCTGCTAA	82
PL CTX-M2 Pos.469	TCATCACCCAACGAGGGGGGGGGTGTATGCAGCTCGTGGGGGGGG	84
PL CTX-M2 Pos.779	TAGGTCACCAGAACCAGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGCGTGGTAACCGTCCCCCTTGTCCGGTTGGGTAAAG	81
PL CTX-M25 Pos.40	CGAAACACGGGCTGTGTGTGCGGCTCCTCGGGTAGCCGCTGCTTTGGTCCGTGGCGGCGCTGGCCAGCGGCGG	80
PL CTX-M25 Pos.469	TCATCGCCAATCGTAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCTCCCCTGTGCTGCGCGCGGCGCGGAACGTG	76
PL CTX-M25 Pos.722	CGTACCATAACCGCCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCACCACCTTCCTCCGCTGCGCGGATATCATTCGT	79
PL CTX-M8 Pos.40	CGAAATACAGGCCGTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCCGAGTAGCCGGCTCCTTCAGCTTCTACTTGCACTCCCCAGCAACAG	83
PL CTX-M8 Pos.468	TATCCCCAATCGCACGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCGTCGGGGTCCATCTGGTAGTGATGCAAGTGGAGGCCGGAAGGTGT	83
PL CTX-M8 Pos.813	CGACTTTCTGCCTTCTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCGGGTTAGTTA	85
PL CTX-M9 Pos.496	GGTTCAGTGCGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	81
PL CTX-M9 Pos.731	ATCATTGGTGGTGGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCCAAGCCCACAAGGACTCCAGATCACCGCAAT	78
PL CTX-M9 Pos.76	CGTCTGCGCATAAAGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGTCCTGGCTAGAAAAGGCTAGGCTGCACCGCACT	80
PL DHA1 Pos.1029	GGAATAAAGGCGACATGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCTCCGGTGGAAAAAGAAGCGTGCCACCTGTTTTTCC	81
PL DHA1 Pos.359	TGTGATCCCCTTCCAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCGGGGGGGCGCTCTTTTTCCGGGGGGGG	80
PL DHA1 Pos.90	ATG6TGCTGTCCACCGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCGAGTAGCCGCAGGTGAGCTGGGGGCTTCACCGCCACCGCGCGCG	82
PL FOX1 Pos.230	CGAACAGGGTCTGCTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGATGGGCATTTGCATGACCTCGCGTGACCGAGCCAATCT	81
PL FOX1 Pos.825	AGAAACCGGTATGGGGGGGGGGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCGTCTTTCACTTTTGAACCATGCTGTCTCCCACCGAGT	83

Supplementary Table 1. Padlock probes designed in this study. Probe names contain information of the gene target and the nucleotide position where the padlock probes anneal.

		1
PL FOX1 Pos.988	GITATAGAGCCGCTGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGGGTCCAGAGGATGTCAGGATTTGGGTCGGGCGCGGTCTT	83
PL GES1 Pos.447	ACAGAGTCGCCCATTTGCGCGCGTGTATGCGGCTCCTCGGGTCTCTAGGGGGGGTCAGGGGATGTCGGCCGACTC	84
PL GES1 Pos.50	ATTTTCCGACGCATGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCACTCCTCTTTCCCAATTGAGTGCAATCGGTCTTGAAGGTTA	86
PL GES1 Pos.609	CGATCAGCCACCTCTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGCCATGCGGCATAAACTGTTATGCCTCCCGTTTGGTTTC	83
PL IMI1 Pos.4	CTTGGTTTTACATTAAGTGAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCCGAAAGCGCCCTTTCACTCTTTAAACAAGATGGCTATTCTA	91
PL IMI1 Pos.448	CCGCATGAATTTAGTCATGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGGGGCGTTCAGTTACTAACGTCCTTGAAATCTTTATCTCCCAATCGA	92
PL IMI1 Pos.790	TCGTTTTTTGTAGTGTATACGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGAACCATGCGGTTCAAACAACCATCCTCATGCTTGGCTTCTTTT	92
PL IMP1 Pos.38	CGGTAGCAATGCTGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCCGAAGGGGGGGG	84
PL IMP1 Pos.387	TTTGTGGCTTGAACCTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGTTCGCAACTCCGGGAGGAAGAACTCCGCTAAATGAA	84
PL IMP1 Pos.619	TTTGCCTTACCATATTTGGGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGACCCGTTCGCGACTCAAGAAAACACGGACTTGGAACAACCAGT	06
PL IMP24 Pos.22	CAAAGGAAGCATACACAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGTCCAGACTTTCCTGACCGCCGGGGGGGG	83
PL IMP24 Pos.519	ACAAAACCACCGAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGAGCATACTATGGTTAAGCCACAGGCCAGACCGTCCGGTTTA	85
PL IMP24 Pos.657	AGAGTGCTCCCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGCTCCTCGTCGCTCGACTTCCCCATGTACGTTTCA	83
PL KPC1 Pos.270	GGATGGGTGTGTGCGGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGTCGTACTCCCCCAGGCGGGGGGGG	81
PL KPC1 Pos.794	ATCCTTGTTAGGCGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGACTTATAGATGGATCCGCGCGCG	84
PL KPC1 Pos.94	CGAGTTTAGCGAATGGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCCGC	84
PL MIR1 Pos.1109	GTATGCCGCCTCAACGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGAATCAGCCATCGGCCAACCCTAGCGTCGAGGATACG	80
PL MIR1 Pos.147	AAATTACCGCCGCGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCAGGTTCGCCCGCGGGGGGGG	76
PL MIR1 Pos.41	GCAGAACTGGCGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGCGGACGGA	77
PL NDM1 Pos.123	CGTTGGTCGCCAGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCGAGCGGGCCGGGCCGGACCAGATCGCCAAAC	74
PL NDM1 Pos.563	GTCACTGGTGTGGCCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGTAACACTCCCGTACGCTGCCTTTCCCCAACGGTGATATT	83
PL NDM1 Pos.724	TCATGCTGGCCCTTGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCATCCCCCCCC	80
PL OXA1 Pos.295	CTCCATTCCTTTGGGGGGGGGGGGTGTATGCAGGTGGCGGGGGGGG	86
PL OXA1 Pos.540	GCGGCCATCACTTTACGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGCGCG	81
PL OXA1 Pos.852	AAGTGCGGACAAAAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCAGTCCCCGCACTTTCATCTTCCGCCCCAAGTTTCCTGT	82
PL OXA2 Pos.184	GTTTCTTCGATCGCACGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGTCTACCTCCTCTGACACCCCGAATGCAGGCGAGTAGC	84
PL OXA2 Pos.656	CCATCCTACCCAGCGGGGGTGTATGCAGGTCCTCGAGTAGCCGAGGGTTCCCGAAGGCACTCCCAGTCGGCCACTCAAC	80
PL 0XA23 Pos.377	AGACTGGGGACTGCAGGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGCCACTCGTCAGCAGGCAG	79
PL 0XA23 Pos.705	TTCCATCTGGCTGCTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCACTTTGTGAGGTCCGCTTGCTGCAAAAGCGACAATTT	82
PL OXA23 Pos.9	CCACATAGCAAGTAAAATATGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGATAGTGGGGGGCCCGAAGGTCAGAAAAGAAAAGAGAAGGAAG	92
PL 0XA24 Pos.3	TATAGGAAGTATAAATTTTTTCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCGAGTAGCCGCACATCCGATGGCGTGAGGGCACTAGAATAGAAATGCTGAA	91
PL 0XA24 Pos.345	AAAGTCATATCTTTCTCCCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGGATAGTGCCGAAGGGCCTGCCATTGCCTCACCT	88
PL 0XA24 Pos.752	AGACATTCCTTCTTTCATTTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCAGGGCCACAACCCTCCAAGTAGAACTTTCATTACGAATAGAACC	94
PL 0XA48 Pos.175	GTTCGCCCGTTTAAGGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCAGGTAGCCCGAGGCTGCCAGCTTTCGAACGGGTAAAAATGCTTG	85
PL 0XA48 Pos.448	TCTACATTGCCCGAAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCTCCCCGGCTGAAGGTGCTGTGGGCCAGAAACTG	79

PL 0XA48 Pos.705	TCCATATICATCGCAAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCCGGGTAGCCGTCCACTGCAGTTCCCCAGGTTGTCGGGCGTA	81
PL 0XA51 Pos.439	AACACGCTTCACTTCCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCCGAGTAGCCGATCAAAAGATGGTGGGCCGGCC	84
PL OXA51 Pos.68	ATTTGGATTAGCAGTCAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCGAGTAGCCGAGGCTTATACTCGCTGGCTCCGTTTTGAAGCGCTGTG	83
PL 0XA51 Pos.712	ATTCCCTTGAGGCTGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGATCAAAAAGGATGGACCGGCCAGCAGGGGGGGAGCGCTACAAT	85
PL OXA58 Pos.21	GCTTAAGCAAACTAAACTCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCAGAAGATGGACCGGCCAACCACGAGCCCCAATACTTAT	88
PL 0XA58 Pos.692	CCACATACCAACCCAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCGGGTAGCCGGGTTGGGTCCAGTACGCATCAGATGCCTTTTCCAACAAAAC	84
PL 0XA58 Pos.788	CTAAAGACAATTGTTTACGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCAAGCCACGAGGACTTGGGGTTCCAACTTATCTAGCACAT	88
PL PER1 Pos.22	CGAGGCAGTAACTACAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGGGGGGGG	85
PL PER1 Pos.322	ATTATCGGAGCCCAGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGGTAGCCGTCGTCGCCCGAGGGGTCCCTGATACGCTTTC	78
PL PER1 Pos.734	TTTTCCGGCTTTGATGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGTGCTTACCATAGGTAGACCGTCCGATTAGTGGCCGCAGT	84
PL RTG4 Pos. 151	CCAAATCATGCGCGGCGGGGGGGGGGCGCCCTCGGGGTGGCCGGTCGCCGGGTCCCCAACGTTTTCCCCGTTT	81
PL RTG4 Pos.497	TGTTTCCCAGCGATCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGGCCGGGCGGG	85
PL RTG4 Pos.51	GATAGCGTGAGGACATAAAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCAGTGAAGGCCATGAGATTCCCCCTGTTGCCATTAGCATTTAAT	6
PL SF01 Pos.25	GACCATCAGGGTGGTGCTGCTGTGCGGGTAGCCGGCATACAGGACCACCAGGGGGGGG	81
PL SF01 Pos.587	TAGGGTTTGCAGGCTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCAAGACAGTGCACTCCGTGAGGGGGCCTTGCCCCAAAGT	81
PL SF01 Pos.855	TTTAGCGGCAGCGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCCAAATCGACACCGTTTACAGCGTCCCTTCGGTGACAAT	83
PL SHV1 Pos.12	GAGATAATACACAGGCGAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGCTAGCGATCGTCGGCTTGGTAGGGGGTGGCTAACAGG	84
PL SHV1 Pos.261	GGATCTTTCGCTCCAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGAGGGCCCGAAGGTCCTGCTGGCGGATAGT	81
PL SHV1 Pos.734	GTTATTCGGGCCAAGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCGCCGCCGAAGTGTAAACACCCCAATGCGCTCTGCTTT	81
PL SME1 Pos.11	AGCCGTTTTAAAATTTACTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGTGTCCCACTAACCGCGACCGAC	6
PL SME1 Pos.531	CGTTTATCTCCTGGGAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGAGGCTTTCCTCCCCCAACTAAAGTGCGGCGTTGAAGTGTCA	85
PL SME1 Pos.726	GTACCTATAGCCCCACGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGGCACGGGATCCCAAGGAAGG	84
PL TEM1 Pos.457	ACATGATCCCCCATGGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGACAACGCGGCGAACAACCACCCCGATCAAGGCGAGTT	82
PL TEM1 Pos.46	AGGAAGGCAAAAATGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCGAGCGGGAGGCGGTGGAACCCTGGGTGAGCAAAAAC	81
PL TEM1 Pos.631	GCAACTITATCCGCCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGTCCACCACAGAGGGATGCCCTCGCAGAAGTGGTCCT	80
PL VEB1 Pos.203	TCGGAAATTTCATAACGCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCCCCGGATAACGCTTGCGACCTATGTACAAACGGCTAAAGCAA	89
PL VEB1 Pos.851	TTTTGCAATGTCTGAAATAAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCCCGTCATGCGACAGGGCAAATAGTAATTCCACGTTAT	88
PL VIM1 Pos.430	GTTCCCCTCTCGCCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGAACACTCGCCCGCC	82
PL VIM1 Pos.743	CTGTGTGCTGGAGCAGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGAATAAGTTGGGTGTCGGCGGCTGCCTTTGACAACGTTCG	87
PL VIM2 Pos.432	TCGTTCCCCTCTACCGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGGCCG	83
PL VIM2 Pos.687	GTGCTTCCGGGTAGTGCGCGTGTATGCAGCTCCTCGAGTAGCCGCCGTGCTTGAGGGCAGCAATGACCGGAATGACGAACT	81

Supplementary Table 2. Synthetic templates used in this study to evaluate the ligation process of padlock probes. Names of templates are corresponding to names of padlock probes.

Synthetic template name	Sequence 5' 3'	Length
tar ACT1 Pos.384	TGGATCTGGCAACCTATACCGCAGGAGGTT	30
tar ACT1 Pos.7	CCTGCTCGGTATTGGCTACCCCGATGTCAGA	31
tar ACT1 Pos.852	GGGCCATGTATCAGGGGTTAGGCTGGGAAA	30
tar CMY1 Pos.237	CGAGCAGACCCTGTTCGAGATAGGATCCGTG	31
tar CMY1 Pos.621	GCATGCACCACACCTATGTCAATGTGCCGA	30
tar CMY1 Pos.985	GAGCCAGGTGCTCTTCAACAAGACCGGCTC	30
tar CMY2 Pos.1057	AAACCTTGGCATCGTGATGCTGGCAAACAA	30
tar CMY2 Pos.146	CCGTTGCCGTTATCTACCAGGGAAAACCCT	30
tar CMY2 Pos.424	CCCCGATGACGTTAGGGATAAAGCCGCATT	30
tar CTX-M1 Pos.429	TCACGTTGGCGGCCCGGCTAGCGTCACC	28
tar CTX-M1 Pos.45	AACCGTCACGCTGTTGTTAGGAAGTGTGCCG	31
tar CTX-M1 Pos.682	ACTGCCTGCTTCCTGGGTTGTGGGGGGATAA	30
tar CTX-M2 Pos.36	CGCTACCCCTGCTATTTAGCAGCGCAACG	29
tar CTX-M2 Pos.469	CTCGTTGGGTGATGAGACCTTCCGTCTGGA	30
tar CTX-M2 Pos.779	CTGGTTCTGGTGACCTACTTTACCCAACCGGA	32
tar CTX-M25 Pos.40	ACAGCCTGTGTTTCGCTGCTGTTGGCCAG	29
tar CTX-M25 Pos.469	TACGATTGGCGATGACACGTTCCGGCTC	28
tar CTX-M25 Pos.722	GGCGGTTATGGTACGACGAATGATATCGCG	30
tar CTX-M3 SNP243	GTAAAGTGATGGCCGCGGCCGCGGTGCTG	29
tar CTX-M8 Pos.40	ACGGCCTGTATTTCGCTGTTGCTGGGGAGT	30
tar CTX-M8 Pos.468	GTGCGATTGGGGATAACACCTTCCGGCTC	29
tar CTX-M8 Pos.813	AGAAGGCAGAAAGTCGTCGTGACGTACTCGC	31
tar CTX-M9 Pos.496	GGATCGCACTGAACCTACGCTGAATACCGC	30
tar CTX-M9 Pos.731	GGCACCACCAATGATATTGCGGTGATCTGG	30
tar CTX-M9 Pos.76	CTTTATGCGCAGACGAGTGCGGTGCAGC	28
tar DHA1 Pos.1029	ATGTCGCCTTTATTCCGGAAAAACAGGTGGC	31
tar DHA1 Pos.359	TGGAAGGGGATCACATTGCTGGATCTGGCT	30
tar DHA1 Pos.90	GGTGGACAGCACCATTAAACCGCTGATGGC	30
tar FOX1 Pos.230	AGCAGACCCTGTTCGAGATTGGCTCGGTCA	30
tar FOX1 Pos.825	CCCATACCGGTTTCTACTCGGTGGGAGACA	30
tar FOX1 Pos.988	GCAGCGGCTCTATAACAAGACGGGCTCGAC	30
tar GES1 Pos.447	AAATTGGCGACTCTGTGAGTCGGCTAGACCG	31
tar GES1 Pos.50	ATGCGTCGGAAAAATTAACCTTCAAGACCGAT	32
tar GES1 Pos.609	AGAGGTGGCTGATCGGAAACCAAACGGGAG	30
tar IMI1 Pos.4	TCACTTAATGTAAAACCAAGTAGAATAGCCATCTTGTTTA	40
tar IMI1 Pos.448	ATGACTAAATTCATGCGGTCGATTGGAGATAAAGATTT	38
tar IMI1 Pos.790	GTATACACTACAAAAAACGAAAAAGAAGCCAAGCATGA	38
tar IMP1 Pos.38	GCAGCATTGCTACCGCAGCAGAGTCTTTGCC	31
tar IMP1 Pos.387	AGGTTCAAGCCACAAATTCATTTAGCGGAGTT	32
tar IMP1 Pos.619	CCAAATATGGTAAGGCAAAACTGGTTGTTCCAAGTC	36
tar IMP24 Pos.22	TGTGTATGCTTCCTTTGTAGCATTACTGCC	30
tar IMP24 Pos.519	TCGGTGGTTGTTTGTTAAACCGGACGGTCT	31
tar IMP24 Pos.657	GGGACGCATCACTCTTGAAACGTACATGGGA	31
tar KPC1 Pos.270	TGGACACCCCATCCGTTACGGCAAAAATGC	31
tar KPC1 Pos.794	GCGCCTAACAAGGATGACAAGCACAGCGAG	30
tar KPC1 Pos.94	CCATTCGCTAAACTCGAACAGGACTTTGGCG	31
tar MIR1 Pos.1109	GTTGAGGCGGCATACCGTATCCTCGACGC	29

tar MIR1 Pos 147	CGGTGGCGGTAATTTATCAGGGTCAGCCAC	30
tar MIR1 Pos 41	GTCGCCAGTTCTGCATTCGCCGCACC	26
tar NDM1 Pos.123	CTGGCGACCAACGGTTTGGCGATCTGGT	28
tar NDM1 Pos 563	GGCCACACCAGTGACAATATCACCGTTGGGA	31
tar NDM1 Pos.724	CAAGGCCAGCATGATCGTGATGAGCCATT	29
tar OXA1 Pos 295		32
tar OXA1 Pos 540	GTAAAATTATTAATCACAATCTCCCAGTT	29
tar OXA1 Pos 852		30
tar OXA2 Pos 184	GTGCGATCGAAGAAACGCTACTCGCCTGCAT	31
tar OXA2 Pos 656	TGGTGGGTAGGATGGGTTGAGTGGCCGACT	30
tar OXA23 Pos 377		31
tar OXA23 Pos 705		31
tar OXA23 Pos 0		40
tar OXA23 F05.9		40
tar OXA24 P08.3		42
tar OXA24 P05.343		40
tar OXA24 Pos.752		40
tar OXA48 Pos. 175		31
tar OXA48 Pos.448		31
tar OXA48 Pos.705		30
tar OXA51 Pos.439	GGAAGIGAAGCGIGIIGGIIAIGGCAAIGCA	31
tar OXA51 Pos.68	TGACTGCTAATCCAAATCACAGCGCTTCAAAA	32
tar OXA51 Pos.712	CAGCCTCAAGGGAATATTGTAGCGTTCTCCCT	32
tar OXA58 Pos.21	GAGTTTAGTTTGCTTAAGCATAAGTATTGGGGCTTGT	37
tar OXA58 Pos.692	TGGGTTGGTATGTGGGTTTTGTTGAAAAGGCA	32
tar OXA58 Pos.788	CGTAAACAATTGTCTTTAGATGTGCTAGATAAGTTGG	37
tar PER1 Pos.22	TGTAGTTACTGCCTCGACGCTACTGATGGTATC	33
tar PER1 Pos.322	CTGGGCTCCGATAATGAAAGCGTATCAGGGA	31
tar PER1 Pos.734	ATCAAAGCCGGAAAAACTGCGGCCACTAAT	30
tar RTG4 Pos.151	TGCGCATGATTTGGAAACGGGAAAACGTT	29
tar RTG4 Pos.497	GATCGCTGGGAAACAGAACTTAACGAAGCGG	31
tar RTG4 Pos.51	TTTATGTCTCACGCTATCATTAAATGCTAATGCAACAG	38
tar SFO1 Pos.25	ACCACCCTGATGGTCGCTACGGTTATGCCG	30
tar SFO1 Pos.587	AGCCTGCAAACCCTAACTTTGGGCAAGGC	29
tar SFO1 Pos.855	CTGCTGCCGCTAAAATTGTCACCGAAGGG	29
tar SHV1 Pos.12	TCGCCTGTGTATTATCTCCCTGTTAGCCACCC	32
tar SHV1 Pos.261	TGGAGCGAAAGATCCACTATCGCCAGCAGG	30
tar SHV1 Pos.734	CTTGGCCCGAATAACAAAGCAGAGCGCATT	30
tar SME1 Pos.11	AGTAAATTTTAAAACGGCTTCATTTTTGTTTAGTGTTTGT	40
tar SME1 Pos.531	TCCCAGGAGATAAACGTGACACTTCAACGCC	31
tar SME1 Pos.726	GTGGGGCTATAGGTACTGCGAATGATTATGCCG	33
tar VEB1 Pos.203	GCGTTATGAAATTTCCGATTGCTTTAGCCGTTTTGT	36
tar VEB1 Pos.851	TTATTTCAGACATTGCAAAAATAACGTGGAATTACTATTT	40
tar VIM1 Pos.430	GAGGCAGAGGGGAACGAGATTCCCACGCAT	30
tar VIM1 Pos.743	TTGCTCCAGCACACGCGAACGTTGTCAAAGCA	33
tar VIM2 Pos.432	GGTAGAGGGGAACGAGATTCCCACGCACTC	30
tar VIM2 Pos.687	ACTACCCGGAAGCACAGTTCGTCATTCCGG	30
tarTEM1 Pos.457	CATGGGGGATCATGTAACTCGCCTTGATCG	30
tarTEM1 Pos.46	GCATTTTGCCTTCCTGTTTTTGCTCACCCAG	31
tarTEM1 Pos.631	GGCGGATAAAGTTGCAGGACCACTTCTGCG	30

Synthetic template name	Sequence 5' 3'	Length
synt c.pneu. P108	GCGGAAGGGTTAGTAGTACATAGATAATCTGCCCT	35
synt c.pneu. P646	CCCAAGTCAGCATTTAAAACTATCTTTCTAGAGGATAG	38
synt c.pneu. P191	AGTGTAATTAGGCATCTAATATATATATAAGAAGGGGATC	40
synt b.per. P737	CTGTTTGCTCCCCACACTTTCGTGCATGAGCG	32
synt b.per. P574	GTTAAGCCCTGGGATTTCACATCTTTCTTTCCGAA	35
synt b.per. P46	AGTCGGACGGCAGCACGGGCTTCGGCCT	28
synt k.king. P79	ACGGCAGCCACGAGTACTTGTACTTGGTGGC	31
synt k.king.P1008	CATGTACGGAAGAGAGTAGAGATACTCTTGTGCC	34
synt k.king. P455	TGTTAGGGAAGAAAAGGTTGATGCTAATATCATTAACTG	39
synt m.hom.P1001	CCATCTGTCACTCCGATAACCTCCACTATATCTCT	35
synt m.hom. P170a	ACAACGGAACCATGCGGTTCCATGCGTATCCG	32
synt m.hom. P170b	GGATACGCATGGAACCGCATGGTTCCGTTGTG	32

Supplementary Table 3. Synthetic templates used in this study to evaluate the ligation process of looplock probes. Names of templates are corresponding to names of looplock probes.

Supplementary Table 4. Microarray oligonucleotides used in this study and their corresponding padlock probes.

Name	Sequence 5' 3'	Padlock target	Length
Bsrev	TTTTTTTTTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGAGC	Hybridization control	21
ecl6	TTTTTTTTTCTACAAGACTCCAGCCTGCCA	PL ACT1 Pos.384	21
ecl7	TTTTTTTTTACCCCCCTCTACAAGACTCCA	PL ACT1 Pos.7	22
efa2	TTTTTTTTCATCCATCAGCGACACCCGA	PL ACT1 Pos.852	20
efa3	TTTTTTTTACTTCGCAACTCGTTGTACTTCCC	PL CMY1 Pos.237	24
ena4	TTTTTTTTTTCTGCGAGTAACGTCAATCGCC	PL CMY1 Pos.621	22
kpn1	TTTTTTTTGCTCTCTGTGCTACCGCTCG	PL CMY1 Pos.985	20
kpn2	TTTTTTTTGCATGAGGCCCGAAGGTC	PL CMY2 Pos.1057	18
klo1	TTTTTTTTCGTCACCCGAGAGCAAGC	PL CMY2 Pos.146	19
klo2	TTTTTTTTCCAGCCTGCCAGTTTCGAATG	PL CMY2 Pos.424	21
mom2	TTTTTTTTGCCATCAGGCAGATCCCCATAC	PL CTX-M1 Pos.429	22
mom3	TTTTTTTTTTTGACACCTTCCTCCCGACT	PL CTX-M1 Pos.45	21
mom4	TTTTTTTTCATCTGACTCAATCAACCGCCTG	PL CTX-M1 Pos.682	23
pmi3	TTTTTTTTGTCAGCCTTTACCCCACCTACTAG	PL CTX-M2 Pos.36	24
pmi5	TTTTTTTTCCAACCAGTTTCAGATGCAATTCCC	PL CTX-M2 Pos.469	25
psa6	TTTTTTTTCGTGGTAACCGTCCCCCTTG	PL CTX-M2 Pos.779	20
pvu2	TTTTTTTTTCTGCTTTGGTCCGTAGACGTCA	PL CTX-M25 Pos.40	22
sem1	TTTTTTTTTCTCCCCTGTGCTACCGCTC	PL CTX-M25 Pos.469	19
sem2	TTTTTTTTCACCACCTTCCTCCTCGCTG	PL CTX-M25 Pos.722	20
sma3	TTTTTTTTTGGGATTGGCTTACCGTCGC	PL CTX-M3 SNP243	20
spn1	TTTTTTTTTCTCCTCCTTCAGCGTTCTACTTGC	PL CTX-M8 Pos.40	24
spn3	TTTTTTTTGGTCCATCTGGTAGTGATGCAAGTG	PL CTX-M8 Pos.468	25
spy2	TTTTTTTTTCTGGTTAGTTACCGTCACTTGGTGG	PL CTX-M8 Pos.813	25
cal1	TTTTTTTTGGCCAAGGCTTATACTCGCTGG	PL CTX-M9 Pos.496	22
cgl1	TTTTTTTTCCGCCAAGCCACAAGGACT	PL CTX-M9 Pos.731	19
cpa1	TTTTTTTTTCCTGGTTCGCCAAAAAGGCTA	PL CTX-M9 Pos.76	22
efa51	TTTTTTTTTCTCCGGTGGAAAAAGAAGCGT	PL DHA1 Pos.1029	21
efa52	TTTTTTTTCTCTTTTTCCGGTGGAGCAAG	PL DHA1 Pos.359	21
sta2	TTTTTTTTCAGTCAACCTAGAGTGCCCAACT	PL DHA1 Pos.90	23
sta4	TTTTTTTTTTTGGGATTTGCATGACCTCGCG	PL FOX1 Pos.230	22
sar1	TTTTTTTTCCGTCTTTCACTTTTGAACCATGC	PL FOX1 Pos.825	24
sep2	TTTTTTTTGGGTCAGAGGATGTCAAGATTTGG	PL FOX1 Pos.988	24
sep3	TTTTTTTTTTATCTCTAGAGGGGTCAGAGGATGT	PL GES1 Pos.447	24
efc1	TTTTTTTTCCACTCCTCTTTCCAATTGAGTGCA	PL GES1 Pos.50	25
efc2	TTTTTTTTGCCATGCGGCATAAACTGTTATGC	PL GES1 Pos.609	24
efc3	TTTTTTTTCCCGAAAGCGCCTTTCACTCTT	PL IMI1 Pos.4	22
efc4	TTTTTTTTGGACGTTCAGTTACTAACGTCCTTG	PL IMI1 Pos.448	25
bsu2	TTTTTTTTTAACCATGCGGTTCAAACAACCATCC	PL IMI1 Pos.790	25
bsu4	TTTTTTTTCCCGAAGGGGACGTCCTATCTCTA	PL IMP1 Pos.38	24
smi1	TTTTTTTTCGTTCGCAACTCATCCGGAGAAG	PL IMP1 Pos.387	23
smu1	TTTTTTTTACCCGTTCGCGACTCAAGAAAACAC	PL IMP1 Pos.619	25
smu3	TTTTTTTTTCCAGACTTTCCTGACCGCCTG	PL IMP24 Pos.22	22
ssa2	TTTTTTTTAGCATACTATGGTTAAGCCACAGCC	PL IMP24 Pos.519	25
sca1	TTTTTTTTGCTCCTCGTCTGTTCGCTCGACT	PL IMP24 Pos.657	23
sap3	TTTTTTTTGTCGTACTCCCCAGGCGGAG	PL KPC1 Pos.270	21
sau1	TTTTTTTTACTTATAGATGGATCCGCGCTGCAT	PL KPC1 Pos.794	25
buc1	TTTTTTTTCCCGCTTTCATCCGTGGATCGTAT	PL KPC1 Pos.94	24

buc2	TTTTTTTTAATCAGCCATCGGCCAACCCTA	PL MIR1 Pos.1109	22
pbu2	TTTTTTTTCAGTTCGCGCCGCAGGG	PL MIR1 Pos.147	17
pbu1	TTTTTTTTCCGACGGATCTTTGCTCCTCGT	PL MIR1 Pos.41	22
pbu3	TTTTTTTTCCAGACCGTACGGGCCG	PL NDM1 Pos.123	17
pin3	TTTTTTTTTGTAACACTCCCGTACGCTGCCTT	PL NDM1 Pos.563	23
pin1	TTTTTTTTTCATCCCCATCCTCCACCGATGA	PL NDM1 Pos.724	22
pme1	TTTTTTTTTCGGCAGGTTATCCCACAGTAATGG	PL OXA1 Pos.295	25
hin3	TTTTTTTTCGCCAGAGTTAAACCCCAACCCC	PL OXA1 Pos.540	23
hin1	TTTTTTTTCAGTCCCGCACTTTCATCTTCCG	PL OXA1 Pos.852	23
nme3	TTTTTTTTTTTCTACCTCCCTCTGACACACTCGA	PL OXA2 Pos.184	24
esa3	TTTTTTTTAGAGTTCCCGAAGGCACTCCC	PL OXA2 Pos.656	21
esa1	TTTTTTTTGCCACTCGTCAGCAGAGCA	PL OXA23 Pos.377	19
pag3	TTTTTTTTCACTTTGTGAGGTCCGCTTGCT	PL OXA23 Pos.705	22
pag1	TTTTTTTTCGATAGTGAGAGGCCCGAAGGTC	PL OXA23 Pos.9	23
ven1	TTTTTTTTCACATCCGATGGCGTGAGGC	PL OXA24 Pos.3	20
pmi11	TTTTTTTTCGATAGTGCAAGGTCCGAAGAGCC	PL OXA24 Pos.345	24
sen2	TTTTTTTTCAAGGGCACAACCTCCAAGTAGACA	PL OXA24 Pos 752	25
sen1	TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	PL OXA48 Pos 175	 25
knn11	TTTTTTTTCCTCCCCGCTGAAAGTGCT	PL OXA48 Pos 448	19
sma11	TTTTTTTTTCCACTGCAGTTCCCAGGTTGA	PL OXA48 Pos 705	22
calv1		PL OXA51 Pos 439	23
calv3		PL OXA51 Pos 68	20
caixo		PL OXA51 Pos 712	24
cpaxz		PL OXAST F05.712	24
CUX I			22
			20
cgix2		PL UXA58 POS.788	22
cgixi		PL PER1 P0S.22	23
iorx2		PL PER1 Pos.322	18
IOTX1		PL PER1 Pos.734	25
aspx1		PL RTG4 Pos.151	23
aspx2	TTTTTTTTGCCGAGCGGGTCATCATAGAAACAC	PL RTG4 Pos.497	25
anix1	TTTTTTTTTCCAGTGAAGGCCATGAGATTCCC	PL RTG4 Pos.51	23
fnex2	TTTTTTTTGCATACAGGACCACCAGGAGGT	PL SFO1 Pos.25	22
fnex1	TTTTTTTTCAAGACAGTGCACTCCGTGAGGA	PL SFO1 Pos.587	23
aac2	TTTTTTTTCCCAAATCGACACCGTTTACAGCGT	PL SFO1 Pos.855	25
aac1	TTTTTTTTGCTAGCGATCGTCGGCTTGGTAG	PL SHV1 Pos.12	23
bor1	TTTTTTTTCAATAGTGCGAGGCCCGAAGGT	PL SHV1 Pos.261	22
bru1	TTTTTTTTCGCCACCGAAGTGTAAACACCC	PL SHV1 Pos.734	22
bru2	TTTTTTTTTGTCTCCACTAACCGCGACCG	PL SME1 Pos.11	21
fra1	TTTTTTTTAGGCTTTCCTCCCCAACTAAAGTGC	PL SME1 Pos.531	25
myc2	TTTTTTTTGGCACGGATCCCAAGGAAGGAA	PL SME1 Pos.726	22
myc1	TTTTTTTTTCACGAACAACGCGACAAACCACC	PL TEM1 Pos.457	23
twh2	TTTTTTTTCGACACGGAAGCGGTGGAACC	PL TEM1 Pos.46	21
twh1	TTTTTTTTTCCACCCACAGAGGATGCCCT	PL TEM1 Pos.631	21
myc2	TTTTTTTTTCCGGATAACGCTTGCGACCTATGT	PL VEB1 Pos.203	24
mfl1	TTTTTTTTCACCCGTCATGCGACAGGC	PL VEB1 Pos.851	19
ckru1	TTTTTTTTTAACACTCGCTCTCGGCCGCCAAG	PL VIM1 Pos.430	23
afum1	TTTTTTTTAATAAAGTTGGGTGTCGGCTGGCGC	PL VIM1 Pos.743	25
anig1	TTTTTTTTGCGCCGGCCAATCCTACAGAGCAT	PL VIM2 Pos.432	24
afum2	TTTTTTTTCCGTGCTTGAGGGCAGCAATGA	PL VIM2 Pos.687	22
aba1	TTTTTTTCAAGCTACCTTCCCCCGCT		19

aba2	TTTTTTTTTGTAACGTCCACTATCTCTAGGTATTAACTAAAGTAG	36
aba4	TTTTTTTTGCAGTATCCTTAAAGTTCCCATCCGAAAT	29
ajo2	TTTTTTTTTCCCAGTATCGAATGCAATTCCTAAGTT	28
ajo3	TTTTTTTTGAAAGTTCTTACTATGTCAAGACCAGGTAAG	31
ajo4	TTTTTTTTTTCTTAACCCGCTGGCAAATAAGGAAAA	26
alw1	TTTTTTTTGAGATGTTGTCCCCCACTAATAGGC	25
alw2	TTTTTTTTTGACTTAATTGGCCACCTACGCG	23
alw3	TTTTTTTTTCCCATACTCTAGCCAACCAGTATCG	25
ara1	TTTTTTTTCGCTGAATCCAGTAGCAAGCTAC	23
ara2	TTTTTTTTTGTCCACTATCCTAAAGTATTAATCTAGGTAGCCT	34
ara3	TTTTTTTTCCGAAGTGCTGGCAAATAAGGAAA	24
cif1	TTTTTTTTGCTCCTCTGCTACCGTTCG	19
cif2	TTTTTTTTCCACAACGCCTTCCTCCTCG	20
cif3	TTTTTTTTTTCTGCGAGTAACGTCAATCGCTG	23
cik1	TTTTTTTTCGGGTAACGTCAATTGCTGTGG	22
cik2	TTTTTTTTCGAGACTCAAGCCTGCCAGTAT	22
ecl4	TTTTTTTTGCGGGTAACGTCAATTGCTGC	21
efa1	TTTTTTTTCAAGCTCCGGTGGAAAAAGAAGC	23
ena2	TTTTTTTTGGTTATTAACCTTAACGCCTTCCTCCT	27
ena3	TTTTTTTTCAATCGCCAAGGTTATTAACCTTAACGC	28
pmi4	TTTTTTTTGGGTATTAACCTTATCACCTTCCTCCC	27
pmi6	TTTTTTTTTGTTCAAGACCACAACCTCTAAATCGAC	27
psa4	TTTTTTTTGATTTCACATCCAACTTGCTGAACCA	26
psa5	TTTTTTTTTTCTCCTTAGAGTGCCCACCCG	21
pvu4	TTTTTTTTTTCCCGAAGGCACTCCTCTATCTCTA	26
sem3	TTTTTTTTGAGTAACGTCAATTGATGAGCGTATTAAGC	30
sma1	TTTTTTTTAGCTGCCTTCGCCATGGATGTTC	23
spn5	TTTTTTTTTTCTTGCACTCAAGTTAAACAGTTTCCAAAG	30
spv1	TTTTTTTTTATTACTAACATGCGTTAGTCTCTCTTATGCG	31
spv3	TTTTTTTTTTTCTCCAGTTTCCAAAGCGTACATTG	26
efa42	TTTTTTTTCCGTCAAGGGATGAACAGTTACTCTCATCCTTGTTCTTC	
efa43	TTTTTTTTTTATTAGCTTAGCCTCGCGACTTCGCAACTCGTTGTACTTC	39
sta1	TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	26
sta3		23
sar2		19
sar3		27
son1		26
eco2	TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	40
eco3		
beu7		28
bat1		20
bat?		29
okoE		20
ofr5		20
0002		20
cpe3		22
cher		33
cpez		29
cui2		28
CUIS		30
		36
imo1	TTTTTTTTTGCCGAAACCATCTTCAAAAGCGTGG	26

lmo3	TTTTTTTTTTCTTCGCGACCCTTTGTACTATCCATTGTAG	30
lmo2	TTTTTTTTGGTTAGATACCGTCAAGGGACAAGCAG	28
sag2	TTTTTTTTTCCACTCCTACCAACGTTCTTCTCTAACA	29
sag1	TTTTTTTTCCGTTCGCAACTCATCAGTCTAGTGTAAAC	30
sag3	TTTTTTTTTCACTTCTGCTCCGAAGAGAAAGCCTAT	28
sdy3	TTTTTTTTCGAAGGGAAAGCCTATCTCTAGACCGG	27
sdy1	TTTTTTTTTTCTGGTTAGTTACCGTCACATGGTGGATT	29
sdy2	TTTTTTTTTCTCCAGTTTCCAAAGCGTACAATGGTTGA	29
smi2	TTTTTTTTTCTGGTAGTGATGCAATTGCACCTTTTAAGC	30
smi3	TTTTTTTTTTCTGGTAAGATACCGTCACAGTGTGAACT	30
smu2	TTTTTTTTTGCGCTTGCATCTTTCAATCAATTATCATGCA	32
ssa3	TTTTTTTTACTCAAGTTAAACAGTTTCCAAAGCATACT	30
ssa1	TTTTTTTTCCATCTGGTAGTGATGCAATTGCATCTTTCAATT	34
sca2	TTTTTTTTCGCTAACGTCAGAGGAGCAAGCTC	24
sha1	TTTTTTTTAGTGATAGCAAAACCATCTTTCACTATCGAACCA	34
sha2	TTTTTTTTACACGTATGTTCTTCCCTAATAACAGAGTTTTACGA	36
sha3	TTTTTTTTTCAAGACGTGCATAGTTACTTACACGTATGTTCTTC	36
sho1	TTTTTTTTGAAGTTATCCCAGTCTTATAGGTAGGTTACCTACGT	36
sho3	TTTTTTTTGCAGGTCCATCTATAAGTGATAGCAGAGCC	30
sho2	TTTTTTTTTTTTTGCGGTTCAACATATTATCCGGTATTAGCTCC	33
slu2	TTTTTTTTACGTTTGTTCTTCCCTAATAACAGAGTTTTACGATCCTAAGA	42
slu1	TTTTTTTTAGTGATAGCAAAACCATCTTTCACTATTGAACCA	34
sap1	TTTTTTTTTGCGGTTCYAAATGTTATCCGGTATTAGCTCC	32
swa1	TTTTTTTTACAGCAAAGCCGCCTTTCACTATTGA	26
swa2	TTTTTTTTGATCAGGTACCGTCAAGATGTGCACA	26
sxy1	TTTTTTTTGCGGTTCTAAATGTTATCCGGTATTAGCTCC	31
sxy3	TTTTTTTTCCTAATAACAGAGTTTTACGAGCCGAAACCC	31
sxy2	TTTTTTTTTCACTTTAGAACCATGCGGTTCCAAATGT	29
sau2	TTTTTTTTTTTTTGTGCACAGTTACTTACACATATGTTCTTCCCTAAT	37
ste1	TTTTTTTTAAGTGACAGCAAAACCGTCTTTCACTATTGA	31
ste3	TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	31
ste2	TTTTTTTTTGATTAGGTACCGTCAAGACGTGCATAGT	29
bce2	TTTTTTTTACTGAATGATGGCAACTAAGATCAAGGGTT	30
bce1	TTTTTTTTAGGTGCCAGCTTATTCAACTAGCACT	26
buc3	TTTTTTTTGGGGATTTCACATCGGTCTTAGCAAACC	28
pin2	TTTTTTTTTTACTCCCCAACAAAAGCAGTTTACAACCC	29
pme2	TTTTTTTTTTATCCATTACCGATAAATCTTTACTTCAAATCTGATGCCG	39
pme3	TTTTTTTTTGAGCGTCTACATTTCACAACACACTTAATCTC	33
hin2	TTTTTTTTCGGTGCTTCTTCTGTATTTAACGTCAATTTGATGT	35
nme1	TTTTTTTTCGATCAGTTATCCCCCACTACTCGGT	26
nme2	TTTTTTTTTTATTAGCAACAGCCTTTTCTTCCCTGACA	28
bfr2	TTTTTTTTACATACAAAACAGTATACATACTGCACTTTATTCT	35
bfr3	TTTTTTTTTCCACATCATTCCACTGCAATTTAAGCCC	30
bfr1	TTTTTTTTACCTCACCAACAACCTAATGGAACGC	26
cje1	TTTTTTTTACACCGAAAAACTTTCCCTACTCAACTTGT	30
cje2	TTTTTTTTCCCAACAACTAGTGTACATCGTTTAGGGC	29
cje3	TTTTTTTTAGCACCCTCTTATCTCTAAAAGGTTCTTAGGA	32
cam1	TTTTTTTTTCAAGGGCACAACCTCCAAATAGACA	26
cam2	TTTTTTTTTCTGCCAAGTTCTGTGGATGTCAAGACC	27
esa2	TTTTTTTTGCAGGATTCTCTGGATGTCAAGACCA	26
pag2	TTTTTTTTGCCATTACCCCGCCTACTAGCT	22

yes2TITTITTITGCTCCTCTGCGAGTAACGTCAATCCA28yps2TITTITTITTTGCTAAGGCCCCACCTTGCT27yps1TITTITTITTTCCTCAAGGCCCCACTTGCT22aca2TITTITTTTTCCCCACACTTAGCTAACCAGTATCG28aca3TITTITTTTTCCCCACACTCTAGCTAACCAGTATCG28aca4TITTITTTTCCCCACACTCTAGCTAACCAGTACGAGT29elk2TITTITTTTCCCCACACTCTCAGCTAACCAGTATCGG31elk3TITTITTTTCCCCCCACACTCACTACACATACGGTATCGG28elk4TITTITTTTCCCCCACACTCACTACACATACGGTATCGG28pm12TITTITTTTCCTCCCCACACTCACTACCACTACGGTACGG	ven3	TTTTTTTTACAGACTTTATGTGGTCCGCTTGCTC	26
yps2TITTITTTGCGTATTAAACTCAACCCCTTCCTCCT27yps1TITTITTTTGCACCCCCCACTTGCT22aca2TITTITTTTTTTTTCCCCTAACGTCAGTGTAGGC23aca1TITTITTTTTGCACTCACGTCAGTGTAAGGC29eik3TITTITTTTTTTTTTCCCCCACCCTCAGGTATAGCAGCGAGT28aca3TITTITTTTTTTTTTCCCCCACCCACTGCGGTATAGCAGCGAGT28eik3TITTITTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCCCCACCACTGCGGTATAGCGAAGCCAGT28eik4TITTITTTTTTTTTTTTTCCCCCACCACTGCGGTATAGCYACC29pw112TITTITTTTTTCCCCCACCACTGCGGTATTAGCYACC27pw112TITTITTTTCCCCCCCCCTAGCCGCATAGCGGCAGG26aba12TITTITTTTCCCCCCCCCATACCGAGCGCCACCA26aba12TITTITTTTCCCCCCCCCCACACCACACACACACACAC26aba12TITTITTTTCCCCCCCCCAGACGCTACGACAAAAAGG28pm111TITTTTTTCCCCCCCCGGCGCATAAATGGCA28pm111TITTTTTTCCCCCCCCGGCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	ven2	TTTTTTTTTGCTTCTTCTGCGAGTAACGTCAATCCA	28
yp1TITTITTICCCTAAGGTCCCCACTTIGCT22aca2TITTITTITCCCCTAAGGTCCCCACCTTAGCG23aca3TITTITTITTIGCACTCCACCTCTAGCTAACCAGATAGCG29elk3TITTITTITTGGAAGGTCTACCACTCTACGCAACCAGGT29elk3TITTITTTTACCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	vps2	TTTTTTTTGCGTATTAAACTCAACCCCTTCCTCCT	27
aca2 TITTITITTGCACCTCAGCGTCAGTGTTAGGC 23 aca3 TITTITTTTTTCCCCACACTCTGCTAGCTAACGAGTATCG 28 aca3 TITTITTTTTTTTTTCCCCACCTCTGCTAAATAACCGCTGCG 29 eik3 TITTITTTTTTTCCCCACCTCTGCTTAAATAACCGCTGCG 21 eik4 TITTITTTTTTCCCCACCACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCAGCTACCGCCCC 29 pm12 TITTITTTTTCCAAGCTATCCAGTTAACCATATCAGCTAACCGCCCC 29 pw111 TITTITTTTTCCAAGCAGTCATGCGGTATAGCYACC 27 pw112 TITTITTTTCCCCCACCATACGCGGTATAGCYACC 27 pw111 TITTITTTTTCCCCCCCATACTCGCGTATAGCYACC 26 aba12 TITTITTTTTCCCCCCACTACTCTAGCTCAGCCACA 25 aba12 TITTITTTTTCCCCCCACTAGCTGCCGTATAGCGCATACTGG 28 ps111 TITTITTTTTTTCCCCCCACGACGT 22 cpax3 TITTTTTTTTCCCCCACGCGCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	vps1	TTTTTTTTCCCTAAGGTCCCCCACTTTGCT	22
aca1TITTITTITGCCCACACTCTAGCTAACCAGTATCG28aca3TITTITTITGGAAAGTTCTTAGTATGGCAAGGCAGGT29elk2TITTITTITTAGCCCACCACTAGCTAGCAGTCAAGAGGCAGT28elk1TITTITTITTAGCCCACCACACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCG28pml2TITTITTITTAGCCCACCACACACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCG28pml2TITTITTITTAGCCCACCACACTAGCTGACTACCCCCCC29pul1TITTITTITTAGCTCAGGCTCATCCGATAGCGGCAG26aba12TITTITTITTTCCCCCATACTCACTAGCTGACCAC26aba11TITTITTTTTTTTTTTGCCCCATACTGACTACCACAC26aba11TITTITTTTTTTTTTTGCCCCATACTGACGCACTACG26aba11TITTITTTTTTCCCCCATACTGCGCATACACAGTGCA28psal11TITTITTTTTCCCCATACTGCCATACAGAGTGCA28psal11TITTITTTTTCCCCATACCTGGCCCATAAAGGG21cqax2TITTITTTTTTCCCCGCATACGCACTCAAAAGGAGT28cqax4TITTITTTTTCCCCGCATACACGCGCATCAAAAGGAGT28cqax4TITTITTTTTCCCGGCACAAAAGGCCCC26elk1TITTITTTTTTCCCGCGCACAAAAGGCCCC26elk1TITTITTTTTCCCTCACACAGGCAGTCCCC26elk1TITTITTTTTCCCTCACACAGGCACGCCCC27kin2TITTITTTTGCGCTATCAGTCGCGCCAACCCGCA31kin2TITTITTTTGCGCCCAAACGCGAACTCCCCCCCCCC26elk1TITTITTTTGCGCCCAAACGCTAACGCGCCCCCCCCCCCC	aca2	TTTTTTTTGCACCTCAGCGTCAGTGTTAGGC	23
aca3TITTITTITGGAAAGTTCTTACTATGTCAAGGCCAGGT29elk3TITTITTITTTGCACATCCTGCTTAATTACCGTCTCGG28elk3TITTITTITTACCCCACCAACTAGCTAACGAGCAGAT28pmi12TITTITTITTACCCCACCAACTAGCTAATCACCTTATCG29pvu11TITTITTTTTGCAGGGTCATCACCTTCCTCCCCC29pvu11TITTITTTTTCCTCTCCCATACCGAGCAGCAACCACCACCA25aba11TITTITTTTTCCTCTCCCATACTCTAGCTCACCA28ec11TITTITTTTTCCTCTCCCATACTCTAGCTCACCA28ec11TITTITTTTCCTCTCCCATACTCTAGCTCACCA28psa11TITTITTTTCCCCCCCCCATACCCGCCTCACCA28psa11TITTITTTTCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	aca1	TTTTTTTTTTCTCCCACACTCTAGCTAACCAGTATCG	28
elk2TITTITITTATTTCACATCCTGCTTAAATAACCGTCTGCG31elk3TITTITTTTACTCTAGCTATCCAGTCACAACGCAGT28elk1TITTITTTTACTCTAGCTATCCAGTCAGCAACGCAGT28elk1TITTITTTTACCCCACCAACACGCAACGCAGT28pwi11TITTITTTTCGTAGCGTCACGCGGATAGCGACACC27pwi12TITTITTTTCGTAGCGTCACTCAGCGATAGCGACACC27pwi11TITTITTTTCGTAGCGTCACTCAGCGATAGCGCACC26bab12TITTITTTTTCGTCGCCACTTAATAAGCCGCCTACG28psal11TITTITTTTTCCTCTCCCCAGTACTCAGGTCGCCCATAAATGG28psal1TITTITTTTTCGCTGGGTCCAGTACGCGCCCCCCCCCCGGACGC26cal2TITTITTTTTCCAGTACCGGCAGCACGCAGCCC25cal2TITTITTTTTCCAGTATCGGCCCAGAAAGGCCCC25cal2TITTITTTTTCCAGTACGGCAGCAGCAGCCCC26cal3TITTITTTTCCAGTACGGCAGCAGGCAGCCC26cal4TITTITTTTTCCAGTACGCAGTAGCAGCGCGCT27kin1TITTITTTTTCCGCTAACAAAGGCCGTTTCCC26cal1TITTITTTTTCCCCTAACAAAAGTCCTTACGGTAATGGA31kin2TITTITTTTTCGCTGACACGCGGAGTGTCC26cal1TITTITTTTTTTTTTCGCTGACCTGACGTCAGTTCCC26bor2TITTITTTTTTTTTTCGCTGACCTGACCTTAACGTTAATGA36bor2TITTITTTTTTCCCCTAACAAAGGTCCTTAACGCGCAATACCCCCAACC33bar2TITTITTTTTCCCCAGCCCCAAGAATTACCCCCCACCC32fra2TITTITTTTCCCTGCCAAGACTCCACCGCGACATTCCC32cbu1TITTTTTTTCCCCCCCAGACATTCCCCCCCCCACCCCCCA33bar2TITTITTTTTCCCCCAACCCAAGCCTTAACCTTACCCCCCCCCC	aca3	TTTTTTTTGGAAAGTTCTTACTATGTCAAGGCCAGGT	29
eikäTITTITTTTACCCAGCAGTACCAGTTCAGAACGCAGT28eikiTITTITTTTACCCAACTAGCTATCCAGTTATCG28pmil2TITTITTTTACCCACCACCAACTAGCTATCACGTTATCG29puv11TITTITTTTACGGTATTAACCTTACCCAGTGCCCCC29pvv11TITTITTTTTCCTTCCCCCAACGCGATATTAGCYACC27pvv12TITTITTTTTCCTCTCCCCAATACTCAGCTCACCA26aba12TITTITTTTTCCTCTCCCCAATACTCTAGCTCACCA26aba11TITTITTTTTCCCCCCTAGGCCCCAGGCGC26eco11TITTITTTTCCCCCCTGGGTCGCCCAGGACGCA28psa11TITTITTTTTCCCCCTGGGTCGCCCCAGGACGCA28psa11TITTITTTTCCCCCTGGGTCGCCCCAAAAGGGC22cqa2TITTITTTTTTGCGGGTCCAGTACGCATCAAAAAGGG27cqa2TITTITTTTTGCGATCCACTGGACGCCC25cqa2TITTITTTTTGCTATCCAGTGCGCCAAAAAGGCCC26eikiTITTITTTTGCTATCCAGTGACAGCAGAGCGCC27eikiTITTITTTTGCTATCCAGTGACAGCAGCAGTCCC26eikiTITTITTTTGCTATCCAGTACAGCTGACGCGCT27eikiTITTITTTTGCGTACCCGACAGCGCCAGTGCC26eikiTITTITTTTGCGTACCCGACGGCAGTTACCGCCGCA33ba2TITTITTTTGGCTCATCACGCGCGCAGTATACGCGCCACC32fra2TITTITTTTGCGCTACACCAGCGCGCAGATTCCCCCCCCCC	eik2	TTTTTTTTTTTTCACATCCTGCTTAAATAACCGTCTGCG	
eikiTTTTTTTTTACCCCACCAACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCGpmil2TTTTTTTTTAGGGTATTAACCTTATCACCTTCCTCCCpvu11TTTTTTTTTTAGGGTATTAACCTTATCACCTTCCCCCCpvu11TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTAGGGTCATCCGATAGCGCAACaba12TTTTTTTTTTTTTCCATGCGATACCCGATAGCGCAACaba12TTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCATCCGACTACTCACGATACCAGCTCACCAaba11TTTTTTTTTTCCAACGCTCACGGTATAGCACCCCACACAaba11TTTTTTTTTTCCAACGCTCACGGTATCACAGTCCACCAaba11TTTTTTTTTCCAACGCTCACGGTACGCATAATAGGaba11TTTTTTTTTCCAAGCTCACCGCCACAAAAGGTcpax3TTTTTTTTTCCAAGCTCACGTCACCACAAAAGGTCCCcpax4TTTTTTTTTTCCAGTCACGTCACGCCACAAAAGGTCCCcpax4TTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCAGTCACGTCACGACCACAAAAGCGGCCcar2TTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCAGTCACAGTGAACATCCGCTTTTCCACACCGGAkin2TTTTTTTTTTCCCCTACACTGGAAATTCCGCTTTcr11TTTTTTTTTTTCCCCTACACTGGAAATTCCGCCTTkin2TTTTTTTTTTTTCTCCCAGTACAGTAACGGCAGTTCCCcbc11TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCCCGGACCCACAGAAGCGCACTCCCcbc2TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCCCGGACTCCCCCACCGCAkin2TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCCCGGACTCCCCCACCGCAcbc11TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCCCCCCCTGCGCAATTCCCcbc2TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	eik3	TTTTTTTTTACTCTAGCTATCCAGTTCAGAACGCAGT	28
pmil2TITTITTITTAGGGTATTAACCTTATCACCTTCCCCCC29pvu11TITTITTITTCGTAGACGTCATGCGGTATTAGCYACC27pvu12TITTITTITTCGTAGACGTCACAGGGGTAGGCGAAGGGGACCCCCCCC	eik1	TTTTTTTTTACCCCACCAACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCG	28
multTITTITTITTCGTAGACGTCATGCGGTATTAGCYACC27pvultTITTITTITTCGTAGGCGTCATGCGGGTAGGCGCAG26abaltTITTITTITTCCTTCCCCCATACTCAGCTCAGCGCAG26abaltTITTITTITTCCCCCCCATACTCAGCGCCAG26ecol1TITTITTTTCCCCCCCCATACTCGCGGTCGCCATAATAGCGCCCCCC28psaltTITTITTTTCCCCGGTCCCGGTCGCGGTCGCCATAAATGG22cpaxTITTITTTCCCGGTGCCGGTCCGGTCGCCCATAAAAGG28cpaxTITTITTTTCCCGGTGCCGGTCGGCCAGTCGCCATAAAAGG28cpaxTITTITTTGCTGGTGCCGGTCGGCCAGTCGCCATAAAAGG28cpaxTITTITTTGCTGGTGCCGGTCCGGTCGCCCATAAAAGG27cdrCGTTITTTTTGCTGGTGCCGCGCACTGGAAATCCGCCC26car1TITTITTTTGCGTAGTCGGACCCGGAAATCCGCCCC26car1TITTITTTTTCCCTGCACACGGAAATCCGCCCC26cik1TITTTTTTTCCCTGCACACTGGAAATCCGCCTT27eik2TITTTTTTTCCCTGACGAGTACCGCTAAGTCACCCGGA31tiTTTTTTTTCCCTGACGAGTACCGCGCAGGTTCCC27bar1TITTTTTTTTCGCCGACCACGGAGAATCCCCCGGC32bar2TITTTTTTTTCGCCGACCCAGGATACCCCGCCACGC32fra2TITTTTTTTCGCGCACCACGGCAAGATTCCCCCCATCCC32fra2TITTTTTTTTCGCCGCCAAGGCTTAAATATCCCACC30pmp1TITTTTTTTCGCACGCCCAAGGATATTACCCC30pmp1TITTTTTTTCGCACGCCCAAAGTTCACGCGGTACACCCTAGC33qu1TITTTTTTTCCCAGGCCCAAAGTTTAACATCTACCTCACC30pp1TITTTTTTTCGCAGCCCAAAGTTTAACATCTACCTTGC33qu1TITTTTTTTCGCAGCCCAAAGTTTAACATCTACCTTGCC33qu1TITTTTTTTTTTTTTCGCAGGTGCAAAGGTGGTAAG <td< td=""><td>pmi12</td><td>TTTTTTTTTTTTTAGGGTATTAACCTTATCACCTTCCTCCCC</td><td>29</td></td<>	pmi12	TTTTTTTTTTTTTAGGGTATTAACCTTATCACCTTCCTCCCC	29
PU12TITTITTITTCATATGGGTTCATCCGATAGCGCAAG26aba12TITTITTITTCATATGGGTTCATCCGATGCCGCTACG25aba11TITTITTTTTTCACTCCGCATTATAAGCCGCCTACG26col11TITTITTTTTTTTTTTCACATCCGACTTACTAAGCCCACAAAAGTCA28pss11TITTITTTTTTTTTTCACATCCAAGCTGCCCAGTACAGATGCA28pss11TITTITTTTTCCCCACTTCCCCCCAGGACGT22cab2TITTITTTTTCCCACTTTCCCCCTAGGACGTCCCCCAAAAAGAT28pss11TITTITTTTCCCAGTACGACCCGCAAAAAGAT28pss11TITTITTTTCCCAGTACGGCCCCCCCAAAAAGGC27car2TITTITTTTTCCCGGTCCCCAAAAAGCCGCCC25car2TITTITTTTCCCCGTGACCGGCAACGCGAAGCGCGCT27kin2TITTITTTTCCCCGTACACAGGAACGCAGTTCCC26kin1TITTITTTTGGTGGTTATCTTAGGTACCGTCACCGGCAGCT27kin2TITTITTTTTGGTGGTTATCTTAGGTACCGTCACCGCGAC33bor2TITTITTTTTGGGTGTTATCTTAGGTACCGTCACGCGAAGTTGC27bar3TITTITTTTTGGGATTCCACCTGGAAGTTCCCCCATCC32fra2TITTITTTTTGCTAACCGCCAAGGATATCCCCGCACC32fra2TITTITTTTTGCGAAGCGCCAAGGATATCCCCATCCC32cbu1TITTITTTTGCAAGCGCCAAGGATATCCCCACCCCACCC33bar3TITTITTTTCCACTCAAGCCTTCGCCCAACTCACCCCCCCCCC	pvu11	TTTTTTTTCGTAGACGTCATGCGGTATTAGCYACC	27
abal2TITTITTITTCCTCTCCCATACTCTAGCTCACCA25abal1TITTITTITTACATCCGACTTAATAAGCCGCCTAGG26ecol1TITTITTITTACATCGAAGCTTGCCAGTATAAGAGCGCCTACGA28psal1TITTITTITTTAGATCCAAGCTTCCCCAGGACTCCCAGGACGCA22cak2TITTITTITTTCCAGGGTCCAGTACGCATCAGAAAAGG27car2TITTITTITTGCTGGGTCCAGTACGCATCAGAAAAGG27car2TITTITTTTGCAGGTCCAGTACGCATCAGAAAAGG27car2TITTITTTTGCAGTACCAGCTGGACCAGAAAGG27car2TITTITTTTGCAGTACCAGCTGGAAATCCGCTT27elk2TITTITTTTGCAGTACCAGCTGGAAATCCGCTT27elk3TITTITTTTGCAGCTACCAGTGAAATCCGCCTT27elk4TITTITTTTGCAGCTACAGCTGAAACGGCGCG27kin2TITTITTTTGCTCCTAACAAAGGTCCTTACGACGCGCG27kin3TITTITTTTGCTGCCTAACAAAGGTCCTTACGACGCGCG27kin4TITTITTTTGGCGCTTTCGAGGTACCGTCACGTGACGTGC27kin5TITTITTTTGGCGCGCAGTGCGCGCGCGGCGCG33bar2TITTITTTTGCGAGGTACCGTCAGCGCAGGTGC27fa2TITTITTTTTCGCTACACACGCCGAGGTGC22fa2TITTITTTTTCGCGCCCAAGGAATTCCCCCCATCCC22cbu1TITTTTTTTCGGGCCTAAACGCCCCCAGCAATTCCCCCCCCC	pvu12	TTTTTTTTCATATGGGTTCATCCGATAGCGCAAG	26
aba11TITTITITICAATCCGACTTAATAAGCCGCCTACG26eco11TITTITITITACATCCGACTTAATAAGCCGCCTACG28psa11TITTITITICAACTCCAAGCTTGCCAGGACGT22cekzTITTITITITCCAAGTATAAGTAAAGTCCTGGCTCGCCATAAAAGG22cekzTITTITITITCCCACTTCTCCCCGGTACGCACAAAAGG27cerzTITTITTITGTGAGTATCGACCCAGGAAGTCCGCCT25cerzTITTITTITTGCAGTATCGACCTGGAAATCCGCTTT27cekzTITTITTITTGCAGTATCGACCGACAGCGCAGAAGCGCC26cerzTITTITTITTGCAGTATCGACCGGAAATCCGCTTT27cekzTITTITTTTTGCAGTATCGACGTGAACGCGCGCT27kinzTITTITTTTGCTATCCAGTTAACGAACGCGCGCT27kinzTITTITTTTGCGTAACAAGGTACCGTCAGGTGC27kinzTITTITTTTGCGTATCAGGTACCGTCAGGTGC27bar2TITTITTTTGCGTAATCAGGTACCGTCATCGGCGCGC33bar2TITTITTTTGCGTATCTCACCTCTGACTTAAATATCCGCCCAA36bar2TITTITTTTTGCTCATACACTCGAGATTCCACCCCCATCC33bar2TITTITTTTTGCGCAACGCCCAAGGTTTCACCTCC26cbu1TITTTTTTTCGCCAACGCCCAAGGTTTCACCCCCCCCCCC	aba12	TTTTTTTTTCCTCTCCCATACTCTAGCTCACCA	25
International and the ansatz of the ansatz	aba11	TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	26
pash1TITTITITICCCACTITICICCCCAGGACGT22cab2TITTITITITICCCACTITICICCCCAGGACGT22cpax4TITTITITITICCAGGTCCCCAGTACCCATCAAAAAGG28cpax4TITTITITITIGCGGTCCCCAGTACCCCACAAAAAGG27car2TITTITITITIGCAGTATCGACCCAGAAAGCTGCC25car1TITTITITITIGCAGTATCGACCCAGAAAGCTGCC26elk2TITTITITITIGCAGTACCACGTCAGTACGCAGTACCCCGGAAATCCGCCGC26elk1TITTITTITIGCAGTACCAGTCAGGTAGTCGCCGCGCT27elk2TITTITITITITGCTACCAGGCTAGTTACGGCCGCGC26elk1TITTITTITITGCTAGCAGGAGACCGTCAGTTAC36bor2TITTITTITITGCTCACTACGAGTACCGTCAGTTAC36bor2TITTITTITITGCTCACACTCGAGTTACCGCCGCCAGCGCCCC22fra2TITTITTITTITCCCCTACACTCGAGTTACCCCTCACCC32fra2TITTITTITACCTCACACCCAGGATACCCCCACGCCC32fra2TITTITTITICCGCACACACAGGCCCAAGGATATACCCC36ph1TITTITTTICCGCACACCCAGAAATCCCCCATCCT26cbu1TITTITTITCGCCACACCCCAGGCCCAAGGCCCAAGGCCCAAGCGCAAGCCC37igg1TITTITTITCGCCACACCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	eco11	TTTTTTTTTAGACTCAAGCTTGCCAGTATCAGATGCA	28
peakITTTTTTTTCAAAGTAAAGTCCTGGTTCGCCATAAATGG22cpax3TTTTTTTTTGCTGGGTCCAGTACGCATCAAAAAGGAT28cpax4TTTTTTTTTGCTGGGTCCAGTACGCATCGCCAAAAAGG27car2TTTTTTTTTTGCTAGTATCGACCCGGAAAGCTGCCC25car1TTTTTTTTTGCTAGTATCGACCTGGAAATCCGGCTT27eik2TTTTTTTTTGCTACTGCACGTGGAAATCCGGCTT27eik2TTTTTTTTTGCTAGCTGATCAGTTATCGGCCGCT26kin1TTTTTTTTGCTGCTGATACAGTTATCGGCCGCGCT27kin2TTTTTTTTTGGTGGCTTATTCTTAGGTCGCTCACCGGCAGTTGC26bor2TTTTTTTTTGGTGGCTTATTCGTGCGGTCACCGTCAGTTAGC33bor2TTTTTTTTTGGTGAGTACCGTCAGCTGAGTTGC27bar3TTTTTTTTTTGGTGAGTTCACCTCGGAATTCCCGTCATCAGTTAATGA36bor2TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTGCGCGCTACACTGCGGCAATTCCCCACC33bar3TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCGCCGCAAGAATTCCCACTCACC32fra2TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCGCCGCAAGGAATTCCCCATCCC26cbu1TTTTTTTTTCGCGCACAGGGCTTTCGCCCATTGTG26cbu2TTTTTTTTTCGCAGCCAAAGGCTTCACCGCGCAATTACCAC31myc1TTTTTTTTTCGCAGCTTAAAAGGTCCCACTGGGGG30mpn1TTTTTTTTTCGCAGCACAAGCTTCGCCCCAAACTCTAGC37eg2TTTTTTTTTCGCCAGAAGAAGATAGTTCCAAGCGAAAGCTAACCTA37eg41TTTTTTTTGCGCAAAGAAGAAGATGTTCCCAGGGGAAAGT30cps2TTTTTTTTTGCGCGAAAGAAGAAGAATTCCAAGCGGAGTATCC33du1TTTTTTTTTTTTTTGCGCCAAAAGAAGAATTTCCAAGCGCGGGAAAGT30cps1TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCGCCCAAGAACATGCCAGGGTTACCCCCCCC	nsa11	TTTTTTTTCCCACTTCTCCCTCAGGACGT	22
CartaTHTTHTTTCCTGGGTCCAGTAGCACTCAGAAAAGG28cpax4THTTHTTTTGCTAGGATCCGGTCGCCAGAAAGCTGCC25car2THTTHTTTTGCAGTACCACTGGAAATCCGCTTT27eik2THTTHTTTGCAGTACCACGGAGAAGCTGCC26kin1THTTHTTGCAGTACCAGTACACTGGAAATCCGCTTT27eik2THTTHTTTGCACTACCAGTTACAGATACCGCAGTTCCC26kin2THTTHTTTGCACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCGGCCGCT27kin2THTTHTTTGCTACTCCGAGTACCAGTGAGCGCGCAGTTGC27bar1THTTHTTTTGGTGCTTATTCTTTAGGTACCGTCAGTTACAGTAATGA36bor2THTTHTTTTGGTGATTTCCCCTCGAGTACCGTCAGTTGC27bar1THTTHTTTGGTGACTTCACACCGGAATTCCACCTCAC32fra2THTTHTTTTGGCACACCAGAAATTCCCCATCCC26cbu1THTTHTTTCGCCACCAGGAAATTCCCCATCCC26cbu1THTTHTTTCGCCACCAGGACATTCCCCCATTCCT26cbu1THTTHTTTCGCCACCAGCGCCCAAGGATATTACCCAC31myc1THTTHTTTTCGCCACCAGCGCCCAAGGATATTACCCC32fmg1THTTHTTTCGCCACCAGCGCCCAAGGATATTCCCCCCCCCC	calx2	TTTTTTTTTCAAAGTAAAAGTCCTGGTTCGCCATAAATGG	32
CapaxiITTTTTTTTGGTAAAAGTCCTGGTTGCCCAAAAAGG27car2TTTTTTTTTGCAGTATCGACCCAGAAAGCTGCC25car1TTTTTTTTTGCAGTATCGACCCAGAAAGCGCGCT27eik2TTTTTTTTTGCAGTACCAGTTACGACCGAGAATCCGCCGCT26eik1TTTTTTTTTGCATCCAGTTCAGAACGCAGTTCCC26eik1TTTTTTTTTGCAGTACTAGCAATACGGTATCGGCCGCT27kin2TTTTTTTTTGGTGCTTATTCTTAGGTACCGTCAGCTTACAGTTAATGA36bor2TTTTTTTTGGTGCTTATTCTGCAGGTACCGTCAGCTGCGCGCA32bar1TTTTTTTTGGTGCTCACCCCGGAGTATCCGCCATCAGTTAATGA36bor2TTTTTTTTTGGTGACCCCCAGCGGGACGTCAGCTCAC32bar2TTTTTTTTTGGTGACCCCCACCCGAGGTATTCCCCCATCC32bar3TTTTTTTTTGGTCACCCCCAGCGAGATATTCCCCCATCCT26cbu2TTTTTTTTTCGCTCACACCCGAGCAAATTCCCCCATTCCT26cbu2TTTTTTTTTCGCTCACACGCCCAAGGATATTACCCC31mpv1TTTTTTTTCGCTCACTCACACCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31mpv1TTTTTTTTCGCCACTACCCCCATCGTCAGCGGG30mpv1TTTTTTTTCGTCACTCTCCCCCCAACTCTCCCCCCCCCC	cnax3	TTTTTTTTGCTGGGTCCAGTACGCATCAAAAAAGAT	28
cql2ITTITITITIGTCAGTATCGACCCAGAAAGCTGCC25car1ITTITITITIGTCAGTATCGACCCAGAAAGCTGCC26eik2ITTITITITIGCTATCCAGTTATCGACCAGTACCGCGT27kik1ITTITITITTCAACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCGGCCGCT27kin2ITTITITITTGGTGCTTATTCTTTAGGTACCGTCACAGTAACCCGA31kin2ITTITITTTGGTGCTTATTCTTTGGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTAATGA36bor2ITTITITTTGGTGCTTATTCTTGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTAATGA36bor2ITTITTTTTGGTGCTATTCGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTAATGA37bar2ITTITTTTTGGCTACACCAGAAAGCCCTCACGTCACCTCACC	cnav4		20
CarlITTITITITICACTACCACTGGAAATICCGCTTT27eik2ITTITITITICACTACCACATGAAAAGCCAGTTCCC26eik1ITTITITITIGCACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCGGCCGCT27kin1ITTITITITITCACCTAGCACAAAAGCCCTTTACAACCCGA31kin2ITTITITITITGTGCGTTATTCTTATGTACGGCCGCGCAGTTAATGA36bor2ITTITITITITGGGATTTCACCTCGACACTAAGTAATGA36bor2ITTITITITIGGGATTCACCTCTGACGTCAGCGTCAGTTAATGA36bor2ITTITITITITGGGATTCACCTCGGAATCCCGCCGCCGC32fra2ITTITITITITGGCTACACCCGCGAATTCCCCCCCTACC32fra2ITTITITITTCAGGGGCTTCACACCAGGAATTCCCCCATCCT26cbu2ITTITTITTCAGGGGCTTCACACGCCAAGGATATTACCCT26cbu1ITTITTITTCGCTCATCAACGCCCAAGGATATTACCCT26cbu2ITTITTTTTCGCTCACTCAAGGCTCACATCGACGCGG30mpn1ITTITTTTCGCTCATCAAGGCCCAAGCTTCACATCGACGCGG30mpn2ITTITTTTTCGCTCATCAAGGCCCAAACTCCACGCGG30mpn3ITTITTTTTCCTCAAGGCACAATCCTCCAGCGTACCCAC30cpn4ITTITTTTTCCTCAAGGCACAATTCCACGCGTACTCCAC30cpn5ITTITTTTTCCTCAAGGCACAATCCTCCACGCGGAAGGT30cpn4ITTITTTTTCCTCAAGAAGATAGTTTAAATCCAGCTTACCACCTC32dtu2ITTITTTTTTCCCTCAAGAAGATGTCAAAGCTTGCAAAGGT31dtu2ITTITTTTTACCCCGAATGTCCAAGGCAGGAAGGT33dtu1ITTITTTTTAGCCAATGCCAAGAGTGTAAAGCTTAACTTCC33dtu1ITTITTTTTAGGGTCAAAACATGTCAAGGCCTGGCAAAAATAAGCGTT30cps2ITTITTTTTAGGAATACATGCAAGGTGGAAAACGTCAAAAAAAGGTTTGCACGCGCA33dtu1ITTITTTTAGGGCCCAAGAAGAGTTGCAAGGCC	car2		25
cal:THITHITTICGUTACICAGATTCAGAACGCAGTTCCC26eik1THITHITTIGCTATCCAGTTACAGTTATCGGCCGCT27kin2THITHITTIGGTGCTTATTCTTCGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTCAGTTAATGA36bor2THITHITTITTGGTGCTTATTCTTCGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTCAGT	car1	TTTTTTTTTCACTGCTACACTGGAAATTCCGCTTT	20
CittleTHITHITHITH CAACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCGGCCGCT27kin1THITHITHITTCAACTAGCTAATCAGTTATCGGCCGCG37kin2THITHITHITGGTGCTTATTCTGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTAATGA36bor2THITHITHITGGGTGCTTATTCTGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTAATGA36bor2THITHITHITGGCTATTCTGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTAATATCCGCCTAC33bar2THITHITHITGGCTACCTCTGACTTAAATATCCGGCCTAC32fra2THITHITHTTACCTCACCCGGGAATTCCACTCACCC32fra2THITHITHTTCGCTAACCACCAGAAATTCCCCCATTCCT26cbu1THITHITHTTGCGTCAACCACCAGAAATTCCCCCATTCCT26cbu2THITHITHTGCTCCAACGACCCGACTTCATCGGCCATTGAATATCCAC31myc1THITHITHTGCTCCAACGACCCCAAGCATTAACCCT26cbu2THITHITHTTCGTCACACCACCAGACATTCCACCGGG30mpn1THITHITHTTCGTCACACCCTTCCCCATACTGCAGTCAAACTCTAGC37leg2THITHITHTTCCTCAAGGCATATTCCACGGCGACAACTCTAGC30cpn1THITHITHTGGTGAGCCCCAAAATTCAACGTGACTTGGGGT37cps2THITHITHTGGTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTGCAC30cps2THITHITHTGGTGAGCCCCAAGATTAACATCTAACTTGCT33atu1THITHITHTGGGGGAAACATGTCAAGGCGGTAAG25mf12THITHITHTGGAGGCCCAAGATGCAAGGCTGGTAAG33ctu2THITHITHTTGGAGATTCCATCACCCCGCACACGCGCA33atu2THITHITHTGAGAGTATACGTGGAAGACAGTGCAAGCTACACCTA31calb1THITHTTTTGAGAGTAACGTGGAAGACAGTGCACAGCGCCAC33ctc1THITHTTTTGAGAGTAACGTGGAAACAGGGGCTACCGCGCA33ctc2THITHTTTTGAGAGCCCCAAGAAAAGGGGCTACCGCGCACACGGCAA33ctb1THITHTTTGAGAGTCAACGTGG	eik2	TTTTTTTTGCTATCCAGTTCAGAACGCAGTTCCC	26
cminITTTTTTTTTGTGTGGGCTAACAAAAGTCCTTTACAACCCGA31kin2ITTTTTTTTTGGTGGCTTATTCTTAGGTACCGTCATCAGTTAATGA36bor2ITTTTTTTTTGGTGACTTATTCTTAGGTACCGTCAGTTGC27bar1ITTTTTTTTTGGCTAACCTCGAGATCCGCAGTTGC33bar2ITTTTTTTTTGGCTACACCTCGACATCAGCTCAACCCGCAC32fra2ITTTTTTTTTGGCTACACCCCAAGGAATTCCCACTCACC32cbu1ITTTTTTTTCAGGGCCCCAAGGATATTACCCT26cbu2ITTTTTTTTTCAGGGCCCCAAGGCTAATACCCAC31myc1ITTTTTTTTCAGGGCCTTCAACATCGCACTTCAAATATCCAC31myc1ITTTTTTTTCGCTCACTCACACTCGACTCAACTCGAGCGG30mpn2ITTTTTTTTCGCTCACTACCTCCCCATACTCGAGTCAACTCTAGC37leg2ITTTTTTTTTCGCTACCTCTCCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1ITTTTTTTTTCGTCACCTCTCCCCATACTCGAGTCAA37cpn2ITTTTTTTTTGGAGCCCCCAAAGTTTAAATGCTGACTTCCC30cps2ITTTTTTTTGGGAACCCCCAAAGTTTAACACTCTAACTTTCCT33atu1ITTTTTTTTGGGAGCCCCAAGGTTTAACCACTAACTTCCC32atu2ITTTTTTTTTGGGAAAACATGTCAAGGCGGGAAGG25mf12ITTTTTTTTTGGGGCGCAAACATGTCAAGGCCTGGTAGC33cb11ITTTTTTTTGGGAGATTCCATCGCGGAAGGTAGTCC32cb11ITTTTTTTTGGGGGCGAAACATGTCAAGGCCTACCGCCGCA33cb21ITTTTTTTTGAGAATAACTGTGAGGGGGAAAGGTTATCC32cb12ITTTTTTTTGAGAATAACTGTGGAGAGCGTACCGCCGCGCA33cb13ITTTTTTTTGGAGAATACCGTGGTAGGGCCACCAGCGCGCGC	eik1		20
International and the second	kin1	TTTTTTTTTTCTCCCTAACAAAAGTCCTTTACAACCCGA	
InitialInitialbar2TITTITTITGGTATCTGGAGGTACCGTCAGTTGC27bar3TITTITTTTGGCTATCACCTCGGCATTCAATATCCCGCCTAC33bar2TITTITTTTTATTTACCTCTACACTCGGAATTCCACTCACC22fra2TITTITTTTTTCGCTACACCAGAAATTCCCCCATTCCT26cbu1TITTITTTTCGCTCACACGCCCAAGGATATTACCCT26cbu2TITTITTTTCGCTCACACGCCCAAGGATTTACCCT26cbu2TITTITTTTTCGCCATCAAGCTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTITTTTTGCTCCATCAAGCTTCACTCGTCATGGG30mpn1TITTITTTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAGCTTCATCGGTCACGCGG30mpn2TITTITTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAGGTACAGTCAAACTCTAGC37leg2TITTITTTTCGTCACGCCCCAAAATTCCTACGCGTACACC30cpn1TITTITTTTCGTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGCGTAACTCAC30cpn2TITTITTTTTCGTCAGGACACCAAATTTACACATCTAACTTTCCT34cpn2TITTITTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTGGGGCATATTCCAGGTGGTAAG25mf2TITTITTTTTGGGGCAAACATGTCAAGGCTGGTAAG26mf2TITTITTTTGGGGCATTACCATCCCCTACTACACTCT33atu1TITTTTTTTGGGGCAATGTCCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mf2TITTTTTTTGGGGCAATGTCCAAGGAGCTGGTAAG31calb1TITTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTCGCAAGTAGCGGTAACGCCGCGCA33chrolTITTTTTTTGAAATAACTGGGTGGCACATAGCGCAAAATAAGGCGTT30cpar1TITTTTTTTGGGCCAATGGGAGGGCAACACCGCGCGCA33chrolTITTTTTTTGGGGCGCCACTAGGAAAACATGGGGGCAAATAAGGCGTT31calb1TITTTTTTTGGGGCGCGAAATGGTGGGAAGGCTACCCCGCGCA33chrolTITTTTTTTGGGGCCC	kin2	TTTTTTTTGGTGCTTATTCTTTAGGTACCGTCATCAGTTAATGA	36
barlTITTITTTGGGATTTCACCTCTGACTTAAATATCCGCCTAC33barlTITTITTTTTATTTACCTCTACACTCGGAATTCCACTCACC32fra2TITTITTTTTACGTCAACCACCAGAAATTCCCCATTCCT26cbu1TITTTTTTTCGCTACACCAGCAGGATATTACCCC31myc1TITTTTTTTCAGGGCTTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTTTTTTCGTCCATCAAGCTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTTTTTTCGTCACTTAAAGACCTTCACCGCGCACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTTTTTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAGACCTTCATCGTCACGCGG30mpn2TITTTTTTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAATGGTACAGTCAAACTCTAGC37leg2TITTTTTTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAATGGTACAGTCAAACTCTAGC30cpn1TITTTTTTTCGTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGCGTTACTCAC30cpn2TITTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT34cpn2TITTTTTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAAATTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTTTTTTGGGGAAACATGTCAAGGCGGAAAGT30cps2TITTTTTTTTTTTTTTTGGGGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mf12TITTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCGGTGAAAGATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mf12TITTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCGGGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG33atu2TITTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCCGAAGTAAGCGTCATACTCT29ric1TITTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCGCAAGTAGCGCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TITTTTTTTGAGGACGAATTGGAAGAGGTGGGAAAGTTTGGAGAAAAAAAA	bor2	TTTTTTTTGCTTATTCTGCAGGTACCGTCAGTTGC	27
bar2TITTTTTTTTTTTTTTCGCTCACACTCGGAATTCCACTCACC32fra2TITTTTTTTTTCGCTACACCCGAAATTCCCCCATTCCT26cbu1TITTTTTTTTCAGGGCTTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTTTTTTTCAGGGCTTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTTTTTTTCAGGGCTTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTTTTTTTCGCCACACAAGCTTCACGCGCGGG30mpn2TITTTTTTTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAGACCTTCATCGTTCACGCGG37leg2TITTTTTTTTCGCACATCCCTCCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1TITTTTTTTCGTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGCGTTACTCAC30cpn1TITTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTCCAC30cpn2TITTTTTTTTGTGAGCCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT34cpn2TITTTTTTTTGTGAGCCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTGGGGCATTTAATTCCAGGGTAAG25mfl2TITTTTTTTTCGGGCAATGCCAAGAGTCCACAGCCTGGT26ric2TITTTTTTTGGGGCAATCACTCACCCCCTACTACCACCTCT29ric1TITTTTTTTGGGGCCTTTTCGCAAGAGCGGTAACGCCCCCAA33crb1TITTTTTTTGGGGCGCAATATCCACACCGCGCGCA33crb1TITTTTTTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTCGCAAGAGCGTGGTAACGCCACTAACGCCTT29ric2TITTTTTTTTTGGAGCCCCCAAGATTGGCGCGCACCACCGCGCA33crb1TITTTTTTTTGGAGCCGCAATTGCGGTAGAGCGCTACCGCCGCA33crb1TITTTTTTTTGGAGCTCGCCAAGATTGGAGAGAGCTTTGGAGCTTGGAAAACACTA41afla1TITTTTTTTTTGGGCAACTGCAGGAAAAAAGAATTGGGATGAAAACCTA41afla1TITTTTTTTTTTTGGCAACGGAAAAAAAGATTGGATTGGGTCGGCC34	bar1	TTTTTTTTGGGATTTCACCTCTGACTTAAATATCCGCCTAC	
fra2TITTITITTCGCTACACCAGAAATTCCCCATTCCT26cbu1TITTITTTTCGCTACACCCCAAGGATATTACCCT26cbu2TITTITTTTCACGGCTTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTITTTTCACGGCTTTCACAGCCTCATGGTG26mpn1TITTTTTTCCATCCAAAGCCTTCGTCACGGCGG30mpn2TITTTTTTTCCATCTTAAAGACCTTCATCGTCACAGTCAAACTCTAGC37leg2TITTTTTTTCCACTACCCTCCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1TITTTTTTTCCACTACCCTCTCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1TITTTTTTTCCTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGGGTTACTCAC30cpn1TITTTTTTTCCTCTAGAAAGATAGTTTAACATCTAACTTCCT34cpn2TITTTTTTTTGGAGCCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTGGGTGAACCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTGGGTGAAACATGTCAAGGCTGGTAAG25mf12TITTTTTTTGGGCGAAAACATGTCAAGGCTGGTAAG25mf12TITTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTTCCGAAGTAGCCTTGGT26ric2TITTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCCGCAAGAGCTGGTAAG33ctro1TITTTTTTGGAGGCCCAAGATATACGTGGTAGCCCGCGCA33ctro1TITTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGAGCGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TITTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TITTTTTTTGAAGATATAACTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TITTTTTTTTGAAGATATAACGTGGAAGAGTTTGGAGATTGTAC37cgla1TITTTTTTTGAAGATATAAATTGTGGAGCCACCGAGGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TITTTTTTTGGGCGCAACTGGAAAAGATTGGATGAAAACCTA41	bar2	TTTTTTTTTTTTTTACCTCTACACTCGGAATTCCACTCACC	32
cbu1TITTITITITAGGTCAACGCCCAAGGATATTACCT26cbu2TITTITITTACGTCAACGCCCAAGGATATTACCAC31myc1TITTITITTTCAGGGCTTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC30mpn1TITTITTTTCGTCCATCAAGCCTTCACGCCCATGGTCACGCGG30mpn2TITTITTTTCGTCACTTAATGGTACAGTCAAACTCTAGC37leg2TITTITTTTCGTCACTCCCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1TITTITTTTCGTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGCGGTACTCAC30cpn1TITTITTTTCGTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGCGGTACTCAC30cpn2TITTITTTTTCGTCAAGACCCCCAAAATTAACATCTAACTTTCCT34cpn2TITTITTTTTCGTCAGAGACAGATAGTTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TITTITTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAGATTAACTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TITTITTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAGATTCCCAGGCTGGTAAG25mf12TITTTTTTTTTTTGGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGCCTGGT26ric2TITTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCCGCAAGGACGCTACTCT29ric1TITTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCCGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TITTTTTTTGAGAATAACTGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TITTTTTTTTGGAGGTCGAAATAACGTGGTAAACGTCATAACGTGT40cpar1TITTTTTTTAGAAATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAAGCGTT41afla1TITTTTTTTAGGTCAACCTGGAAAAGAATTGGAGTTGGCC34	fra2	TTTTTTTTCGCTACACCAGAAATTCCCCCATTCCT	26
cbu2TITTITITTCAGGGCTTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC31myc1TITTITTTTTGGTCCATCAAGCTTTCACATCGTCATTGTG26mpn1TITTTTTTTCAATCTTAAAGACCTTCATCGTCACGCGG30mpn2TITTTTTTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAATGGTACAGTCAAACTCTAGC37leg2TITTTTTTTTCACTACCCCTCCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1TITTTTTTTTCGTCACGCGTACTCACGCGTTACTCAC30cpn1TITTTTTTTTCGTCAGGCATATTCCTACGCGTTACTCAC30cpn2TITTTTTTTTTCGTCAGAGACCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT34cpn2TITTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCCCTAGAAAGATAGTTTTAAATGCTGACTTGGGGT37cps2TITTTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT32atu2TITTTTTTTTGGTGAGACCCCAAGATTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TITTTTTTTTGGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TITTTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTTCGCAAGGCAGGCAAGGT31calb1TITTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTCCGCAAGACGCCTACCACCGC33ctro1TITTTTTTTGAGAATAACTGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TITTTTTTTTGGAGGTCGAAATTGGGTGGGAAACGTCATAGCGTT40cpar1TITTTTTTTGGAGGTCGAATTGGAAGAAGTTTGGAGGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TITTTTTTTGGCAACCTGGGAAAAGAATTGGATGGAACACCGAGGTTGGCC34	cbu1	TTTTTTTTTACGTCAACGCCCAAGGATATTACCCT	26
myc1TITTITTITGCTCCATCAAGCTITCGCTCATTGTG26mpn1TITTITTITTCAATCTTAAAGACCTTCATCGTTCACGCGG30mpn2TITTITTTTTCAATCTTAAAGACCTTCAACGTCAAGTCAA	cbu2	TTTTTTTTCAGGGCTTTCACATCCGACTTAAATATCCAC	
InitialInitialmpn1TITTITITTCAATCTTAAAGACCTTCATCGTTCACGCGG30mpn2TITTITTTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAATGGTACAGTCAAACTCTAGC37leg2TITTTTTTTTCACTACCCTCTCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1TITTTTTTTTCACTACCCTCTCCCATACTCGAGTCAC30cpn1TITTTTTTTCGTTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT34cpn2TITTTTTTTTCCTCTAGAAAGATAGTTTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT34cpn2TITTTTTTTTTGTGAGCCCCAAAGTTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33dcpn2TITTTTTTTTGTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33dtu1TITTTTTTTGTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTGGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TITTTTTTTTGGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TITTTTTTTGGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGGCTGGTAAG26ric2TITTTTTTTGGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGGTAACGTCATTACT31calb1TITTTTTTTTGGGGCGTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATCACCGCCGCA33ctro1TITTTTTTTTTGGAGGTCGAAATACGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TITTTTTTTTGGGTCGAAAACATTGGGAGCAACACCGAGGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TITTTTTTTTGGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGGTTGGGCCACTAGCGACCTACCGCC34	mvc1	TTTTTTTTGCTCCATCAAGCTTTCGCTCATTGTG	26
mpn2TITTTTTTTGGTCACTTATTCAAAATGGTACAGTCAAACTCTAGC37leg2TITTTTTTTTCGTCACTACCCCTTCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1TITTTTTTTTCTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGCGTTACTCAC30cpn1TITTTTTTTTGGTTGAGCCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT34cpn2TITTTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTGGGGGT37cps1TITTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTTGGGTGAGCCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTTGGGGATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TITTTTTTTTTGGGGCAATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TITTTTTTTTGGGGCGCTATCCCCTACTACACTCT29ric1TITTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCGCAAGTAACGTCATACCTCT29ric1TITTTTTTTGGAGAATACGTGGTAAGCGCTACCGCCGCA33crb1TITTTTTTTGGGGCGTAAACATGTGCAAGGTGGTAAGCGCTACCGCCGCA33crb1TITTTTTTTTGGAGAATAACTGTGGTGGCGCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TITTTTTTTGGGTGGAAAATTAGGTGGAGAGGCTACCGAGCGCAAAATAAGCGTT41afla1TITTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGGAAAAGATTGATTGGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAAACCTA41	mpn1	TTTTTTTTCAATCTTAAAGACCTTCATCGTTCACGCGG	30
leg2TTTTTTTTCACTACCCTCTCCCATACTCGAGTCAA27leg1TTTTTTTTTTCACAGGCATATTCCTACGCGTTACTCAC30cpn1TTTTTTTTTTGGTTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT34cpn2TTTTTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT37cps1TTTTTTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TTTTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TTTTTTTTTTGGGAATCACCTCAGGTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTATTAATTCCAGGTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TTTTTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGAGCTGGTAAG26ric2TTTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTGAGAATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAAATAAATTGGGTGGCAACACCGAGATTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTTGGCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGGTAGACGCTTCGGC34	mpn2	TTTTTTTTTCGTCACTTATTCAAAATGGTACAGTCAAACTCTAGC	37
leg1TITTTTTTTTCGTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGCGTTACTCAC30cpn1ITTTTTTTTTGGTTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT34cpn2ITTTTTTTTTTGGTTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT37cps1ITTTTTTTTTTTGGTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTGGGGT37cps2ITTTTTTTTTTGTGAGCCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1ITTTTTTTTTGGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2ITTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2ITTTTTTTTTGGGGCCTTGTCAAGAGCCTGGT26ric2ITTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTACT29ric1ITTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTACT31calb1ITTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1ITTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTGGGTGGAAGAAGTTTGGAGCGCTACCGCCGCA37cgla1ITTTTTTTTTGGGCCAACTGGAAAAAGATTGGATGGAAAACACGGTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1ITTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTGGTGGCCACTGGCTCGGC34	lea2	TTTTTTTTCACTACCCTCTCCCATACTCGAGTCAA	27
cpn1TTTTTTTTGGTTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT34cpn2TTTTTTTTTTGGTTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT37cps1TTTTTTTTTTGCGCAATCTCTCTTATTCCCAAGCGAAAGT30cps2TTTTTTTTTGTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTCCT33atu1TTTTTTTTTGTGGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCCTTGGT26ric2TTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCCGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTTGAAGAATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGGAGGTCGAAATTGGAAGAAGATTTGGAGTTGGTAAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTACTTATCCCTCCCTAGAACAACGGCGTAGCGCGCA34	lea1	TTTTTTTTTCTTCAAGGCATATTCCTACGCGTTACTCAC	
cpn2TTTTTTTTTCCTCTAGAAAGATAGTTTTAAATGCTGACTTGGGGT37cps1TTTTTTTTTTCCTCTAGAAAGATAGTTTTAAATGCTGACTTGGGGGT30cps2TTTTTTTTTTGTTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TTTTTTTTTTCGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAGACTGCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGT26ric2TTTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTCCGCAAGTACGTCATCACCCTACTACACTCT29ric1TTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTGGAAGAAGATTTGGAAGAAGTTTGGAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTATGAAATAAATTGGGAAGAAGATTGATTGCGTCGGC34	con1	TTTTTTTTGGTTGAGCCCCAAAATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT	34
cps1TITTTTTTTAGCCAATCTCTCTTATTCCCAAGCGAAAGT30cps2TITTTTTTTTGTTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TITTTTTTTTGTTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACATCTAACTTTCC32atu2TITTTTTTTTTCGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TITTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TITTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCCTTGGT26ric2TITTTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATCACCTCT29ric1TITTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TITTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TITTTTTTTTTGAAGATATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TITTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGATTTTGGAAGTTGTAC37cgla1TITTTTTTTACTTATCCCTCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TITTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	cpn2	TTTTTTTTTCCTCTAGAAAGATAGTTTTAAATGCTGACTTGGGGT	37
cps2TTTTTTTTGTTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT33atu1TTTTTTTTTGTTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCC32atu2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGACCTTGGT26ric2TTTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTTGGAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGTTTGGAGTTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTATCCTCCCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	cps1	TTTTTTTTTAGCCAATCTCTCTTATTCCCAAGCGAAAGT	30
atu1TTTTTTTTCGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TTTTTTTTTCGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC32atu2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TTTTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGCCTTGGT26ric2TTTTTTTTTTGGGAGTTCCATCATCCCCTACTACACTCT29ric1TTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TTTTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATAACTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGATTTGGAGTTGGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTATCAACTCCCCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	cps2	TTTTTTTTTGTTGAGCCCCAAGATTTAACATCTAACTTTCCT	33
atu2TTTTTTTTACCCCGAATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG25mfl2TTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGCCTTGGT26ric2TTTTTTTTTAGGAATTCCATCATCCCCTACTACACTCT29ric1TTTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATAACTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGATTTGGAAGAGTTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTACTTATCCCTCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTGGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	atu1	TTTTTTTTCGGTATTAATTCCAGTTTCCCGGAGCTATTCC	32
mfl2TTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGCCTTGGT26ric2TTTTTTTTTAGGAATTCCATCATCCCCTACTACACTCT29ric1TTTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TTTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGATTTGGAAGAGTTTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTATCACTATCCCTCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTGGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	atu2	TTTTTTTTACCCCGAATGTCAAGAGCTGGTAAG	25
ric2TTTTTTTTAGGAATTCCATCATCCCCTACTACACTCT29ric1TTTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctr01TTTTTTTTTTTATGAAATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGATTTGGAGTTTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTATCAACCTCCCTAGAACAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	mfl2	TTTTTTTTCGGTCGAAAACATGTCAAGCCTTGGT	26
ric1TTTTTTTTGGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT31calb1TTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TTTTTTTTTTTGAAGATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGTTTGGAAGTTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTTATCCTCACCTCGCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTTGGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	ric2	TTTTTTTTAGGAATTCCATCATCCCCTACTACACTCT	29
calb1TTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA33ctro1TTTTTTTTTTTTGAAATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGTTTGGAAGTTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTTACTTATCCCTCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	ric1	TTTTTTTTGGGGCTTTTTCTGCAAGTAACGTCATTATCT	31
ctro1TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTGAGAATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT40cpar1TTTTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGTTTGGAGTTTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTTACTTATCCCTCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	calb1	TTTTTTTTTTGAAGATATACGTGGTAGACGCTACCGCCGCA	33
cpar1TTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGTTTTGGAGTTTGTAC37cgla1TTTTTTTTTACTTATCCCTCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	ctro1	TTTTTTTTTTATGAAATAAATTGTGGTGGCCACTAGCAAAATAAGCGTT	40
cgla1TTTTTTTTACTTATCCCTCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA41afla1TTTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC34	cpar1	TTTTTTTTTGAGGTCGAATTTGGAAGAAGTTTTGGAGTTTGTAC	37
afla1 TTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC 34	cgla1	TTTTTTTTACTTATCCCTCCCTAGATCAACACCGAGTTGGTAAAACCTA	41
	afla1	TTTTTTTTGGTCAACCTGGAAAAAGATTGATTTGCGTTCGGC	34

cneo1	TTTTTTTTGAGATGGTTGTTATCAGCAAGCCGAAGACTACCCCATAGG	40
uniF1	TTTTTTTTTAAGTTCAGCGGGTATYCCTACCTGAT	28
ctro2	TTTTTTTTTGGATAAACCTAAGTCGCTTAAAATAAGTTTCCACGTT	39
cpar2	TTTTTTTTACCTATCCATTAGTTTATACTCCGCCTTTCTTT	38
ckru2	TTTTTTTTTTCTAGTTCGCTCGGCCAGCTTCG	22
cgla2	TTTTTTTTTACTCAAAAACGAGAGTATCACTCACTACCAAACACA	36
afla2	TTTTTTTTCGATGATTCACGGAATTCTGCAATTCACACTAGTT	35
anig2	TTTTTTTTACCTGGAAAAAATGGTTGGAAAACGTCGG	29
cneo2	TTTTTTTTGGTAATCACCTTCCCACTAACACATTTAAGGCG	33
calz1	TTTTTTTTACCAAGTTTGACCAGCTTCTCGGTT	25
cpaz1	TTTTTTTTACTAGCTTCTCGGTTCCAAGATGGAGTT	28
ctrz1	TTTTTTTTTTCTCGGTTCCAGAATGGAGTTGCC	24
cglz2	TTTTTTTTGAAGTGGAGTCGCCCCCTCTT	22
cglz1	TTTTTTTTCGGCCAAGGTTAGACTCGCTGG	22
ckrz1	TTTTTTTTCGGGCCTCTCGACCAAGGTT	20
ckrz2	TTTTTTTTAGATTCTCGGCCCCATGGGAAAGT	24
afuz1	TTTTTTTTTCTCTGGGGAGTCGTTGCCAACTC	23
aflz2	TTTTTTTTCCTCCTGGGCCAGTCCGA	18
aflz1	TTTTTTTTCAAACGCGGACCGGGCTATTT	21
aniz1	TTTTTTTTGCCAACCCTCCTGAGCCAGT	20
fnez2	TTTTTTTTTAACGCCAATCCGGAGATCTCACTAAGC	27
fnez1	TTTTTTTTTCTGGTGACTCACGCTTACTAGGTATTCCT	29
FW45	TTTTTTTTCGYTCGACTTGCATGTRTTARGC	23

9 Acknowledgments

I want to thank my supervisor at the Medical University Vienna Prof. Tim Skern for giving me the freedom to conduct my research in such a wide scientific field. Also my supervisor at the Austrian Institute of Technology Herbert Wiesinger-Mayr allowed me to realize my ideas, which is why I am deeply grateful to him. During the whole time, both supervisors gave me the feeling that our professional relationships are based on friendship.

Special thank belongs to all my colleagues in the laboratory and the office. They helped with advises, smiles, jokes and sweets when failed experiments were becoming frustrating or the feeling of being sabotaged spread. It was very nice and amusing to work with all of you.

I want to single out my former boss Christa Nöhammer who was permanently trying hard to resolve problematic issues and help when it was necessary. Without her, all the research presented in this thesis would not have been conducted.

The brightest star in my life, my wife Elli, was the biggest support. She was understanding when I had the chance to conduct parts of my research in Sweden and always enthusiastic when positive results were obtained. Volim te više nego ikad.

And of course my family has to be mentioned. My brothers, father and mother helped to cultivate an intellectual culture that strongly facilitated to work as scientist. The importance of an open mind, the permanent quest for truth, moral integrity, and love were chosen by my parents as pillars for our education. I hope their effort is partly reflected in this work.

10 Curriculum Vitae

Personal information

Name	Ivan Barišić
Birth date	May 24, 1982
Birth place	Zagreb, Croatia
Nationality	Austria

Education

Elementary school, Vienna
Gymnasium, Vienna
Biology, University of Vienna
Molecular biology, University of Vienna



Scientific experience

4/2009 –	Doctoral thesis at the Austrian Institute of Technology (Herbert Wiesinger-Mayr) Seibersdorf (Austria), Antibiotic resistance mechanisms and an innovative detection method
2007 – 2008	Development aid instead of military service, Fundación Casa de los Tres Mundos <i>Granada (Nicaragua)</i> , Technical assistance in agricultural project and optimization of chemical processes for paper production in local manufacture
2005 – 2006	Diploma thesis at the department of microbial ecology (Michael Wagner) <i>Vienna</i> , Phylogenetical analyses, distribution and activity of sulphate reducing prokaryotes in arctic marine sediments
01/2011 – 03/2011	Collaboration with Uppsala University (Mats Nilsson) <i>Uppsala (Sweden)</i> , Padlock probe detection of antibiotic resistance genes
05/2005	Internship at the Max F. Perutz Laboratories (Alisher Touraev) Vienna, Research plant biology; training various experimental

- techniques
- 10/2004 Internship at the *Botanical institute* (Peter Schlögelhofer)

Curriculum Vitae

12/2004 *Vienna*, Research plant genetics; goal was to identify genes involved in sexual reproduction

Further education

2002 – 2005 Political science (without degree), University of Vienna

Languages

Croatian	-	Mother tongue
German	-	Expert
English	-	Fluent
Spanish	-	Fluent
French	-	Basic

Posters

Antibiotic resistance mechanisms and development of an innovative detection method <u>Barišić, I</u>.; Schönthaler, S.; Noehammer, C.; Wiesinger-Mayr, H. Presented at DECHEMA in Frankfurt

Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases and their detection applying on-chip PCR <u>Barišić, I.;</u> Schönthaler, S.; Noehammer, C.; Wiesinger-Mayr, H. Presented at ECCMID in Vienna

Detection of extended spectrum beta-lactamases with on-chip PCR <u>Barišić, I.;</u> Schönthaler, S.; Noehammer, C.; Wiesinger-Mayr, H. Presented at ÖGMBT meeting in Vienna